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121,744

212,322

145,622

178,026

441,238

322,215

88.2

1.96

118.93%

8 : 100

0.760

42,411

(53,263)

(41,134)

178,026

392,501

295,964

(23.3)

1.67

3.5%

-

0.710

31,480
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479,861
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1.85
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-

0.815

2017
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2014
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2015
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2016
RM’000

Turnover

Profit/(Loss) before taxation

Net Profit/(Loss) Attributable 

to Shareholders

Paid-up Capital

Total Assets

Shareholders Fund

Net Earnings Per Share (sen)

Net Assets Per Share After 

Non-Controlling Interests (RM) 

Gross Dividend rate (%)

Share Dividend (Ratio)

Share Price as at 31 Dec (RM)
* After cancellation of 19,000,000 treasury shares.

16,307 
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(9,664)

225,671*
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291,640

(5.2)

1.54

-

-

0.600

21,653

3,899
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178,026

458,667

302,834

3.4

1.75

-

-

0.855
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* Transition to no-par value regime from share premium and capital redemption reserve accounts

G R O U P  F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the Annual Report for the year 
2017, incorporating the Audited Financial Statements of the Group and the Company for the 
financial year ended 31st December 2017.

Following the industrial accident at Hengyang’s Deqiao operations in April 2016 which severely 
impacted Hengyang’s operations, the Group’s associated company, Hengyang Petrochemical 
Logistics Limited (Hengyang) has secured the participation of a China GLC as an investor - 
China International Trust Investment Corporation (CITIC). We are confident that with CITIC’s 
participation, Hengyang has access to ample funds to restructure its operations & strengthen 
measures against accidents and fire-hazards, which will augur well for the future.

Hengyang had secured the approval of the 
authorities for renovation works. Plant repairs 
and reconstruction will commence in the 
near future with completion by May 2018. 
Commercial operations will commence upon 
approval of plant reconstruction works by the 
relevant authorities.

The Dubai warehousing operations are under 
Integrated National Logistics (INL), a 50:50 
Joint Venture with a local Dubai partner, 
National Trading & Developing Establishment 
(NTDE). The sharp slump in world oil prices 

since 2015 continues to seriously impact 
INL’s operations. Demand for warehousing 
and coldroom services has seen a sharp 
decline and to date does not show signs 
of recovery. In the near term, the Board 
expects this situation to continue and the 
Dubai operations are expected to continue 
facing difficulties in the coming financial year. 
There is cautious optimism though that the 
Dubai Expo 2020 will generate an increased 
demand for warehousing & coldroom services 
in Dubai & INL’s operations expect to benefit 
from such increased demand.
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As the difficulties precipitated by the lack of 
demand for INL’s facilities are continuing, 
the Board is evaluating various proposals 
regarding the future of the Dubai operations 
and is not averse to serious proposals to 
dispose its investment in this venture.

The Group’s warehousing activity in Wujiang, 
China continues to make a positive contribution 
to the Group’s earnings. There is high demand 
for warehouse space in the Wujiang area 
and all the 9 warehouses comprising 76,000 
square metres of warehouse space continue 
to be fully tenanted. The management is 
confident of achieving higher earnings when 
the rental leases expire and are renewed at 
significantly higher rates in the coming years.

As part of the Board’s efforts to diversify the 
Group’s sources of revenue, the Group has 
diversified into the solar energy business. 
During the year, the Group successfully 
completed the installation and commissioning 
of the Bukit Kayu Hitam 10 MW a.c solar 
power project. I am pleased to inform that the 
10 MW a.c solar power project was the first 
Large Scale Solar program to be completed 
under Suruhajaya Tenaga’s bidding cycle 1. 
The plant has been successfully energised in 
December 2017 with commercial operations 
commencing on 22 December 2017.    

With the successful completion of the Bukit 
Kayu Hitam project, as at the end of the 
2017 financial year, the Group had installed 

capacity of 11 MW a.c. This includes the 
1 MW a.c project undertaken by wholly 
owned subsidiary EVN Vision Sdn Bhd where 
commercial operations began in December 
2016. The completion of these projects will 
contribute positively to Group revenue and 
profitability in the next financial year.

As the renewable energy sector can provide a 
steady long-term income stream, the Group 
is working to further increase its investment 
in this sector. The experience gained in the 
two solar installations completed to date will 
stand the Group in good stead in evaluating 
and undertaking new solar ventures.

As such, the Company is not in a position to 
pay any dividends at the current time and no 
dividend is recommended for the year under 
review.  The Board is confident of improved 
financial results in the next few years and 
will endeavour to resume dividend payments 
soonest possible.

On behalf of the Board, I convey my sincere 
thanks to the management, employees, 
business partners, shareholders and 
stakeholders for their dedication, commitment 
and strong support in facing the challenges 
in the past. I am confident that with their 
continued support and commitment, the 
Group will overcome the challenges that it 
currently faces and return to profitability in 
the near future.

CHAIRMAN
Datuk R. Karunakaran



M A N A G E M E N T  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S

Since inception, logistics has been the Group’s forte and the Group had grown to become a leader in 
total logistics solutions, expanding its reach to China and Dubai in the Middle East. However, with the 
disposal of its main China operations in 2010, the Group has a diminished presence in the logistics 
industry and with shareholders’ approval, has started to diversify its operations into the solar energy 
sector.

Corporate Overview
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The Group recorded a lower revenue of RM16.3 million in the financial year 2017 as compared with 
RM21.6 million in the previous year mainly due to the disposal of subsidiary companies in the Republic 
of China during that year.

The Group recorded other income of RM8.5 million during the year, comprising mainly forex gains and 
interest income. Reflecting the difficult business environment, the Group reported loss after tax for the 
year amounting to RM2.6 million as compared with a profit after tax of RM3.77 million recorded in the 
previous financial year.

Analysis of Financial Results



ii) Warehousing in Dubai, UAE  
 

 The warehouse operations undertaken in a joint venture with a local partner, National Trading and 
Developing Establishment (NTDE) faced another difficult year. The operations have been facing 
difficulties ever since global oil prices slumped in 2015. Some recovery was forecast in the year 
under review but due to circumstances beyond our control, the forecast recovery did not materialise. 
The management continues to aggressively market the Dubai facilities while at the same time 
undertaking further cost cutting measures. In view of the continuing difficult economic outlook, the 
Board is exploring all possible options to overcome the losses being incurred and is hopeful of a 
solution in the not too distant future.

iii) Solar Energy Projects 

 The Group’s efforts to expand its solar energy operations are beginning to show results. Wholly 
owned subsidiary EVN Vision Sdn Bhd’s 1 MW a.c solar plant commenced operations during the 
year and now has a regular income stream. The new 10 MW a.c solar plant project by subsidiary 
company IL Solar Sdn Bhd was successfully completed in December 2017 and commercial operations 
commenced on 22 December 2017. The Group engages competent technical personnel to ensure 
both the solar plants operate at an optimum level and produce the energy forecasted. The Board is 
happy to note that both of these plants are now making a positive contribution to Group revenue and 
profitability and the Board is stepping up its efforts to undertake more ventures in this sector.

The Group is gradually increasing its revenue stream from non-logistics businesses so as to be less 
dependent on the traditional logistics business. Nevertheless, logistics remains a major activity and there 
are continuous efforts to enhance the revenue from this activity.  

Moving Forward

M A N A G E M E N T  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S
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i) Warehousing in Wujiang, PRC

 All the 9 warehouses comprising 76,000 sq. meters of warehouse space at Jiangsu Wujiang Fenhu 
Economic Development Zone in the district of Suzhou, Jiangsu province, are fully tenanted on 
long term leases with built-in rental increase clauses. The Group’s management ensures proper 
maintenance of the facilities and the revenue stream generated provides healthy cash flow to the 
Group. The Group is keeping its options open on making further investments to expand the warehouse 
facilities in the Wujiang area.

Review of Operations



S U S TA I N A B I L I T Y  S TAT E M E N T
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ILB recognizes the importance of sustainability related issues which can have a significant impact on 
ILB Group’s business. In line with governance recommendations, ILB now makes a formal statement 
disclosing its sustainability strategy.
  
Sustainability is embedded within the Company and sustainability matters are managed by various 
departments within the ILB Group. Based on the Economic, Environment and Social (“EES”) framework 
as set out in the guidelines, we aspire to demonstrate our commitment to sustainability within these 
areas.

(a) Strategic

 ILB has since inception been an integrated logistics solutions provider. However, with changes in 
the marketplace in recent years, ILB has obtained shareholder approval and diversified into solar 
energy activities. As the existing logistics business is exposed to volatility in the marketplace, 
the Group has identified solar energy as a potential source of stable earnings and intends to 
gradually expand its footprint in the solar energy sector. This venture into renewable energy is 
in line with the government’s push for greater use of energy from renewable sources to reduce 
the dependence on energy using fossil fuels. Nevertheless, the Group remains alert to changes 
in the marketplace and will tweak its business model in the face of changing trends.

 
(b) Solar Energy Activities

 ILB has ventured into solar energy activities which have greater potential for earnings sustainability 
as compared with ILB’s traditional logistics business. The Group’s diversification into solar 
energy ventures is undertaken through wholly-owned subsidiary, IL Energy Sdn Bhd (IL Energy). 
IL Energy’s wholly-owned subsidiary, EVN Vision Sdn Bhd, built its 1.0 MW a.c solar power plant 
in 2016 and another wholly-owned subsidiary of IL Energy, IL Solar Sdn Bhd, received approval 
from Suruhanjaya Tenaga for the development of a 10 MW a.c large scale solar photovoltaic 
plant (LSSPV Plant) at Bandar Bukit Kayu Hitam, Kedah. The project has been successfully 
completed and has commenced commercial operations. The Group intends to invest further in 
environment friendly solar energy ventures.

 As at the end of financial year 2017, ILB had 2 solar installations in place. Power Purchase 
Agreements (PPA) with Tenaga Nasional Berhad ensure sustainable earnings over the duration 
of the PPAs. The Group sees growing contribution from the solar energy sector in the coming 
years and will invest in newer technologies for future solar ventures undertaken by the Group.

(c) Logistics Activities

 The Group’s existing logistics businesses are producing mixed results and efforts are continuing 
to achieve greater sustainability of earnings from this traditional sector.

1.  ECONOMIC



S U S TA I N A B I L I T Y  S TAT E M E N T
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(d) Business Ethics & Transparency

 The Board has a Code of Ethics and ensures all business dealings are conducted in an ethical 
and transparent manner. The Group also has in place a Whistleblower Policy where complaints 
are investigated while identity of whistleblowers protected.

(e) Regulatory Compliance

 The Group keeps abreast of changes in relevant laws, regulations and practices to ensure 
compliance with the regulatory changes taking place. Quarterly Financial Reports are prepared 
and submitted to Bursa in accordance with Bursa’s Listing requirements.

The Group is cognizant of the depletion in earth’s natural resources and the effects of fossil fuels on 
global climate change.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is contributing to a cleaner environment with the 
greater use of clean renewable energy and reduced dependence on fossil fuels in line with the 
government’s initiatives. It has invested in environment friendly solar energy plants which are part of 
the wider clean renewable energy sector and is continuing efforts to further increase the use of solar 
energy in its operations which will further reduce the dependence on fossil fuels.

The Group’s contributions in the social sector include generating employment and business 
opportunities in its areas of operations. It also strives to provide a safe working environment for all 
its employees and business partners and also makes annual financial contributions to community 
and society.

The Board fully acknowledges that employees are the backbone of the operations and central to the 
success and continued viability of the Group. 

To this end, the Group strives to provide a healthy, comfortable and safe working environment for 
its diverse workforce and offers its employees fair compensation for their contributions and efforts. 
Employee’s welfare is also taken care of through competitive medical benefits and occupational 
safety, particularly for production floor employees, is given appropriate attention. Employees will be 
also be given opportunities to enhance their knowledge and skills which will not only enhance their 
productivity but also position them to undertake increased responsibilities and more challenging 
tasks in future.

2. ENVIRONMENT

3. SOCIAL

4. WORKPLACE



Datuk R. Karunakaran, male aged 68, was appointed to the Board 
on the 1 July 2008 as an Independent Non-Executive Director 
and subsequently elected as Chairman of the Board on the 19 
February 2010. He graduated from the University of Malaya with 
a Bachelor of Economics (Accounting) Hons. in 1972 & was 
formerly the Director General of MIDA retiring in June 2008 after 
having served for 36 years. He had also served as Director of 
MIDA Singapore, Cologne (Germany) and London (England) and 
was also responsible for co-ordinating the development of the 
manufacturing and service sectors, including promoting domestic 
and foreign investments in Malaysia.

Datuk Karunakaran is also the Chairman of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. He is the Chairman of Etiqa General 
Insurance Berhad (formerly known as Etiqa Insurance Berhad), 
Etiqa Life Insurance Berhad, Etiqa International Holdings Berhad 
and Maybank Ageas Holdings Berhad and sits as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director on the Boards of Malayan Banking Berhad, 
Bursa Malaysia Berhad, IOI Corporation Berhad.

Datuk Karunakaran does not have any interest in the securities of 
the Company and its subsidiaries. He has no family relationships 
with any other Director and/or major shareholder of the Company. 

Mr Tee Tuan Sem, male aged 66, the Chief Executive Officer, was 
appointed to the Board on the 9 June 1992. He is a member of the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants and a Fellow of the Chartered 
Association of Certified Accountants. He joined Tet O Chong & 
Co., an established firm of public accountants, in 1976, and joined 
Integrated Forwarding & Shipping Berhad as Chief Accountant 
in 1981. He was promoted to the position of Finance Director of 
the Company in 1998 and subsequently appointed as the Chief 
Executive Officer in 2001. He does not hold any other directorships 
of public companies.

Mr Tee has a direct interest of 20,017,451 ordinary shares in the 
Company. He also has an indirect interest of 381,931 ordinary 
shares in the Company held through his wife, Yang Chiew Bi. Mr 
Tee does not have any family relationship with any other Director 
and/or major shareholder of the Company.

Tee Tuan Sem
Chief  Executive Officer
Executive Director (Malaysian)

Datuk R. Karunakaran
Chairman
Independent Non-Executive Director (Malaysian)

D I R E C T O R S ’  P R O F I L E
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Sam Loh Cheng Keat, male aged 40, was appointed to the Board 
on the 15 September 2016 as an Executive Director. He graduated 
from Coventry University UK with a Bachelor of Arts degree in 2002 
and began his career with a firm of accountants, Moores Rowland, 
in 2002 and moved to D’nonce Technology Berhad as a Business 
Development Manager in 2004. The following year, he joined Cam 
Industries Sdn Bhd as Head of Business Development and in 2014, 
he set up his own renewable energy business, EVN Vision Sdn Bhd 
which was subsequently acquired by IL Energy Sdn Bhd, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Integrated Logistics Berhad.

Mr Sam Loh has a direct interest of 3,520,300 ordinary shares in 
the Company.  He does not hold any other directorships of public 
companies and does not have any family relationship with any other 
Director and/or major shareholder of the Company.

Makoto Takahashi
Executive Director (Japanese)

Mr Makoto Takahashi, Executive Director, male aged 50, holds a 
Bachelor of Science degree from the University of San Francisco. 
He has working experience with a Japanese logistics company in 
Kobe, Japan and a trading company in Hong Kong. He joined ILB in 
1998 as General Manager of Sales & Marketing and was appointed 
to the Board as an Executive Director on the 17 September 2001.

Mr Makoto has a direct interest of 20,803,990 ordinary shares in 
the Company. He does not hold any other directorships of public 
companies and does not have any family relationship with any other 
Director and/or major shareholder of the Company.

Sam Loh Cheng Keat
Executive Director (Malaysian)

D I R E C T O R S ’  P R O F I L E
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Lee Kay Loon
Independent Non-Executive Director (Malaysian)

Mr Lee Kay Loon, male aged 66, was appointed to the Board as 
an Independent Non-Executive Director on the 1 June 2010. He 
is a Fellow of the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants, 
member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the 
Malaysian Institute of Chartered Secretaries & Administrators. 
Mr Lee has vast corporate and financial management experience 
having worked in a quasi government organisation, a local bank 
and a life and general insurance company. He has held various 
senior management positions which included internal auditor, 
accountant, Director of Finance, Brand and Communication 
Director and Director of Project Management, retiring in 2007 after 
a career spanning more than 30 years.

Mr Lee is the Chairman of the Audit & Risk Management Committee 
and a member of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. He 
does not hold any directorships of other public companies and 
does not have any interest in the securities of the Company or its 
subsidiaries. He does not have any family relationship with any 
other Director and/or major shareholder of the Company. 

Dato’ Wan Hashim bin Wan Jusoh, aged 56, was appointed to the 
Board on 1 October 2017 as an Independent Non-Executive Director. 

Dato’ Wan Hashim obtained his Bachelor Degree of Science (Hons) in 
1981 in Resource Economy from Universiti Pertanian Malaysia (now 
known as Universiti Putra Malaysia). He joined MIDA in the same year 
as Assistant Director. Throughout most of his 36 year career with MIDA, 
he was responsible for the promotion and coordination of foreign and 
domestic investments and was also assigned to MIDA Los Angeles, 
Boston and New York. Dato’ Wan Hashim was promoted to Executive 
Director in 2011 taking the leadership for five industry divisions 
namely the Electronic, ICT and Electrical, Transport Technology, 
Machinery and Equipment, and Textile and Non-Metallic Mineral. He 
became the Deputy CEO III of MIDA in July 2014 taking charge of the 
Strategic Planning and Investment Eco-System Development roles of 
MIDA and retired on the 24 September 2017 after a long distinguished 
career with MIDA.

Dato’ Wan Hashim is also a member of the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. He 
sits on the Board of AYS Ventures Berhad as an Independent Non-
Executive Director and does not have any interest in the securities 
of the Company and its subsidiaries. He does not have any family 
relationship with any other Director and/or major shareholder of the 
Company. 

Dato’ Wan Hashim bin Wan Jusoh
Independent Non-Executive Director (Malaysian)

D I R E C T O R S ’  P R O F I L E



Wan Azfar bin Dato’ Wan Annuar
Independent Non-Executive Director (Malaysian)

En Wan Azfar bin Dato’ Wan Annuar, male aged 68, was appointed 
to the Board as an Executive Director on the 17 September 2001. He 
resigned as an Executive Director on the 26 March 2003 but remained 
as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and was subsequently 
redesignated as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 19 August 
2015.  A Naval Officer by training, having been through Britannia Royal 
College, Dartmouth, United Kingdom and HMS Mercury, Royal Navy’s 
School of Maritime Operations, Petersfield, United Kingdom, he has 
some 16 years service at sea and ashore. His military appointments 
included 2 warship commands, staff duties at Ministry of Defence, 
Kuala Lumpur, Naval Headquarters in Singapore and as Naval Attache 
at the Malaysian High Commission, London. After leaving the Royal 
Malaysian Navy, he joined Malayan United Industries Berhad group of 
companies and pioneered the hotel division. 

En Wan Azfar is also a member of the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. He does 
not hold any directorships of other public companies and does not 
have any interest in the securities of the Company or its subsidiaries. 
He does not have any family relationship with any other Director and/
or major shareholder of the Company. 

Notes
1.	 None	of	the	Directors	have	entered	into	any	transaction,	whether	directly	or	indirectly,	which	has	a	conflict	of	interest	with	

the Company.
2.	 None	of	the	Directors	have	any	convictions	for	any	offences	within	the	past	5	years	other	than	traffic	offences.
3.	 None	of	the	Directors	have	any	public	sanctions	&	penalties	imposed	by	any	regulatory	bodies	during	the	financial	year	2017.
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Lee Pei Sze
Chief Financial Officer

Hoo Pee Chon
Chief Risk Officer

Motohiko Tachibana
Group Internal Auditor

Ms Lee Pei Sze, female aged 42, holds a Bachelor of Management Studies degree, majoring in 
Accounting from University of Waikato, New Zealand. Ms Lee started her career with Star Cruise 
Administrative Services Sdn Bhd in 1999 and joined Integrated Logistics Solutions Sdn Bhd, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in 2005 as Group Financial Controller, being subsequently 
appointed Group Chief Financial Officer of the Group in 2014.

Mr Hoo Pee Chon, male aged 61, holds a Diploma in Business Studies, majoring in Finance, from 
Tunku Abdul Rahman College, Kuala Lumpur.  Mr Hoo joined the Group in 1982 and has more than 
34 years experience in the logistics industry. He has held several managerial positions in the Group 
and was promoted to the position of Deputy Group Operation Director (Malaysian operations) in 
2005. Mr Hoo was transferred to Integrated National Logistics DWC LLC an associate company of 
the Group in Dubai, United Arab Emirates as Head of Finance & Administration in 2012 and was 
appointed to his current position as Chief Risk Officer of the Group in 2016.

Mr Motohiko Tachibana, male aged 70, holds a Bachelor of Economics degree from Otemon Gakuin 
University, Japan. Mr Tachibana was an Accountant with Matsushita Industrial Corporation Sdn Bhd 
before joining the Group in 1989. He has held several managerial positions in the Group.  Prior to his 
appointment as the Group Internal Auditor in early 2016, he was the Chief Risk Officer of the Group. 

G R O U P  M A N A G E M E N T  P R O F I L E
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Amarjit Singh A/L Banta Singh
Group Company Secretary

Tee Jia Jie
Executive Director of IL Solar Sdn Bhd

Notes
None of the Group Management:
1. Holds any directorships of other public companies. 
2. Have any family relationship with any director & /or major shareholder of the Company, apart from Tee Jia 

Jee, who is the son of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
3. Have entered into any transaction, whether directly or indirectly, which has a conflict of interest with the 

Company.
4. Have any convictions for any offences and public sanctions & penalties imposed by any regulatory bodies 

other than traffic offences within past five years.

Mr Amarjit Singh A/L Banta Singh, male aged 66, is a Fellow of the Chartered Association of Certified 
Accountants, a member of Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries & Administrators. Mr Amarjit was formerly the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Koperasi 
Angkatan Tentera Malaysia Berhad and joined the Group in 2009 as the Group Company Secretary.

Mr Tee Jia Jee, male aged 26, is an Executive Director of IL Solar Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Company. He graduated with a BSC (Hons) Economics from Cardiff Metropolitan University in 
2014 with a Postgraduate in International Commercial Law from Cardiff University in 2015.

G R O U P  M A N A G E M E N T  P R O F I L E
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C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  O V E RV I E W  S TAT E M E N T

The Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance defines corporate governance as! ¸the process and 
structure used to direct and manage the business and affairs of the company towards promoting business 
prosperity and corporate accountability with the ultimate objective of realising long-term shareholder 
value, whilst taking into account the interests of the other stakeholders.¹ 

The Board of Directors (Board) remains committed to subscribe to the principles of good corporate 
governance that is central to the effective operation of the Company and to ensure the highest standards 
of accountability and transparency. The Board supports the Corporate Governance Framework and 
continues to improve existing practices and achieve the objectives of the Company.

The Board is pleased to set out below the manner in which the Group has applied the three main principles 
in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (¸MCCG 2017¹) known as Board Leadership and 
Effectiveness (Principal A), Effective Audit And Risk Management (Principal B) and Integrity in Corporate 
Reporting and Meaningful Relationship with Stakeholders (Principal C) throughout the financial year ended 
31 December 2017.

1.1 The Company has an experienced Board comprising three Executive Directors and four 
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board of Directors is primarily responsible 
for charting and reviewing the strategic direction of the Group and delegates the 
implementation of these directions to the management. The independent non-
executive directors are considered independent of any business or other relationship or 
circumstances that could interfere with the execution of their independent judgement 
and decision making in the best interests of the Company.

 The responsibilities of the Board are inclusive of but not limited to!

1.0 Every company is headed by a board, which assumes responsibility for the company’s 
leadership and is collectively responsible for meeting the objectives and goals of the 
company.

i. Charting the strategic direction, and setting out short-term and long-term plans for 
the Group.

ii. Promoting ethical and best corporate governance culture in the Group.
iii. Monitoring and reviewing compliance with internal control policies and risk 

management systems.
iv. Monitoring compliance with relevant laws & regulations and accounting standards 

within the corporate and business environment.
v. Overseeing and reviewing business operations within a systematic and controlled 

environment.
vi. Monitoring the financial performance of the Group.
vii. Appointing and determining the remuneration, duration and terms of appointment of 

the Executive Directors.
viii. Assessing the performance of and developing the succession plan for the Executive 

Directors.

PRINCIPAL A - BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

I. Board Responsibilities
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Board Committees

The Company has two Board Committees to assist the Board. They are delegated 
specific functions and are governed by their Terms of Reference namely the Audit & 
Risk Management Committee (¸ARMC¹) and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
(¸NRC¹). Both Committees comprise of Independent Non-Executive Directors and submit 
their respective reports and minutes to the Board.

Audit & Risk Management Committee (ARMC)

The Audit & Risk Management Committee oversees the integrity of the financial statements, 
compliance with relevant accounting standards and the group’s risk management and 
internal controls.  The Committee had four meetings during financial year 2017 and 
comprises!-

i. Lee Kay Loon  
ii. Wan Azfar bin Dato’ Wan Annuar
iii. Dato’ Wan Hashim bin Wan Jusoh (appointed 1 October 2017)
iv. Dato’ Haji Wazir bin Haji Muaz (resigned 30 September 2017) 
 
The ARMC’s terms of reference include the review and deliberation on the Company’s 
Financial Statements, the audit findings of the External Auditors arising from the audit 
of the Company’s Financial Statements and the audit findings and issues raised by the 
internal audit team. The ARMC also reviews the Company’s Xuarterly unaudited financial 
statements and annual audited Financial Statements before they are approved by the 
Board.

The ARMC’s Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 is on pages 33 to 34 
of this Annual report.  
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1.2 The Company has a clear distinction and separation of roles between the Chairman and 
the CEO, with clear division of responsibilities. The Board of Directors is headed by Datuk 
R. Karunakaran, the Independent Non-Executive Chairman, who has broad exposure and 
extensive experience in the international trade and investment arena.  As Chairman, he 
plays a vital role in leading and guiding the Board, and also serves as the communication 
point between the Board and the CEO.

1.3 The Board has delegated to the Chief Executive Officer, Mr Tee Tuan Sem, the authority 
and responsibility for implementing policies, strategies and decisions adopted by the 
Board. The CEO and the management team are responsible for implementing the plans 
chartered out and the day to day management of the Group, with clear authority delegated 
by the Board.
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1.4 The Board is supported by the Company Secretary, Mr Amarjit Singh A/L Banta Singh, 
male aged 66, who is a Fellow of the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants, a 
member of Malaysia Institute of Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries & 
Administrators. He is responsible for the secretarial function such as ensuring compliance 
with all statutory & regulatory reXuirements, recording the proceedings of Board and 
Committee meetings, and proper maintenance of secretarial records.  

1.5 The Board meets on a Xuarterly basis with additional meetings being convened when 
necessary. All the Directors have complied with the minimum attendance reXuirements 
as stipulated by the Main Market Listing ReXuirements of Bursa Malaysia. The Board met 
on four occasions during the year ended 31st December 2017.

 The Board has timely access to relevant information pertaining to the Group. Prior to each 
Board meeting, the Agenda for the meeting together with comprehensive management 
reports & proposal papers are furnished to all Directors for their perusal 3 days before 
the meeting. Directors can obtain further clarifications from the management and the 
Secretary.  Senior management and external advisors may be invited to attend Board 
Meetings to provide further details, clarifications and/or advise the Board as and when 
reXuired on matters to be deliberated. Should any of the Directors be unable to attend 
any Board meeting, they may give their opinion in advance, and such opinion will be 
considered in the decision making process at the Board meeting.

 
 All matters discussed and resolutions passed at each Board meeting are recorded 

in the minutes of the meeting.  These minutes are circulated to all Directors for their 
confirmation and any Director can reXuest for further clarification on the minutes prior to 
their confirmation.

 The members of the Board also evaluate business propositions and corporate proposals 
that reXuire Board approval. The Board is regularly updated and advised on new regulatory 
reXuirements relating to the duties and responsibilities of Directors.  Further advice can 
be obtained from the Company Secretary or from external professionals where necessary. 

The responsibilities of the Management of the Group are inclusive of but not limited to!

a.   Chart the strategic direction.
b.   Develop short term & long term plans.
c.   Monitor financial results, comparison with budget & analysis of variances.
d.   Statutory compliance.
e.   Highlighting to the Board key areas needing attention.
f.   Managing Investor relations.
g.   Engaging adeXuate & suitable Xualified personnel.
h.   Upholding Corporate Governance" avoid conflicts of interest & unethical practices.



20 Integrated Logist ics Berhad (229690K)ANNUAL REPORT 2017

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  O V E RV I E W  S TAT E M E N T

2.0 There is clear demarcation of responsibilities between the board, board committees 
and management. There is clarity in the authority of the board, its committees and 
individual directors. 

 The Board is guided by a Board Charter which sets out the principles governing the Board 
of Directors of the Company and adopts the principles of good governance and practice in 
accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations in Malaysia. 

 The Board will periodically review the Board Charter and make changes wherever necessary. 
The Board Charter is published on the Company’s corporate website at www.ilb.com.my. 

3.0 The Board is committed to promoting good business conduct and maintaining a healthy 
corporate culture that engenders integrity, transparency and fairness. The board, 
management, employees and other stakeholders are clear on what is considered 
acceptable behaviour and practice in the company

4.0 Board decisions are made objectively in the best interests of the company taking into 
account diverse perspectives and insights.

3.1 Code of Ethics

 The Board has adopted a Code of Ethics for Directors which outlines their standards 
of ethical behaviour in discharging their duties and responsibilities. This Code aims to 
enhance the standard of corporate governance and behaviour as well as upholding the 
spirit of responsibility including social responsibility in line with prevailing legislation, 
regulations and guidelines.

3.2 Whistleblowing Policy

 A formal Whistleblowing Policy has been established to assist in ensuring that the 
Group’s business and operations are conducted in an ethical, moral and legal manner. 
The Whistleblowing Policy is designed to encourage employees or external parties to 
disclose suspected malpractice or misconduct and to provide protection to employees 
or external parties who report allegations of such practices.

4.1 The Company has an experienced Board comprising three Executive Directors and four 
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Non-Executive Directors are not employees 
of the Company and do not participate in the day to day management of the Company. 
All four Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, are independent directors 
and are able to express their views without any constraint. This strengthens the Board 
which benefits from the independent views expressed before any decisions are taken. 
Should any director have an interest in any matter under deliberation, he is reXuired to 
disclose his interest and abstain from participating in discussions on the matter.The 
NRC has reviewed the performance of the independent directors and is satisfied they 
have discharged their responsibilities in an independent manner.

II Board Composition
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4.2 The MCCG 2017 stipulates that the tenure of an Independent Director of the Company 
should not exceed a cumulative term of nine years. An Independent Director may 
continue to serve the Board subject to re-designation as a Non-Independent Director. 
In the event the Board intends to retain the Independent Director after serving 
a cumulative term of nine years, shareholders’ approval will be sought. The Board 
believes that valuable contributions can be obtained from directors who have, over 
a period of time, developed valuable insight of the Company and its business. Their 
experience enables them to discharge their duties and responsibilities independently 
and effectively in the decision making processes of the Board, notwithstanding their 
tenure on the Board. 

 Datuk R. Karunakaran, an Independent Non-Executive Director has completed a nine 
year term on the Board. Notwithstanding his long tenure in office and based on the 
recommendations of the NRC, the Board is unanimous in its opinion that Datuk R. 
Karunakaran’s independence has not been impaired or compromised and the Board 
resolves to seek shareholders’ approval for Datuk R. Karunakaran to continue serving 
as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.

4.3 The Board recognises the importance of independence and objectivity in the decision-
making process. The Board is committed to ensure that the independent directors 
are capable of exercising independent judgement and act in the best interests of the 
Group. The Independent Directors of the Company fulfil the criteria of ¸independence¹. 
They act independent of management and are not involved in any other relationship 
with the Group that may impair their independent judgement and decision making. 
Each Director has a continuing responsibility to determine whether he has a potential 
or actual conflict of interest in relation to any material transaction.

 The Directors are reXuired to immediately disclose to the Board and to abstain from 
participating in discussions, deliberations and decisions of the Board on the respective 
matters. The Board via the NRC and guided by the Corporate Governance Guide-
Towards Boardroom Excellence has developed the criteria to assess independence 
and formalised the current independence assessment practice. The evaluation process 
also involves a peer and self-review assessment, where Directors will assess their own 
performance and that of their fellow Directors. These assessments and comments by 
all the Directors are summarised and discussed at an NRC meeting and then reported 
to the Board. Each independent director abstains from deliberations on his own 
assessment. The NRC is satisfied that the Independent Directors still maintain their 
independence.      

4.4 The Board appoints its members through a formal and transparent selection process, 
which is consistent with the Articles of Association of the Company (now referred to 
as the Constitution of the Company). The NRC does an annual review of the Board 
including its composition and makes recommendations to the Board accordingly, 
keeping in mind the need to meet current and future reXuirements of the Group.
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4.5 The Articles of Association of the Company (now referred to as the Constitution of 
the Company) provides that all Directors of the Company shall retire from office at 
least once every three years but shall be eligible for re-election. At least one third of 
the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the 
number nearest to one-third, shall retire from office at each AGM. A retiring Director 
shall be eligible for re-election. This provides an opportunity for shareholders to renew 
their mandates. 

 
 The election of each director is voted on separately. To assist shareholders in their 

decision, sufficient information such as personal profile, meeting attendance record 
and their shareholdings in the Group are furnished in the Annual Report accompanying 
the Notice of Annual General Meeting.

 The NRC is responsible for recommending to the Board those Directors who are eligible 
to stand for re-election/re-appointment based on the review of their performance and 
contribution to the Board through their skills, experience, Xualities and ability to act in 
the best interests of the Company.

 The NRC completed its assessment and made recommendations to the Board for 
re-election/re-appointment of the following at the next AGM of the Company!

4.6 The Board acknowledges the importance of age, nationality, professional background 
& gender diversity and recognises the benefits of such diversity. The NRC considers 
diversity generally when making appropriate appointments to the Board, taking into 
account relevant skills, ethnicity, age, experience and knowledge. Notwithstanding the 
challenges in achieving the appropriate level of diversity on the Board, the Board is 
continuing to work towards addressing this as and when vacancies arise and suitable 
candidates are indentified. The Company’s prime responsibility in new appointments 
is always to select the best candidates available.

(i) The re-election of Datuk R. Karunakaran and En Wan Azfar bin Dato Wan Annuar, 
who are due to retire but are be eligible for re-election pursuant to Article 80 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association (now referred to as the Constitution of the 
Company)" 

(ii) The re-election of Dato’ Wan Hashim bin Wan Jusoh, pursuant to Article 87 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association (now referred to as the Constitution of the 
Company)" and

(iii) Re-election of Datuk R. Karunakaran whose tenure of service as an independent 
director has exceeded a cumulative term of nine years, as he possesses the 
necessary Xualities to discharge his role and functions as an Independent Director.

   
The profiles of these Directors are set out on page 11 to 14 of the Annual Report.



C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  O V E RV I E W  S TAT E M E N T

23Integrated Logist ics Berhad (229690K)ANNUAL REPORT 2017

4.7 None of the directors of the Company hold more than five directorships of listed 
companies as provided under paragraph 15.06 of the Main Market Listing ReXuirements. 

 The Board meets on a Xuarterly basis with additional meetings being convened when 
necessary to address urgent matters. All the Directors have complied with the minimum 
attendance reXuirements as stipulated by the Main Market Listing ReXuirements of 
Bursa Malaysia. The Board met on four occasions during the year ended 31st December 
2017 and the details of attendance at Board Meetings is set out below.

4.8 New appointees to the Board are given an introduction to familiarise themselves with the 
Group’s operations so as to assist them in discharging their duties and responsibilities. 
They are reXuired to attend the Mandatory Accreditation Programme by Bursa Malaysia 
and thereafter to continually upgrade their knowledge and exposure through in-house 
training programmes as well as courses conducted by external parties. All Directors 
have completed the Mandatory Accreditation Programme stipulated by Bursa Malaysia. 

ATTENDANCE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

DATUK R. KARUNAKARAN
LEE KA@ LOON
WAN AZFAR BIN DATO’ WAN ANNUAR
DATO’ WAN HASHIM BIN WAN JUSOH (Appointed 01.10.2017)

NON-INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

DATO’ HAJI WAZIR BIN HAJI MUAZ (Resigned 30.09.2017)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TEE TUAN SEM
MAKOTO TAKAHASHI
SAM LOH CHENG KEAT

Number of 
Meetings
Attended

4
4
4
1

2

4
4
3

Total
Number of
Meetings

4
4
4
1

 

3

4
4
4



Training programmes and seminars attended by the Directors of the Company during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2017 are as follows!

Datuk. R. 
Karunakaran

Lee Kay Loon

Wan Azfar bin Dato’ 
Wan Annuar

Dato’ Wan Hashim 
bin Wan Jusoh

Dato’ Haji Wazir bin 
Haji Muaz

Tee Tuan Sem

- Invest Asean 2017, Edition! Asean Reset by Malayan Banking 
Berhad.

- Cyber in the Boardroom! The first place to address cyber security 
risk by KPMG.

- Breakfast talk! CG Watch 2016 ¶ Ecosystems Matter by ACGA.
- Companies Act 2016 by HMC Corporate Services Sdn Bhd.
- Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017, conducted by 

HMC Corporate Services Sdn Bhd.
- Talk on Judicial Management by Messrs Wong & Partners.
- Reinsurance Seminar by EtiXa.
- Board Excellence! How to Engage and Enthuse Beyond Compliance 

with Sustainability by MINDA & Bursa Malaysia.
- EtiXa Annual Risk Workshop by EtiXa.
- Invest Malaysia 2017 Conference by CIMB & Bursa Malaysia.
- New Malaysia Code of Corporate Governance by Bursa Malaysia.
- Annual Risk Workshop by Group Risk - Malayan Banking Berhad.
- Fraud Risk Management Workshop by Bursa Malaysia.
- Malaysia Strategy! Sprouting some green shoots by Bursa Malaysia.
- Implications on China’s Opening on Malaysia Capital Market 

Development by Bursa Malaysia.
- When A1 Meets Fin Tech by Malayan Banking Berhad.
- Cyber Risk to Financial Institutions by Malayan Banking Berhad
- International Association of Insurance Supervisors (IAIS) 2017 24th 

Annual Conference by Bank Negara Malaysia & IAIS.
- Group Compliance Engagement Session on AML/Sanction, FEA 

Rules & Anti-Bribery & Corruption by Group Compliance - Malayan 
Banking Berhad.

- Integrated Reporting by IOI Corporation Berhad & Price 
WaterhouseCoopers.

- Companies Act 2016.
- Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017
 conducted by HMC Corporate Services Sdn Bhd.
- Advocacy Session on Corporate Disclosure for Directors & Principal 

Officers of listed issuers conducted by Bursa Malaysia.

- Companies Act 2016.
- Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017
 conducted by HMC Corporate Services Sdn Bhd.
- Integrating Sustainability Reporting with effective risk management 

conducted by Corporate Communications, Baker Tilly (Malaysia).

- CG Breakfast Series with Directors ¶ Integrating an innovation 
mindset with effective governance conducted by Bursa Malaysia.

- Mandatory Accreditation Programme conducted by Iclif Leadership 
and Governance Centre.

- Companies Act 2016.
- Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017
 conducted by HMC Corporate Services Sdn Bhd.

- Companies Act 2016.
- Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017
 conducted by HMC Corporate Services Sdn Bhd.

Director           Training / Seminar Attended

1

2

3
4
5

6
7
8

9
10
11
12
13
14
15

16
17
18

19

20

1
2

3

1
2

3

1

2

1
2

1
2
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Makoto 
Takahashi

Sam Loh 
Cheng Keat

- Companies Act 2016.
- Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017
 conducted by HMC Corporate Services Sdn Bhd.

- Companies Act 2016.
- Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017
 conducted by HMC Corporate Services Sdn Bhd.
- Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017 conducted by 

Securities Industry Development Corporation.
- Risk Management Programme conducted by Bursa Malaysia.

Director           Training / Seminar Attended

1
2

1
2

3

4
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��� StaReholders are able to form an opinion on the overall eɈectiveness of the board and 
individual directors.

The NRC does an annual review of the composition of the Board and makes recommendations 
to the Board accordingly, keeping in mind the need to meet current and future reXuirements 
of the Group. 

The Committee is satisfied with the current size of the Board and with the mix of Xualifications, 
skills and experience of its Board members. The evaluation criteria includes commitment 
displayed, the depth of contribution, ability to communicate and undertake assignments 
on behalf of the Board. The Committee had four meetings during the financial year and 
comprises the following directors!-

A formal evaluation process is in place to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. 
Evaluation results of the Board Evaluation and Individual Director Self/Peer Evaluation are 
presented to the NRC, Board meetings and to the respective Directors.      

The NRC also reviews the remuneration of the Board and Senior Management from time to 
time with a view to ensuring the company offers fair compensation and is able to attract and 
retain talent who can add value to the Company. Fees paid to Non-Executive Directors are 
tabled at the Company’s AGM for approval.

The Chairman of the Committee is Datuk R. Karunakaran, an Independent Non-Executive 
Director. All the Committee members are Independent Non-Executive Directors.  

As provided for in Bursa’s Main Market Listing ReXuirements, the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference are available on the Company’s website www.ilb.com.my.

a. Datuk R. Karunakaran
b. Lee Kay Loon
c. Wan Azfar bin Dato’ Wan Annuar
d. Dato’ Wan Hashim bin Wan Jusoh (appointed 01.10.2017)
e. Dato’ Haji Wazir bin Haji Muaz (resigned 30.09.2017)
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a) Facilitated and conducted annual assessment and performance of individual Directors 
and effectiveness of the Board as a whole.

b) Facilitated the annual review of the reXuired skills, experience and other Xualities including 
core competencies which Non-Executive Directors should bring to the Board.

c) Conducted assessment on Directors who are subject to re-appointment or re-election.

d) Reviewed the Terms of Reference of the NRC.

e) Assisted the Board in assessing the training needs of the Directors during the year.

f) Reviewed and deliberated on the Xuantum of Non-Executive Directors’ fees.

g) Reviewed annually the performance of the Chief Executive Officer and other key 
management personnel and recommended to the Board their remuneration commensurate 
with their performance and contributions to the Group.

6.0 The level and composition of remuneration of directors and senior management take 
into account the company’s desire to attract and retain the right talent in the board and 
senior management to drive the company’s long-term objectives. The remuneration 
policies and decisions are made through a transparent and independent process.

7.0 Stakeholders are able to assess whether the remuneration of directors and senior 
management is commensurate with their individual performance, taking into 
consideration the company’s performance.

The Company’s NRC reviews the remuneration of the Board and Senior Management from 
time to time with a view to ensuring the company offers fair compensation and is able to 
attract and retain talent who can add value to the Company. Fees paid to Non-Executive 
Directors are tabled at the Companyºs AGM for approval.

III Remuneration

The NRC had undertaken the following responsibilities during the year under review!
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The Details of the Directors’ remuneration comprising remuneration received from the 
Company and its subsidiaries in the financial year ended 31 December 2017 are as follows!

Salaries Fees Bonus

RM’000

Company

Total

Other
Remuneration

Benefits-
In-Kind

Total

Executive Directors
Tee Tuan Sem
Makoto Takahashi
Loh Cheng Keat

700
210
300

1,210 377 111 135 1,833-

-
-
-

-
-
-

38
-

36

92
18
4

830
228
340

Non-Executive
Directors
Datuk R. Karunakaran
Lee Kay Loon
Wan Azfar bin Dato’ 
Wan Annuar
Dato’ Haji Wazir bin 
Haji Muaz
Dato’ Wan Hashim bin 
Wan Jusoh

-
-

-

-

-

-
-

-

-

-

133
105

75

45

19

4
6

6

19

2

148
115

85

66

21

11
4

4

2

-

Salaries Fees Bonus

RM’000

Group

Total

Other
Remuneration

Benefits-
In-Kind

Total

Executive Directors
Tee Tuan Sem
Makoto Takahashi
Loh Cheng Keat

1,358
736
330

2,424 377 3,051-

-
-
-

-
-
-

38
-

40

92
18
4

1,488
754
374

Non-Executive
Directors
Datuk R. Karunakaran
Lee Kay Loon
Wan Azfar bin Dato’ 
Wan Annuar
Dato’ Haji Wazir bin 
Haji Muaz
Dato’ Wan Hashim bin 
Wan Jusoh

-
-

-

-

-

-
-

-

-

-

133
105

75

45

19

4
6

6

19

2

148
115

85

66

21

11
4

4

2

-

115 135
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Details of the remuneration of the top Senior Management (including salary, bonus, benefits 
in-kind and other emoluments) in each successive bands of RM50,000 during the financial 
year 2017, are as follows!

50,001 - 100,000
50,001 - 100,000

150,001 - 200,000
150,001 - 200,000
250,001 - 300,000

Motohiko Tachibana - Group Internal Auditor
Tee Jia Jee - Executive Director of IL Solar Sdn Bhd
Amarjit Singh A/L Banta Singh - Company Secretary
Hoo Pee Chon - Group Chief Risk Officer
Lee Pei Sze - Group Chief Financial Officer

Range of
Remuneration (RM)

Name of Top Senior Management

8.1 The Audit & Risk Management Committee oversees the integrity of the financial statements, 
compliance with relevant accounting standards and the group’s risk management and 
internal controls. The Committee had four meetings during financial year 2017 and 
comprises!-

8.2 The Board strives to provide true, fair and comprehensive financial reporting of the 
Group’s performance in the audited financial statements and Xuarterly financial reports 
together with material disclosures in the notes to accounts, in accordance with the MFRS 
and Bursa Malaysia reXuirements.

 The ARMC exercises professional oversight of the integrity of the financial reports before 
presenting the financial statements to the Board for approval. The ARMC also provides 
assurance to the Board with support and clarifications from the external auditors that 
the financial statements & reports presented are in compliance with applicable laws and 
accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the Group’s performance and 
financial position.

��� There is an eɈective and independent audit committee� The board is able to objectively 
revie^ the audit committee»s findings and recommendations� The company»s financial 
statement is a reliable source of information.

i. Lee Kay Loon
ii. Wan Azfar bin Dato’ Wan Annuar
iii. Dato’ Wan Hashim bin Wan Jusoh (appointed 01.10.2017) 
iv. Dato’ Haji Wazir bin Haji Muaz (resigned 30.09.2017)

PRINCIPAL B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

I Audit Committee
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9.1 The Board has the ultimate responsibility for reviewing the Company’s risk profile, approving 
the risk framework and policy. Relevant Internal control systems are implemented for the 
day to day operations of the group. The Internal Audit Department has an independent 
reporting channel to the ARMC and is authorised to conduct independent audits of all the 
departments and offices within the group. It reports its findings to the ARMC at the end 
of each Xuarter.

 The ARMC reviews, deliberates and evaluates the effectiveness and efficiency of the 
internal control systems in the organisation which are designed to manage and mitigate 
rather than eliminate risks in achieving the company’s corporate objectives, safeguarding 
the company’s assets as well as investors interests.

9.2 The Group�s risk management and internal control is headed by the ARMC which comprises 
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

8.3 The Board has a formal and transparent relationship with the external auditors.  The ARMC 
recommends to the Board on the appointment of the external auditors which is subject 
to the approval of shareholders at the AGM whilst their remuneration is determined by 
the Board. The role of the ARMC is further set out in their Report. The Board has private 
sessions and dialogues through the Committee with the external auditors, in the absence 
of the executive directors and the management.  For the year under review, there was one 
such dialogue session with the external auditors.

 It is the practice of the ARMC to conduct annual assessment of the external auditor. Areas 
of assessment include among others, the external auditors objectivity and independence, 
size and competency of the audit team, audit strategy, audit reporting, partner involvement 
and audit fees. In support of the assessment on independence, the external auditors 
provide the ARMC with a written assurance confirming their independence throughout 
the conduct of the audit engagement in accordance with the relevant professional 
and regulatory reXuirements. Premised on the assessment result, the ARMC will make 
recommendation for re-appointment of external auditors accordingly. 

 
 The ARMC ensures that the external auditors are independent of the activities they audit 

and reviews the contracts for non-audit services by the external auditors. During the 
financial year, the amount of non-audit fees paid to external auditors was RM 26,800.

8.4 The ARMC comprises Independent Non-Executive Directors and at least one member 
fulfills Xualifications prescribed by Bursa via paragraph 15.09(1)(c) and paragraph 7.1 of 
Practice Note 13 of the Main Market Listing ReXuirements.

9.0 Company makes informed decisions about the level of risk they want to take and implement 
necessary controls to pursue their objectives. The Board is provided with a reasonable 
assurance that adverse impact arising from a foreseeable future event or situation on the 
company’s objectives is mitigated and managed.

II Risk Management and Internal Control Framework
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The Group has established an internal audit and risk management function within the Group 
which is led by the Head of Internal Audit and Chief Risk Officer who reports directly to the 
ARMC.

The Board is cognizant of the fact it is responsible for the adeXuacy and effectiveness of the 
Group’s Risk Management and Internal Control System. The Board recognises the importance of 
good corporate governance and is committed to maintaining a sound system of internal controls 
and risk management. This includes the establishment of an appropriate control environment 
and risk management framework, processes and structures, and a continuous review of the 
adeXuacy and integrity of the said systems to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the 
Group’s assets. The Board is pleased to provide the following statement, which outlines the 
nature and scope of risk management and internal controls of the Group during the year. 

The Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control furnished on pages 35 to 37 of the 
Annual Report provides an overview on the state of internal controls within the Group, in an 
effort to manage risk.

1��� Company has an eɈective governance, risR management and internal control frame^orR 
and staReholders are able to assess the eɈectiveness of such a frame^orR�

The Board believes that a constructive and effective investor relationship is essential in enhancing 
shareholder value and recognises the importance of timely dissemination of information to 
shareholders or stakeholders.

The Board monitors all price sensitive information potentially reXuired to be released to Bursa 
Malaysia and makes material announcements to Bursa Malaysia in a timely manner. In line with 
best practices, the Board strives to disclose price sensitive information to the public as soon as 
practicable through Bursa, the media and the company’s website. 

Price sensitive information is defined as any information that on becoming generally available 
would tend to have a material effect on the market price of the Company’s listed securities.  The 
Company Secretary is responsible to compile such information for the approval of the Board 
soonest possible and release such information to the market as stipulated by Bursa Malaysia.

Apart from the provisions relating to the ¸closed period¹ for dealing in the company’s shares, the 
directors and senior management privy to price sensitive information are prohibited from dealing 
in the shares of the company until such information is publicly available. The Company’s website 
at www.ilb.com.my is regularly updated and provides relevant information on the Company 
which is accessible to the public to make informed decisions.

11.0 There is continuous communication between the company and stakeholders to facilitate 
mutual understanding of each other’s objectives and expectations. Stakeholders are able 
to make informed decisions with respect to the business of the Company, its policies on 
governance, the environment and social responsibility.

PRINCIPAL C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP 
WITH STAKEHOLDERS

I Communication with Stakeholders
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12.1 The Annual General Meeting is the principal forum for dialogue and interaction with the 
shareholders. The Board is committed to provide shareholders with comprehensive and 
timely information about the Group’s activities and performance to enable investors make 
informed decisions. Shareholders are encouraged to attend Annual General Meetings 
and use the opportunity to ask Xuestions on resolutions being proposed and on the 
progress, performance and future prospects of the company. The Chairman and Board 
members, with the assistance of the external auditors, are responsible to respond and 
provide explanations on matters raised.

 Information on the Group�s activities is provided in the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements which are despatched to shareholders. The Company also encourages 
shareholders and investors to access online the company’s Annual report and up to 
date announcements, which are made available at the Bursa Malaysia website and the 
company’s own website. 

 Investors and the public who wish to contact the Group on any enXuiry, comment or 
proposal can channel them through e-mail or contact the following persons!-

12.2 All resolutions set out in the notice of general meetings will be carried out by poll voting. 
The Board makes announcement of the detailed results showing the number of votes 
cast for and against each resolution at general meetings to facilitate greater shareholder 
participation.

This Corporate Governance Overview Statement is made at the Board of Directors Meeting held on 21 February 
2018.

1��� Shareholders are able to participate, engage the board and senior management eɈectively 
and make informed voting decisions at general meetings.

II Conduct of General Meetings

Name Contact No. E-mail address

Lee Pei Sze, Group Chief Financial Officer 03-5614 2555 leepeisze'ilb.com.my 
Tee Jia Jie, Executive Director of IL Solar Sdn Bhd 03-5614 2555 jjtee'ilb.com.my 
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O T H E R  D I S C L O S U R E S

1. Audit fees and Non-Audit Fees
  

During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the amount of audit fees and non-audit fees paid 
or payable to the Company and the Group are as follows!

2. Material Contracts
  

There were no material contracts entered into by the Group which involved directors and/or major 
shareholders interests during the financial year.

3. Variance in Results
  

There is no material variance between the results for the financial year 2017 and the unaudited results 
previously announced by the Company. The Company did not release any profit estimate, forecast or 
projections during the financial year.

Audit Fees

Non-Audit Fees

230,304

26,800

73,000

26,800

Company
(RM)

Group
(RM)
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COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS

ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

COSTS INCURRED BY INTERNAL AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Audit & Risk Management Committee (¸Committee¹) comprises the following members and details of 
attendance at meetings held during the financial year ended 31st December 2017 are as follows !-

The Committee met four times during the Financial @ear in accordance with the reXuirements of the 
Committee’s Terms of Reference.

The Group’s Chief Risk Officer (CRO) and the Company Secretary who is also the secretary to the 
Committee were in attendance during the meetings.  Executive Directors and other officers were also 
invited to attend the meetings to deliberate on relevant matters as and when reXuired.

After each meeting, the Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board on the matters deliberated, 
rectifications reXuired and relevant recommendations based on the issues discussed for information and 
further action.

The total cost incurred by the Internal Audit & Risk Management Department for the financial year ended 
2017 amounted to RM237,000. All internal audit activities were conducted by the in-house audit team.

As provided for in Bursa’s Main Market Listing ReXuirements, the Committee’s Terms of Reference are 
available on the Company’s website www.ilb.com.my.

Composition of the Committee

Lee Kay Loon           
(Chairman / Independent Non-Executive Director)

Wan Azfar bin Dato’ Wan Annuar     
(Member / Independent Non-Executive Director)

Dato’ Wan Hashim bin Wan Jusoh (Appointed 01-10-2017)
(Member/Independent Non-Executive Director) 

Dato’ Haji Wazir bin Haji Muaz (Resigned 30-09-2017)     
(Member / Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

Attendance at Committee meetings

4 out of 4

4 out of 4

1 out of 1

3 out of 3



SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- Reviewed a total of eight reports covering assignments and audits implemented within the Group.  
Recommendations and advice on best practises were also given to the management.

- Reviewed and deliberated on the risk management audit conducted on the Group’s operations.  The 
risk management coverage included management procedures, improvements in ISO, Safety, Health 
and Environmental (SHE) training reXuirements, electrical systems safety evaluation and review & 
improvement in the Standard Operating Procedures (SOP).

Risk Management and Internal Control Reviews

Internal Audit

- Reviewed and approved the Group Internal Audit Plan.

- Performed a Xuarterly review of both internal and external risk management, corporate governance, 
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, Safety, Health and Environment aspects as well as compliance 
with laws and regulations.

- Reviewed and assessed the adeXuacy and efficiency of corrective action taken by the management on 
outstanding Internal Audit issues raised in previous reports.

- Reviewed the Terms of Reference of the Committee

External Audit

- Reviewed and approved the External Auditors audit plan and scope of audit works.

- Deliberated on the results of the annual audit report and reported to the Board.

- Assessed the performance of the External Auditors and recommended their re-appointment to the Board.

- Met with the External Auditors without the presence of the Executive Directors and management to 
discuss matters affecting the audit and the Committee’s duties.

Financial Results

- Reviewed Xuarterly and annual financial statements with recommendation to the Board for approval.

- Ensured compliance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Stardards (MFRS) reXuirements.

Related Party Transactions

- Reviewed Related Party Transactions during the period

Statutory Reporting

- Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval the Corporate Governance Overview 
Statement, Statement on Risk Management & Internal Control (SORMIC), the Sustainability Statement 
and Committee reports.

Others

- Reviewed the Dubai operations at Dubai Logistics City, DWC Dubai, United Arab Emirates for better 
awareness of the operations of the Joint =enture Company.

- Conducted discussions with key management to better understand operations and areas needing 
improvement.

- Reviewed all litigation involving the Company and their potential impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.
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1. The Board is cognizant of the fact that it is responsible for the adeXuacy and effectiveness of the 
Group’s Risk Management and Internal Control System. The Board recognises the importance of 
good corporate governance and is committed to maintaining a sound system of internal controls 
and risk management. This includes the establishment of an appropriate control environment and 
risk management framework, processes and structures and a continuous review of the adeXuacy 
and integrity of the said systems to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. 
The Board is pleased to provide the following statement, which outlines the nature and scope of 
risk management and internal controls of the Group during the year. 

2. The system of risk management and internal controls covers risk management, finance, operations, 
management information systems and compliance with relevant laws, both local and foreign, all 
other regulations, policies and procedures.

3. The Board acknowledges its responsibility but is also aware of the limitations that are inherent 
in any system of internal control and risk management, such system being designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk that may impede the achievement of the Group’s business objectives. 
Accordingly, it can only provide a reasonable combination of preventive, detective and corrective 
measures but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or losses, fraud or breaches 
of laws or regulations.

4. The Group’s risk management and internal control framework is in place for identifying, evaluating 
and managing significant risks faced or potentially to be encountered by the Group. The process 
is regularly reviewed by the Board. 

5. The implementation of the risk management and internal control system within the Group inclusive 
of design, operation, identification, assessment, mitigation and control of risks, are operated with 
the assistance of the Management throughout the period. The Board has received assurance 
from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer that the Group’s risk management 
and internal control system is adeXuate and effective in all material aspects. 

6. The key features of the internal control systems which are operated with the assistance of the 
Management.

7. The Group has in place processes for the identification, evaluation, reporting, treatment, monitoring 
and review of the major strategic, business and operation risks within the Group, covering both 
wholly and partially owned subsidiaries (excluding associates and a jointly controlled entity). 

8. For the period under review, the ARMC is assisted by the Chief Risk Officer and the framework is 
continually monitored to ensure it is responsive to the changes in the Group’s Corporate Structure.  

A. BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

B. RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
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9. The Group has an established internal control structure and is committed to maintaining the 
structure to ensure effective control over the Group’s business operations and to safeguard the 
value and security of the Group’s assets. There is a clearly defined operating structure with lines 
of responsibilities and delegation of authority in place to assist the Board to maintain a proper 
control environment, supported by the following activities!- 

6rganisation Structure ࠮

 The organization structure outlines the authority, responsibility, segregation of duties and 
accountability.

Group Policies and Procedures ࠮

 The Group policies and procedures help ensure the reporting of complete and accurate 
financial information. These procedures and controls include obtaining authority for major 
transactions and ensuring compliance with laws and regulations that have significant financial 
implications. Procedures are also in place to ensure that assets are subject to proper physical 
controls and comply with safety reXuirements.

Management Information System ࠮

 The Group recognises the importance of information and communication technologies to 
promote effective and efficient business operations & timely and accurate communications to 
enhance the business interests of the Group.

8uarterly Budget versus Actual Financial Reporting ࠮

 The annual budget is approved by the Board. Management accounts containing actual 
operation results versus forecasted results for the year are prepared and reported to the Board 
on a Xuarterly basis. These reports are reviewed and explanations obtained for variances 
before the 8uarterly Results are approved for release to Bursa Malaysia for the public’s 
information.

Audit & RisR Management Committee (ARMC) ࠮

 Members of the ARMC comprise independent non-executive directors who provide direction 
and oversight over the internal audit function and enhance its independence.  The ARMC meets 
each Xuarter to review internal audit findings, discuss risk management issues and ensure that 
weaknesses and issues highlighted are appropriately addressed by the management.

Internal Audit ࠮

 An annual internal audit plan is reviewed and approved by the ARMC before the beginning 
of the year. The objectives of the said audit plan are to ensure, through regular internal audit 
reviews, that the Group’s policies and procedures are being complied with in order to provide 
assurance on the adeXuacy and effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls. 
Follow-up reviews and deliberation on internal audit reports are carried out to ensure that 
appropriate action is taken to address any internal control weaknesses highlighted.

C. INTERNAL CONTROL STRUCTURE
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10. During the year, the Risk Management & Internal Control activities were performed in accordance 
with the audit plan. Where weaknesses in internal control were detected, rectification actions were 
taken and assurances provided by management.  The Board is satisfied that the risk management 
and internal control in place is adeXuate and effective. Weaknesses highlighted have not resulted 
in any material losses, contingencies or uncertainties that would reXuire disclosure in the Group’s 
Annual Report.

 The Group’s Chief Risk Officer operates independently and reports to the Board through the 
ARMC. Where necessary, internal audit assignments can be outsourced to facilitate the transfer 
of internal audit knowledge and coverage of areas where technical skills and resources are not 
available internally.

6perational Monitoring and Controls ࠮

 The monitoring and control procedures are regularly reviewed by the Management. These are 
supplemented by independent reviews undertaken by the internal audit department on the 
controls in operation and reported to the ARMC. Regular reports are produced for the Board 
to assess the impact of control issues and appropriate actions recommended.

Control Environment ࠮
 
 The Board believes that although a sound internal control system cannot eliminate risks, it 

reduces the possibility of poor judgement in decision making and human error. It also reduces 
the risk of control processes being deliberately circumvented by employees and management 
overriding the controls that are in place. 

D. CONCLUSION

This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 21 February 2018.
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The Directors are reXuired by the Companies Act 2016 (	the Act	) to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company at the end 
of the financial year and the results and cash flow of the Group and of the Company for the financial year.  
As reXuired by the Act and the Main Market Listing ReXuirements of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, 
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable approved accounting 
standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Act.

In preparing those financial statements, the Company�s Directors have!

"adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently ࠮

"made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable ࠮

.ensured applicable approved accounting standards have been followed ࠮

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2016. The Directors are also responsible for the assets of 
the Company and hence, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.
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D I R E C T O R S ’  R E P O RT

The directors hereby submit their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are 
disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of 
these activities during the financial year. 

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial year.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in respect of the financial year ended 
31 December 2017.

RESERVES OR PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than 
those disclosed in the financial statements.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the directors took 
reasonable steps to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the 
making of allowance for doubtful debts and had satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts 
and that adeXuate allowance had been made for doubtful debts.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the amount 
written off for bad debts or the amount of allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the 
Group and of the Company inadeXuate to any substantial extent.

RESULTS Group Company
RM RM

Loss for the financial year (2,598,816)    (61,400,801)  

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (9,664,112)    (61,400,801)  
Non-controlling interests 7,065,296     -                  

(2,598,816)    (61,400,801)  

Number of ordinary shares
At At

1.1.2017 Bought Sold 31.12.2017
Direct interest
Mak oto Tak ahashi 2 0 , 8 0 3 , 9 9 0 -                -                2 0 , 8 0 3 , 9 9 0    
L oh Cheng Keat 3 , 5 2 0 , 3 0 0   -                -                3 , 5 2 0 , 3 0 0     

Indirect interest
Tee Tuan Sem *  # 2 0 , 3 9 9 , 3 8 2 -                -                2 0 , 3 9 9 , 3 8 2    
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CURRENT ASSETS

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took 
reasonable steps to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of 
business including their values as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company had 
been written down to an amount which they might be expected to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the values 
attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

VALUATION METHODS

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render 
adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company 
misleading or inappropriate.

CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES

At the date of this report, there does not exist!

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the 
financial year which secures the liabilities of any other person" and

(ii) any contingent liabilities in respect of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of 
the financial year.

In the opinion of the directors, no contingent or other liability of the Group or of the Company has become 
enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable, within the period of twelve months after the end of the 
financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations 
as and when they fall due.

CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this 
report or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated 
in the financial statements misleading.
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ISSUE OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES

During the financial year, the Company issued 17,000,000 new ordinary shares at a price of RM0.797 per 
share under private placement amounting to RM13,549,000.

The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank pari passu in all respects with the existing 
ordinary shares of the Company.

The Company did not issue any debentures during the financial year.

TREASURY SHARES

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are repurchased and held by the Company 
in accordance with the reXuirement of Section 127 of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

There was no repurchase of the Company’s issued ordinary shares, nor any resale, cancellation or 
distribution of treasury shares during the financial year.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company held 5,288,275 treasury shares out of its 195,025,503 total issued 
shares. Such treasury shares are held at a carrying amount of RM4,383,954. Further details are disclosed 
in Note 24 to the financial statements.

D I R E C T O R S ’  R E P O RT
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ITEMS OF MATERIAL AND AN UNUSUAL NATURE

In the opinion of the directors!

(i) the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year were not 
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature" and

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the 
end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of 
the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.



DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The directors in office during the financial year and during the period from the end of the financial year to 
the date of the report are!

Datuk Karownakaran ' Karunakaran
Lee Kay Loon �
Loh Cheng Keat �
Makoto Takahashi �
Tee Tuan Sem �
Wan Azfar Bin Dato’ Wan Annuar
Dato’ Wan Hashim Bin Wan Jusoh
Dato’ Haji Wazir Bin Haji Muaz

� Directors of the Company and certain subsidiaries

Other than as stated above, the name of the directors of the subsidiaries of the Company in office during 
the financial year and during the period from the end of the financial year to the date of the report are!

Dato’ Loh Chiew Hor
Mong Tak @eung, David
Hoo Pee Chon
Tai Me Teck
Tam Poon Wah
Tee Jia Jie
Mo Lin Gen
Zha Quan Zhen
Zhang Feng
Chan Hoi Sing, Harold

 (Appointed on 1 October 2017)
(Resigned on 30 September 2017)

(Resigned on 1 July 2017)

RESULTS Group Company
RM RM

Loss for the financial year (2,598,816)    (61,400,801)  

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (9,664,112)    (61,400,801)  
Non-controlling interests 7,065,296     -                  

(2,598,816)    (61,400,801)  

Number of ordinary shares
At At

1.1.2017 Bought Sold 31.12.2017
Direct interest
Mak oto Tak ahashi 2 0 , 8 0 3 , 9 9 0 -                -                2 0 , 8 0 3 , 9 9 0    
L oh Cheng Keat 3 , 5 2 0 , 3 0 0   -                -                3 , 5 2 0 , 3 0 0     

Indirect interest
Tee Tuan Sem *  # 2 0 , 3 9 9 , 3 8 2 -                -                2 0 , 3 9 9 , 3 8 2    

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings reXuired to be kept by the Company under Section 
59 of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial 
year in the ordinary shares of the Company during the financial year were as follows!

� held through spouse of the director
# held through nominees in which the director is interested

Other than as stated above, none of the directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest 
in the ordinary shares of the Company and its related corporations during the financial year.

D I R E C T O R S ’  R E P O RT
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SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Details of significant event during the financial year are disclosed in Note 39 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Details of significant event during the financial year are disclosed in Note 40 to the financial statements.

D I R E C T O R S ’  R E P O RT
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled
to receive any benefit (other than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received 
or due and receivable, by the directors as disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements) by reason of 
a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which the 
director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest.

Neither during, nor at the end of the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangements where the 
object is to enable the directors to acXuire benefits by means of the acXuisition of shares in or debentures 
of the Company or any other body corporate.

INDEMNITY TO DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

During the financial year, the total amount of indemnity coverage and insurance premium paid for the 
directors and certain officers of the Company were RM28,311 and RM12,599 respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

The details of the Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

The available auditors’ reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any Xualification.



AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The details of the auditors’ remuneration are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements.

INDEMNITY TO AUDITORS

The Company has agreed to indemnify the auditors of the Company as permitted under Section 289 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

AUDITORS

The auditors, Messrs Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

This report was approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution 
of the directors!

Date! 19 March 2018

TEE TUAN SEM MAKOTO TAKAHASHI

D I R E C T O R S ’  R E P O RT
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2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Revenue 5 16,306,932     21,653,158     -                      5,000,000       
Direct operating costs (7,536,457)      (15,707,451)    -                      -                      

Gross profit 8,770,475       5,945,707       -                      5,000,000       
Other income 8,542,236       36,985,995     5,037,024       13,206,591     
Administrative costs (15,648,265)    (19,221,928)    (8,359,924)      (7,645,618)      
Other expenses (1,959,937)      (33,005)           (57,858,084)    (20,340,035)    

(17,608,202)    (19,254,933)    (66,218,008)    (27,985,653)    

(Loss)/Profit from operations (295,491)         23,676,769     (61,180,984)    (9,779,062)      
Finance costs 6 (4,040,070)      (3,291,407)      (214,812)         (204,108)         
Share of results of associates 19,051,320     (11,803,484)    -                      -                      
Share of results of a jointly

  controlled entity (15,526,249)    (4,682,577)      -                      -                      

(Loss)/Profit before tax 7 (810,490)         3,899,301       (61,395,796)    (9,983,170)      
Tax expense 8 (1,788,326)      (128,877)         (5,005)             (86,120)           
(Loss)/Profit for the financial

  year (2,598,816)      3,770,424       (61,400,801)    (10,069,290)    

Other comprehensive
(loss)/income, net of  tax

Items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Revaluation of freehold   
   land and buildings 406,483          1,817,861       -                      -                      

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations (16,390,528)    (1,594,453)      -                      -                      

Reclassification adjustment for
   the cumulative exchange gain
   on translation of financial
   statements of foreign operations
   transferred to profit or loss upon 
   disposal of subsidiaries -                      (19,899,234)    -                      -                      

Reclassification adjustment for 
   other reserve upon disposal
   of subsidiaries by an associate (177,675)         -                      -                      -                      

Reclassification adjustment for
   retained earnings upon disposal
   of  a subsidiary 2,639              -                      -                      -                      

Reclassification adjustment for
the fair value reserve -                      84,850            -                      -                      

Fair value gain of available-for-sale
financial assets (36,027)           (38,780)           (36,027)           (38,780)           

Other comprehensive loss
for the financial year (16,601,591)    (21,447,617)    (36,027) (38,780) 

Total comprehensive loss
for the financial year (18,793,924)    (15,859,332)    (61,436,828)    (10,108,070)    

(Loss)/Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company (9,664,112)      5,844,698       (61,400,801)    (10,069,290)    
Non-controlling interests 7,065,296       (2,074,274)      -                      -                      

(2,598,816)      3,770,424       (61,400,801)    (10,069,290)    

Total comprehensive
(loss)/income
attributable to:

Owners of the Company (24,743,206)    (12,074,018)    (61,436,828)    (10,108,070)    
Non-controlling interests 5,949,282       (3,785,314)      -                      -                      

(18,793,924)    (15,859,332)    (61,436,828)    (10,108,070)    

(Loss)/Earnings per share
attributable to owners
of the Company (sen) 9

- Basic (5.215)             3.384              

- Diluted (5.215)             3.384              

 Group  Company 



The accompanying notes form an integrated part of these financial statements.
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2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

(Restated)
ASSETS  

Non-current assets
Property, plant and

equipment 10 250,178,327  189,595,495  10,256,003   7,502,098     
Land use rights 11 15,949,202   17,050,183   -                  -                  
Intangible assets 12 2,595,147     2,724,904     -                  -                  
Subsidiaries 13 -                  -                  22,816,195   22,816,195   
Interest in associates 14 56,955,254   38,656,264   11,007,500   11,007,500   
Interest in a jointly

controlled entity 15 22,277,879   20,154,263   22,482,751   48,699,769   
Other investments 16 389,140        494,625        389,140        494,625        
Amounts owing by

subsidiaries 17 -                  -                  11,946,228   13,341,492   
Amount owing by a jointly

controlled entity 18 60,604,500   67,171,500   60,604,500   67,171,500   

408,949,449  335,847,234  139,502,317  171,033,179  
Current assets
Receivables 19 19,889,297   18,391,299   85,069,843   61,487,582   
Amount owing by a jointly
   controlled entity 18 19,496,783   34,196,400   19,496,783   34,196,400   
Tax assets 76,302          536,103        76,302          535,253        
Other investments 16 20,445,371   17,443,664   20,445,371   17,443,664   
Cash and cash equivalents 21 33,879,438   52,252,005   4,248,959     8,027,124     

93,787,191   122,819,471  129,337,258  121,690,023  

TOTAL ASSETS 502,736,640  458,666,705  268,839,575  292,723,202  

 Group  Company 

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

(Restated)
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to 
owners of the Company

Share capital 22 225,670,706  178,025,503  225,670,706  178,025,503  
Share premium 23 -                  15,096,203   -                  15,096,203   
Treasury shares 24 (4,383,954)    (4,383,954)    (4,383,954)    (4,383,954)    
Reserves 25 48,118,372   82,019,537   -                  19,036,027   
Retained earnings 22,234,827   32,076,868   8,929,900     70,330,701   

291,639,951  302,834,157  230,216,652  278,104,480  
Non-controlling interests 57,573,511   51,624,229   -                  -                  

TOTAL EQUITY 349,213,462  354,458,386  230,216,652  278,104,480  

Non-current liabilities
Term loans 26 84,365,360   58,687,651   3,758,780     4,180,399     
Loans from corporate

shareholders 27 8,178,931     9,134,193     -                  -                  
Deferred tax liabilities 28 2,456,859     1,995,710     -                  -                  

Total non-current liabilities 95,001,150   69,817,554   3,758,780     4,180,399     

Current liabilities
Term loans 26 13,112,717   10,941,176   420,052        398,621        
Payables 29 12,513,099   17,063,378   222,072        709,166        
Loans from corporate

shareholders 27 31,771,500   6,127,532     -                  -                  
Amounts owing to subsidiaries 17 -                  -                  34,222,019   9,330,536     
Tax liabilities 1,124,712     258,679        -                  -                  

Total current liabilities 58,522,028   34,390,765   34,864,143   10,438,323   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 153,523,178  104,208,319  38,622,923   14,618,722   
TOTAL EQUITY AND 
   LIABILITIES 502,736,640  458,666,705  268,839,575  292,723,202  

 Group  Company 
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2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Cash Flows from Operating
Activities

(Loss)/Profit before tax: (810,490)      3,899,301     (61,395,796) (9,983,170)   
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of land use rights 396,643       415,026       -                 -                  
Amortisation of intangible assets 129,757       -                  -                 -                  
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 3,903,215    2,323,973     224,798       152,425       
Dividend income -                 -                  -                 (5,000,000)   
Gain on disposal of

subsidiaries (52,005)       (14,413,081)  -                 -                  
(Gain)/Loss on unrealised 

foreign exchange (3,140,155)   (7,081)          14,862,973  (6,304,359)   
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of

property, plant and
equipment (112,219)      280              (118,156)      (4,073)          

Impairment loss on:
- investment in an associate 1,705,761    -                  -                 -                  
- other investment 55,543        -                  55,543         -                  
- investment in a jointly

controlled entity -                 -                  42,889,246  16,175,655   
Interest income (2,915,162)   (3,303,935)    (2,972,192)   (3,510,195)   
Interest expense 4,040,070    3,291,407     214,812       204,108       
Income distribution from 

short-term fund (351,506)      (1,436,465)    (351,506)      (1,436,465)   
Property, plant and equipment 

written off 27               -                  27               -                  
(Reversal of)/Provision

for employee benefits (3,402)         20,996         (3,402)         20,996         
Reversal of impairment on

investment in associate -                 (15,820,723)  -                 -                  
Share of results of associates (19,051,320) 11,803,484   -                 -                  
Share of results of a jointly

controlled entity 15,526,249  4,682,577     -                 -                  
Waiver of amount owing by

a subsidiary -                 -                  -                 4,117,517    
Operating loss before 
   working capital changes, 
   carried forward (678,994)      (8,544,241)    (6,593,653)   (5,567,561)   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Cash Flows from Operating
Activities �Font’G�

Operating loss before 
    working capital changes, 
    brought forward (678,994)      (8,544,241)    (6,593,653)   (5,567,561)   

Changes in working capital:
Receivables 1,045,852    (1,443,815)    1,657,760    249,379       
Payables (7,113,145)   (6,169,086)    (483,692)      (219,914)      

Net cash flows used in
   operations (6,746,287)   (16,157,142)  (5,419,585)   (5,538,096)   

Interest paid (3,787,796)   (3,422,588)    (214,812)      (204,108)      
Tax refunded/(paid) 22,853        (648,769)      453,947       -                  

Net cash flows used in
operating activities (10,511,230) (20,228,499)  (5,180,450)   (5,742,204)   

Cash Flows from Investing
Activities

Purchase of property, plant
and equipment 10 (70,370,108) (60,825,905)  (2,978,734)   (36,616,983)  

Proceeds from disposal of 
property, plant and
equipment 118,160       -                  118,160       32,100,000   

Effect of disposal of
subsidiaries, net of
cash disposed 13(b) 2,833,132    978,132       -                 -

Changes in non-controlling 
interests in subsidiaries -                 400,000       -                 -

Distribution received -                 -                  -                 25,000         
(Placement)/Withdrawal

of short-term fund (3,036,095)   14,125,351   (3,036,095)   14,125,351   
Placement of time deposits (31,484)       (807,338)      (25,221)        (807,338)      
(Advances to)/Repayments

from subsidiaries -                 -                  (23,645,121) 3,664,033    
Advances to a jointly 

controlled entity (8,954,054)   (7,824,347)    (8,954,054)   (7,824,347)   
Dividend received -                 5,000,000     -                 5,000,000    
Interest received 756,920       2,182,160     667,042       1,444,032    
Net cash flows (used in)/from 
  investing activities (78,683,529) (46,771,947)  (37,854,023) 11,109,748   

Group Company
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2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Cash Flows from Operating
Activities

(Loss)/Profit before tax: (810,490)      3,899,301     (61,395,796) (9,983,170)   
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of land use rights 396,643       415,026       -                 -                  
Amortisation of intangible assets 129,757       -                  -                 -                  
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 3,903,215    2,323,973     224,798       152,425       
Dividend income -                 -                  -                 (5,000,000)   
Gain on disposal of

subsidiaries (52,005)       (14,413,081)  -                 -                  
(Gain)/Loss on unrealised 

foreign exchange (3,140,155)   (7,081)          14,862,973  (6,304,359)   
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of

property, plant and
equipment (112,219)      280              (118,156)      (4,073)          

Impairment loss on:
- investment in an associate 1,705,761    -                  -                 -                  
- other investment 55,543        -                  55,543         -                  
- investment in a jointly

controlled entity -                 -                  42,889,246  16,175,655   
Interest income (2,915,162)   (3,303,935)    (2,972,192)   (3,510,195)   
Interest expense 4,040,070    3,291,407     214,812       204,108       
Income distribution from 

short-term fund (351,506)      (1,436,465)    (351,506)      (1,436,465)   
Property, plant and equipment 

written off 27               -                  27               -                  
(Reversal of)/Provision

for employee benefits (3,402)         20,996         (3,402)         20,996         
Reversal of impairment on

investment in associate -                 (15,820,723)  -                 -                  
Share of results of associates (19,051,320) 11,803,484   -                 -                  
Share of results of a jointly

controlled entity 15,526,249  4,682,577     -                 -                  
Waiver of amount owing by

a subsidiary -                 -                  -                 4,117,517    
Operating loss before 
   working capital changes, 
   carried forward (678,994)      (8,544,241)    (6,593,653)   (5,567,561)   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Cash Flows from Operating
Activities �Font’G�

Operating loss before 
    working capital changes, 
    brought forward (678,994)      (8,544,241)    (6,593,653)   (5,567,561)   

Changes in working capital:
Receivables 1,045,852    (1,443,815)    1,657,760    249,379       
Payables (7,113,145)   (6,169,086)    (483,692)      (219,914)      

Net cash flows used in
   operations (6,746,287)   (16,157,142)  (5,419,585)   (5,538,096)   

Interest paid (3,787,796)   (3,422,588)    (214,812)      (204,108)      
Tax refunded/(paid) 22,853        (648,769)      453,947       -                  

Net cash flows used in
operating activities (10,511,230) (20,228,499)  (5,180,450)   (5,742,204)   

Cash Flows from Investing
Activities

Purchase of property, plant
and equipment 10 (70,370,108) (60,825,905)  (2,978,734)   (36,616,983)  

Proceeds from disposal of 
property, plant and
equipment 118,160       -                  118,160       32,100,000   

Effect of disposal of
subsidiaries, net of
cash disposed 13(b) 2,833,132    978,132       -                 -

Changes in non-controlling 
interests in subsidiaries -                 400,000       -                 -

Distribution received -                 -                  -                 25,000         
(Placement)/Withdrawal

of short-term fund (3,036,095)   14,125,351   (3,036,095)   14,125,351   
Placement of time deposits (31,484)       (807,338)      (25,221)        (807,338)      
(Advances to)/Repayments

from subsidiaries -                 -                  (23,645,121) 3,664,033    
Advances to a jointly 

controlled entity (8,954,054)   (7,824,347)    (8,954,054)   (7,824,347)   
Dividend received -                 5,000,000     -                 5,000,000    
Interest received 756,920       2,182,160     667,042       1,444,032    
Net cash flows (used in)/from 
  investing activities (78,683,529) (46,771,947)  (37,854,023) 11,109,748   

Group Company
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2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Cash Flows from Financing
Activities

Advances from subsidiaries -                 -                  26,084,483  454,091       
Dividend paid 32 -                 (4,318,435)    -                 (4,318,435)   
Drawdown of unsecured loan 

from a corporate shareholder 27,415,000  46,280,000   -                 -                  
Repayments of unsecured loan 

from a corporate shareholder -                 (69,188,600)  -                 -                  
Drawdown of term loans 44,102,252  24,949,378   -                 4,800,000    
Proceeds from issuance of 

ordinary shares 13,549,000  -                  13,549,000  -                  
Repayments of term loans (10,514,806) (2,464,286)    (400,188)      (220,980)      
Net cash flows from/(used in)

financing activities 74,551,446  (4,741,943)    39,233,295  714,676       
Net (decrease)/increase 

in cash and cash 
equivalents (14,643,313) (71,742,389)  (3,801,178)   6,082,220    

Effects of exchange rates
changes on cash and
cash equivalents (3,760,739)   2,533,062     (2,209)         958             

Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the
financial year 51,235,033  120,444,360 7,219,786    1,136,608    

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the 
financial year 21 32,830,981  51,235,033   3,416,399    7,219,786    

Group Company

The accompanying notes form an integrated part of these financial statements.

S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S  
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N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
–  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 7

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is 
listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

 The registered office of the Company is located at B-25-2, Block B, Jaya One, No. 72A, Jalan Universiti, 
46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan. The principal place of business of the Company is located 
at No.6, Jalan Sungai Buloh 27/101A, Seksyen 27, 40400 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries 
are disclosed in Note 13. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities 
during the financial year.

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors on 19 March 2018.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. 

2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs 

 The Group and the Company have adopted the following amendments/improvements to MFRSs that 
are mandatory for the current financial year!

 Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs
 MFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities
 MFRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows
 MFRS 112 Income Taxes

 The adoption of the above amendments/improvements to MFRSs did not have any significant effect 
on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, and did not result in significant changes 
to the Group’s and the Company’s existing accounting policies.
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N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 

2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs (cont’d)

2.3 New MFRSs, amendments/improvements to MFRSs and new IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) that 
have been issued, but yet to be eɈective

Amendments to MFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments to MFRS 12 clarify that entities classified as held for sale are reXuired to apply all the 
disclosure requirements of MFRS 12 except for the disclosure requirements set out in paragraphs 
B10-B16.

Amendments to MFRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows

Amendments to MFRS 107 reXuire entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including changes from 
cash flows and non-cash changes. The disclosure reXuirement could be satisfied in various ways, 
and one method is by providing reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the 
statements of financial position for liabilities arising from financing activities.

Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes

Amendments to MFRS 112 clarify that decreases in value of debt instrument measured at fair value 
for which the tax base remains at its original cost give rise to a deductible temporary difference. The 
estimate of probable future taxable profits may include recovery of some of an entity’s assets for 
more than their carrying amounts if sufficient evidence exists that it is probable the entity will achieve 
this.

The amendments also clarify that deductible temporary differences should be compared with the 
entity’s future taxable profits excluding tax deductions resulting from the reversal of those deductible 
temporary differences when an entity evaluates whether it has sufficient future taxable profits. In 
addition, when an entity assesses whether taxable profits will be available, it should consider tax law 
restrictions with regards to the utilisation of the deduction.

The Group and the Company have not adopted the following new MFRSs, amendments/improvements 
to MFRSs and new IC Int that have been issued, but yet to be effective!
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  Effective for 
financial 
periods

beginning on 
or after 

New MFRSs 
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 
MFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 
MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021 

 

Effective for 
financial 
periods 

beginning on 
or after 

Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs 
MFRS 2 Share-based Payments 1 January 2018 
MFRS 3 Business Combinations 1 January 2019 
MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2018 
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2019 
MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements  Deferred 
MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2019 
MFRS 112 Income Taxes 1 January 2019 
MFRS 123 Borrowing Costs 1 January 2019 
MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  1 January 2018/

1 January 2019/ 
Deferred

MFRS 140 Investment Property 1 January 2018
  
New IC Int 
IC Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration  1 January 2018 
IC Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments  1 January 2019 



2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 

2.3 New MFRSs, amendments/improvements to MFRSs and new IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) that 
have been issued, but yet to be eɈective (cont’d)

2.3.1 The Group and the Company plan to adopt the above applicable new MFRSs, amendments/
improvements to MFRSs and new IC Int when they become effective. A brief discussion on the 
above significant new MFRSs, amendments/improvements to MFRSs and new IC Int are summarised 
below.

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Key reXuirements of MFRS 9!

 MFRS 9 introduces an approach for classification of financial assets which is driven by cash ࠮
flow characteristics and the business model in which an asset is held. The new model also 
results in a single impairment model being applied to all financial instruments. 

 In essence, if a financial asset is a simple debt instrument and the objective of the entity’s 
business model within which it is held is to collect its contractual cash flows, the financial asset 
is measured at amortised cost. In contrast, if that asset is held in a business model the objective 
of which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, 
then the financial asset is measured at fair value in the statements of financial position, and 
amortised cost information is provided through profit or loss. If the business model is neither of 
these, then fair value information is increasingly important, so it is provided both in the profit or 
loss and in the statements of financial position.

The Group and the Company have not adopted the following new MFRSs, amendments/improvements 
to MFRSs and new IC Int that have been issued, but yet to be effective! (cont’d)

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
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  Effective for 
financial 
periods

beginning on 
or after 

New MFRSs 
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 
MFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 
MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021 

 

Effective for 
financial 
periods 

beginning on 
or after 

Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs 
MFRS 2 Share-based Payments 1 January 2018 
MFRS 3 Business Combinations 1 January 2019 
MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2018 
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2019 
MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements  Deferred 
MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2019 
MFRS 112 Income Taxes 1 January 2019 
MFRS 123 Borrowing Costs 1 January 2019 
MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  1 January 2018/

1 January 2019/ 
Deferred

MFRS 140 Investment Property 1 January 2018
  
New IC Int 
IC Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration  1 January 2018 
IC Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments  1 January 2019 



MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in 
accordance with the core principle by applying the following steps!

MFRS 15 also includes new disclosures that would result in an entity providing users of financial 
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows from contracts 
with customers. 

The following MFRSs and IC Interpretations will be withdrawn on the application of MFRS 15!

MFRS 111 Construction Contracts
MFRS 118 Revenue
IC Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
IC Interpretation 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
IC Interpretation 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers
IC Interpretation 131 Revenue ¶ Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services

(i) identify the contracts with a customer"
(ii) identify the performance obligation in the contract"
(iii) determine the transaction price"
(iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract"
(v) recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
–  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 7
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 

2.3 New MFRSs, amendments/improvements to MFRSs and new IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) that 
have been issued, but yet to be eɈective (cont’d)

2.3.1 (cont’d)

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Key reXuirements of MFRS 9! (cont’d)

 MFRS 9 introduces a new, expected-loss impairment model that will reXuire more timely ࠮
recognition of expected credit losses. Specifically, this Standard reXuires entities to account for 
expected credit losses from when financial instruments are first recognised and to recognise 
full lifetime expected losses on a more timely basis. The model requires an entity to recognise 
expected credit losses at all times and to update the amount of expected credit losses 
recognised at each reporting date to reflect changes in the credit risk of financial instruments. 
This model eliminates the threshold for the recognition of expected credit losses, so that it is no 
longer necessary for a trigger event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

 MFRS 9 introduces a substantially-reformed model for hedge accounting, with enhanced ࠮
disclosures about risk management activity. The new model represents a significant overhaul of 
hedge accounting that aligns the accounting treatment with risk management activities, enabling 
entities to better reflect these activities in their financial statements. In addition, as a result of 
these changes, users of the financial statements will be provided with better information about 
risk management and the effect of hedge accounting on the financial statements.



MFRS 16 Leases

Currently under MFRS 117 Leases, leases are classified either as finance leases or operating leases. 
A lessee recognises on its statements of financial position assets and liabilities arising from the 
finance leases. 

MFRS 16 eliminates the distinction between finance and operating leases for lessees. All leases 
will be brought onto its statements of financial position except for short-term and low value asset 
leases.

MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

MFRS 17 introduces consistent accounting for all insurance contracts. MFRS 17 requires entities 
that issue insurance contracts to recognise and measure a group of insurance contracts at! (i) a 
risk-adjusted present value of future cash flows that incorporates information that is consistent with 
observable market information" plus (ii) an amount representing the unearned profit in the group of 
contracts. Profits from the group of insurance contracts are recognised over the insurance coverage 
period. In addition, insurance revenue is presented separately from insurance finance income or 
expenses.

For insurance contracts with coverage period of one year or less, MFRS 17 allows an entity to 
measure the amount relating to remaining service by allocating the premium over the coverage 
period.

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 

2.3 New MFRSs, amendments/improvements to MFRSs and new IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) that 
have been issued, but yet to be eɈective (cont’d)

2.3.1 (cont’d)

Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combinations and MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

Amendments to MFRS 3 clarify that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint 
operation, it remeasures previously held interests in that business. Amendments to MFRS 11 clarify 
that when an entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity does not 
remeasure previously held interests in that business.

Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Amendments to MFRS 9 allow companies to measure prepayable financial assets with negative 
compensation at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income if certain 
conditions are met.

The amendments also clarify that when a financial liability measured at amortised cost is modified 
without this resulting in derecognition, a gain or loss should be recognised in profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 

2.3 New MFRSs, amendments/improvements to MFRSs and new IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) that 
have been issued, but yet to be eɈective (cont’d)

2.3.1 (cont’d) 

Amendments to MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures

These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the reXuirements in MFRS 10 
and those in MFRS 128, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture.

The main conseXuence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 
involves a business, as defined in MFRS 3. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 
involves assets that do not constitute a business.

Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes

Amendments to MFRS 112 clarify that an entity recognises the income tax consequences of 
dividends in profit or loss because income tax conseXuences of dividends are linked more directly 
to past transactions than to distributions to owners, except if the tax arises from a transaction which 
is a business combination or is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in eXuity.

Amendments to MFRS 123 Borrowing Costs

Amendments to MFRS 123 clarify that when a Xualifying asset is ready for its intended use or sale, 
an entity treats any outstanding borrowing made specifically to obtain that Xualifying asset as part 
of general borrowings.

Amendments to MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to MFRS 128 clarify that an entity, which is a venture capital organisation, or a 
mutual fund, unit trust or similar entities, has an investment-by-investment choice to measure its 
investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss.

The amendments also clarify that companies shall apply MFRS 9, including its impairment 
reXuirements, to account for long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that, in substance, 
form part of the net investment in the associate or joint to which the eXuity method is not applied.

IC Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

IC Int 22 clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate 
to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on 
which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the 
payment or receipt of advance consideration.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 

2.3 New MFRSs, amendments/improvements to MFRSs and new IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) that 
have been issued, but yet to be eɈective (cont’d)

2.3.1 (cont’d) 

2.3.2 The Group and the Company are currently performing a detailed analysis to determine the election 
of the practical expedients and to Xuantify the financial effects arising from the adoption of the new 
MFRSs, amendments/improvements to MFRSs and new IC Int.

2.4 Functional and presentation currency

 The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which they operate (¸the functional currency¹). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (¸RM¹), which is also the Company’s functional 
currency.

2.5 Basis of measurement

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis, except as otherwise disclosed in Note 3.

2.6 Use of estimates and judgement

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRSs reXuires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of the revenue and expenses during the reporting period. It also reXuires directors 
to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting 
policies. Although these estimates and judgement are based on the directors’ best knowledge of 
current events and actions, actual results may differ.

 The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates that are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

IC Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

IC Int 23 clarifies that where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments, an entity shall!

(i) assume that a taxation authority will examine amounts it has a right to examine and have full 
knowledge of all related information when making those examinations.

(ii) reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining the related tax position (using either the most 
likely amount or the expected value method) if it concludes it is not probable that the taxation 
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.



(a) Subsidiaries and business combination 

 Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which the Group is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the acXuirees and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the acXuirees. 

 The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date the Group obtains control of the acXuirees until the date the Group loses control 
of the acquirees. 

 The Group applies the acXuisition method to account for business combinations from the 
acquisition date.

 For a new acXuisition, goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the following!

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss 
at the acquisition date.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or eXuity securities, that 
the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group remeasures the previously held 
eXuity interest in the acXuiree to its acXuisition-date fair value, and recognises the resulting 
gain or loss, if any, in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acXuiree prior to 
the acXuisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings on the same basis as 
would be reXuired if the acXuirer had disposed directly of the previously held eXuity interest.

 the fair value of the consideration transferred, calculated as the sum of the acXuisition-date ࠮
fair value of assets transferred (including contingent consideration), the liabilities incurred 
to former owners of the acXuiree and the eXuity instruments issued by the Group. Any 
amounts that relate to pre-existing relationships or other arrangements before or during 
the negotiations for the business combination, that are not part of the exchange for the 
acXuiree, will be excluded from the business combination accounting and be accounted 
for separately" plus

 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acXuiree either at fair value ࠮
or at the proportionate share of the acXuiree’s identifiable net assets at the acXuisition date 
(the choice of measurement basis is made on an acXuisition-by-acXuisition basis)" plus

 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the acXuisition-date fair value of the ࠮
previously held eXuity interest in the acXuiree" less

 the net fair value of the identifiable assets acXuired and the liabilities (including contingent ࠮
liabilities) assumed at the acquisition date. 

The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 3.13(a). 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 Unless otherwise stated, the following accounting policies have been applied consistently to all the 
financial years presented in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company.

3.1 Basis of consolidation 

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures used in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as 
the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.
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(a) Subsidiaries and business combination (cont’d)

 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting 
period in which the business combination occurs, the Group uses provisional fair value amounts 
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. The provisional amounts are adjusted 
to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the 
acXuisition date, including additional assets or liabilities identified in the measurement period. 
The measurement period for completion of the initial accounting ends as soon as the Group 
receives the information it was seeking about facts and circumstances or learns that more 
information is not obtainable, subject to the measurement period not exceeding one year from 
the acquisition date.

 Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of 
the former subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of eXuity related 
to the former subsidiary from the consolidated statement of financial position. Any gain or loss 
arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in 
the former subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. 
SubseXuently, it is accounted for as an associate, a joint venture, an available-for-sale financial 
asset or a held for trading financial asset. 

 Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control 
are accounted for as eXuity transactions. The difference between the Group’s share of net 
assets before and after the change, and the fair value of the consideration received or paid, is 
recognised directly in equity.

(b) Non-controlling interests

 Non-controlling interests represent the eXuity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or 
indirectly, to owners of the Company and are presented separately in the consolidated statement 
of financial position within eXuity.

 Losses attributable to the non-controlling interests are allocated to the non-controlling interests 
even if the losses exceed the non-controlling interests.

(c) Associates

 Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, to the 
financial and operating policies. 

 Investment in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method.

 Under the eXuity method, the investment in associates are initially recognised at cost. The cost 
of investment includes transaction costs. SubseXuently, the carrying amount is adjusted to 
recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate.

 When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of 
that interest including any long-term investments is reduced to zero, and the recognition of 
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made 
payments on behalf of the associate.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)
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(c) Associates (cont’d)

 When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained interest in 
the former associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured at fair value and 
this amount is regarded as the initial carrying amount of an available-for-sale financial asset or 
a held for trading financial asset. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate 
upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds 
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

 When the Group’s interest in an associate decreases but does not result in a loss of significant 
influence, any retained interest is not remeasured. Any gain or loss arising from the decrease 
in interest is recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are also reclassified proportionately to the profit or loss if that gain or 
loss would be reXuired to be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or 
liabilities.

(d) Joint arrangements

 Joint arrangements arise when the Group and another party or parties are bound by a contractual 
arrangement, and the contractual arrangement gives the Group and the other party or parties, 
joint control of the arrangement. Joint control exists when there is contractually agreed sharing of 
control of an arrangement whereby decisions about the relevant activities reXuire the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.

 Joint arrangements are classified and accounted for as follows!

(e) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

 Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

 Unrealised gains arising from transactions with eXuity-accounted associates and joint ventures 
are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that 
there is no evidence of impairment.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

 A joint arrangement is classified as a ¸joint operation¹ when the Group has rights to the ࠮
assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The Group accounts 
for its share of the assets (including its share of any assets held jointly), the liabilities 
(including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly), its revenue from the sale of its share 
of the output arising from the joint operation, its share of the revenue from the sale of the 
output by the joint operation and its expenses (including its share of any expenses incurred 
jointly).

 A joint arrangement is classified as ¸joint venture¹ when the Group has rights to the net ࠮
assets of the arrangements. The Group accounts for its interest in the joint venture using 
the eXuity method in accordance with MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures.

The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and determined them to be a joint
venture and accounted for its interest in the joint venture using the eXuity method.
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(a) Translation of foreign currency transactions 

 Foreign currency transactions are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group 
entities at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

 At the end of each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. 

 Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the dates the fair values were determined. Non-monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated at 
the historical rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.

 Foreign exchange differences arising on settlement or retranslation of monetary items are 
recognised in profit or loss except for monetary items that are designated as hedging instruments 
in either a cash flow hedge or a hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. 
When settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither 
planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, exchange differences are recognised 
in profit or loss in the separate financial statements of the parent company or the individual 
financial statements of the foreign operation. In the consolidated financial statements, the 
exchange differences are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation 
and are recognised initially in other comprehensive income until its disposal, at which time, the 
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

 The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in 
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation 
differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income 
or profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

(b) Translation of foreign operations

 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations denominated in the functional currency different 
from the presentation currency, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acXuisition, are translated into the presentation currency at exchange rates prevailing at the 
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated at exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3��  Separate financial statements

3.3 Foreign currency transactions and operations 

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, unless the investment 
is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of investment includes transaction costs. The 
policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses shall be applied on the same basis 
as would be reXuired for impairment of non-financial assets as disclosed in Note 3.15(b).

Contributions to subsidiaries are amounts which the Company does not expect repayment in the 
foreseeable future and are considered as part of the Company’s investment in the subsidiaries.
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3.4  Revenue and other income

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the Company and revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receivable, net of discounts, rebates, returns and taxes. 

(b) Translation of foreign operations (cont’d)

 Exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the relevant 
proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests.

 When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control 
is lost, the cumulative amount in foreign exchange translation reserves related to that foreign 
operation is reclassified to profit or loss. For a partial disposal not involving loss of control of 
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of cumulative amount 
in foreign exchange translation reserve is reattributed to non-controlling interests. For partial 
disposals of associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing significant 
influence or joint control, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount in foreign exchange 
translation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

(a)  Services

 Revenue from services are recognised when services are rendered.

(b)  Interest income

 Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis that reflects the effective yield of the 
asset.

(c)  Rental income

 Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives 
granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.

(d) Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(e) Sale of goods

 Revenue and other income from sale of electricity and plants are recognised upon the transfer 
of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods to the customer. Revenue and other 
income is not recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding 
recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.3 Foreign currency transactions and operations (cont’d)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.7  Taxes

 (a) Income tax

(i) Current tax

3.6  Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are interests and other costs that the Group and the Company incur in connection 
with borrowing of funds. 

 Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acXuisition, construction or production of a 
Xualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acXuisition, construction or production of 
Xualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

 The Group and the Company begin capitalising borrowing costs when the Group and the Company 
have incurred the expenditures for the asset, incurred related borrowing costs and undertaken 
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.

 Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on Xualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Income tax expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred 
tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination 
or items recognised directly in eXuity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected taxes payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the financial year, using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
financial years. 

3��  Employee benefits

(a) Short-term employee benefits

 Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of wages, salaries, social security 
contributions, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, sick leave and non-monetary benefits are 
recognised as an expense in the financial year where the employees have rendered their services 
to the Group and to the Company.

(b) Defined contribution plans

 As reXuired by law, the Group and the Company contribute to the Employees Provident Fund 
(¸EPF¹), the national defined contribution plan. Such contributions are recognised as an expense 
in profit or loss in the period in which the employees render their services.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.7  Taxes (cont’d)

 (a) Income tax �Font’G�

(ii) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the statements of financial position. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, unutilised tax losses and unused tax credits, to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary differences arise from the initial recognition 
of assets and liabilities in a transaction which is not a business combination and that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates and interests in joint ventures, except 
where the Group is able to control the reversal timing of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments 
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they 
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to 
be utilised.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 
or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either 
in other comprehensive income or directly in eXuity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax 
entities, but they intend to settle their income tax recoverable and income tax payable on 
a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.7  Taxes (cont’d)

 (b) Goods and services tax

3.8 Financial instruments

(a) Subsequent measurement

 The Group and the Company categorise the financial instruments as follows!

(i) Financial assets

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss when 
the financial assets are either held for trading, including derivatives (except for a derivative 
that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument) or 
are designated into this category upon initial recognition.

 where the GST incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the ࠮
taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acXuisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable" and

.receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of GST included ࠮

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the statements of financial position.

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(¸GST¹) except!

Financial instruments are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, 
the Group and the Company become a party to the contract provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value, except for financial instruments not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acXuisition or issue of the financial instruments. 

An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract and accounted for as a 
derivative if, and only if, it is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host 
contract and the host contract is not categorised as fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, 
in the event an embedded derivative is recognised separately, is accounted for in accordance with 
the policy applicable to the nature of the host contract.



3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.8 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a)  Subsequent measurement (cont’d)

 The Group and the Company categorise the financial instruments as follows! (cont’d)

 (i) Financial assets (cont’d)

 (ii) Financial liabilities 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (cont’d)

SubseXuent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unXuoted eXuity instruments 
whose fair values cannot be reliably measured are measured at costs. 

Loans and receivables

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not Xuoted in an active market 
are classified as loans and receivables. 

SubseXuent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The policy for 
the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.15(a). 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investment in eXuity and debt securities that are 
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the three preceding categories.

SubseXuent to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair 
value. Gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and 
losses arising from monetary items and gains and losses of hedged items attributable to 
hedge risks of fair values hedges which are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from eXuity 
to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. 
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss. 
Dividends on an available-for-sale eXuity instrument are recognised in profit or loss when the 
Group’s and the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

Other financial liabilities

SubseXuent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss through 
the amortisation process.
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(b) Financial guarantee contracts

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that reXuires the issuer to make specified payments 
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment 
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

 The Group designates corporate guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to 
subsidiaries and jointly control entities as insurance contracts as defined in MFRS 4 Insurance 
Contracts. The Group recognises these insurance contracts as recognised insurance liabilities 
when there is a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, when it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be reXuired to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

(c) Regular ^ay purchase or sale of financial assets

 A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose 
terms reXuire delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace concerned.

 A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised and derecognised, as applicable, 
using trade date accounting (i.e. the date the Group and the Company themselves purchase or 
sell an asset). Trade date accounting refers to!

 

(d) Derecognition

 A financial asset or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights 
to receive the cash flows from the financial asset expire or control of the asset is not retained 
or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred 
to another party. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less 
any new liability assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

 A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. On derecognition of a financial liability, the 
difference between the carrying amount and the consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

(e) 6Ɉsetting of financial instruments

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the 
statements of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(i) the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date" 
and

(ii) derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the 
recognition of a receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.8 Financial instruments (cont’d)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.9 Property, plant and equipment

(a)  Recognition and measurement

 Property, plant and eXuipment (other than freehold land and warehouse and office buildings) are 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The 
policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 
3.15(b).

 Freehold land and warehouse and office buildings are measured at fair value, based on 
valuations by external independent valuers, less accumulated depreciation on buildings and 
any accumulated impairment losses recognised after the date of revaluation. =aluations are 
performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair value of the freehold land and warehouse 
buildings does not differ materially from the carrying amount. Any accumulated depreciation as 
at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the 
net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

 A revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation 
reserve. However, the increase shall be recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. If an asset’s 
carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease shall be recognised in 
profit or loss. However, the decrease shall be recognised in other comprehensive income to the 
extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation reserve in respect of that asset. 

 The revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings in full when the asset is derecognised. 

 Cost of assets includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset 
and any other costs that are directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for 
its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site 
on which they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes cost of materials, 
direct labour, and any other direct attributable costs but excludes internal profits. For Xualifying 
assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing 
costs in Note 3.6.

 When significant parts of an item of property, plant and eXuipment have different useful lives, 
they are accounted for as a separate item of property, plant and equipment.

(b) Subsequent costs

 The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and eXuipment is included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
the future economic benefits associated with the part will flow to the Group or the Company and 
its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All 
other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
–  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 7

76 Integrated Logist ics Berhad (229690K)ANNUAL REPORT 2017



3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.9 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

3.10 Land use rights 

3.11 Capital work-in-progress

(c) Depreciation

 Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. 

 All other property, plant and eXuipment are depreciated on straight-line basis by allocating their 
depreciable amounts over their remaining useful lives. The principal useful lives and depreciation 
rates are as follows!

 Long-term leasehold land
 Warehouse and office buildings 
 Warehouse renovation 
 EXuipment, furniture and fittings 
 Motor vehicles  
 Solar photovoltaic  

 The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and adjusted as appropriate.

(d) Derecognition

 An item of property, plant and eXuipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of the asset is recognised in profit or loss.

Land use rights are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, land use rights are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The land use 
rights are amortised over their lease terms.

Capital work-in-progress consists of expenditure incurred on the construction of property, plant and 
eXuipment which take a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use. 

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost during the period of construction. No depreciation is 
provided on capital work-in-progress and upon completion of the construction, the cost will be 
transferred to property, plant and equipment. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.12 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right 
to use the asset or assets.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. All other leases that do not meet this criterion are classified as operating leases.

(a) Lessee accounting

 If an entity in the Group is a lessee in a finance lease, it capitalises the leased asset and recognises 
the related liability. The amount recognised at the inception date is the fair value of the underlying 
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. SubseXuent to initial 
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that 
assets.

 Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the 
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent 
lease payments are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

 The capitalised leased asset is classified by nature as property, plant and eXuipment or investment 
property.

 For operating leases, the Group does not capitalise the leased asset or recognise the related 
liability. Instead lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on the 
straight-line basis over the lease term unless another systematic basis is more representative of 
the time pattern of the user’s benefit.

 Any upfront lease payments are classified as land use rights within intangible assets.

(b) Lessor accounting

 If an entity in the Group is a lessor in a finance lease, it derecognises the underlying asset and 
recognises a lease receivable at an amount eXual to the net investment in the lease. Finance 
income is recognised in profit or loss based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return 
on the lessor’s net investment in the finance lease.

 If an entity in the Group is a lessor in an operating lease, the underlying asset is not derecognised 
but is presented in the statements of financial position according to the nature of the asset. Lease 
income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term, unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use 
benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.13  Goodwill and other intangible assets

3.14  Cash and cash equivalents 

 For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash eXuivalents comprise cash on hand, 
bank balances and deposits and other short-term, highly liXuid investments with a maturity of three 
months or less, that are readily convertible to cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

3.15 Impairment of assets

(a) Goodwill 

 Goodwill arising from business combinations is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, 
and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acXuired and liabilities assumed. 
After initially recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 
3.15(b).

 In respect of eXuity-accounted associates and joint venture, goodwill is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment individually. Instead, the entire carrying 
amount of the investment is tested for impairment as a single asset when there is objective evidence 
of impairment.

(b) Customer contract

 Customer contract acXuired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acXuisition 
date.

 Subsequent to recognition, customer contract are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement of 
impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.15(b).

(c) Amortisation

 Amortisation of customer contract is provided for on a straight-line basis over the contract period 
of twenty one years. The residual value, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period.

(a) Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets

 At each reporting date, all financial assets (except for financial assets categorised as fair value 
through profit or loss and investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) are assessed 
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events having 
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated. 
Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.15 Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(a) Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets (cont’d)

 Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors are 
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinXuency in interest or principal payments, 
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where observable 
data indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Loans and receivables

The Group and the Company first assess whether objective evidence of impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for 
financial assets that are not individually significant. If no objective evidence for impairment exists 
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the Group and the Company 
may include the financial asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
and collectively assess them for impairment. Financial assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in the 
collective assessment of impairment. 

The amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the financial asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subseXuent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases due to an event occurring 
after the impairment that was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is then 
reversed by adjusting an allowance account to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial 
asset does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised.  

Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of 
future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group and the 
Company. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets

In the case of eXuity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline 
in the fair value below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. The Group 
and the Company use their judgement to determine what is considered as significant or prolonged 
decline, evaluating past volatility experiences and current market conditions.

Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative 
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income shall be reclassified from eXuity 
to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment even though the financial asset has not been 
derecognised. The amount of cumulative loss that is reclassified from eXuity to profit or loss shall 
be the difference between its cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current 
fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.15 Impairment of assets (cont’d)

(a) Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets (cont’d)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets (cont’d)

Impairment losses on available-for-sale eXuity investments are not reversed through profit or loss in 
the subseXuent periods. Increase in fair value, if any, subseXuent to impairment loss, is recognised 
in other comprehensive income.

For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subseXuently reversed through 
profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to a loss 
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss in profit or loss.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (except for deferred tax assets) are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists, the Group and the Company make an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful life and are 
not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group 
of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the 
cash inflows of non-financial assets or cash-generating units (¸CGUs¹). Subject to an operating 
segment ceiling test, for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill 
has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed 
reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. The 
goodwill acXuired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated 
to a CGU or a group of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of business 
combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. In determining the fair 
value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceed its recoverable amount, the carrying amount of 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU 
or groups of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated 
to those units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in 
the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that were previously 
revalued with the revaluation surplus recognised in other comprehensive income. In the latter 
case, the impairment is recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any 
previous revaluation.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.15 Impairment of assets (cont’d)

3.16 Share capital

3.17  Provisions

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

(a) Ordinary shares

(b) Treasury shares

Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. For other assets, an assessment is made 
at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. An impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the assets recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised previously. Such reversal 
is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

Ordinary shares are eXuity instruments. An eXuity instrument is a contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares 
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs. 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in eXuity in the period in which they are declared.

Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be 
required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions that are determined based on the expected 
future cash flows to settle the obligation are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. When discounting 
is used, the increase in the provisions due to passage of time is recognised as finance costs.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is 
no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be reXuired to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed.

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of consideration paid is 
recognised directly in eXuity. Repurchased shares that have not been cancelled including any 
attributable transaction costs are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from 
total equity. 

When treasury shares are sold or reissued subseXuently, the difference between the sales 
consideration and the carrying amount is presented as a movement in eXuity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.18  Operating segments

3.19  Fair value measurements

3.20  Contingencies

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The Chief Executive Officer of the Group, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the chief 
operating decision maker that makes strategic decisions.

Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is determined 
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction 
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of a 
principal market, in the most advantageous market.

For a non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group and the Company use observable 
market data as far as possible. Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy 
based on the input used in the valuation techniXue as follows!

The Group and the Company recognise transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date 
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfers.

Level 1! 8uoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group 
and the Company can access at the measurement date.

Level 2!  Inputs other than Xuoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3!  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not 
wholly within the control of the Group and of the Company.

Contingent liability is also referred as a present obligation that arises from past events but is not 
recognised because!

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position.

(a) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be reXuired to 
settle the obligation" or

(b) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.



4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The Group and the Company assess impairment of non-financial assets whenever the events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable i.e. 
the carrying amount of the asset is more than the recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is measured at the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal for that asset 
and its value-in-use. The value-in-use is the net present value of the projected future cash flows 
derived from that asset discounted at an appropriate discount rate. The Group and the Company 
use their judgement to decide the discount rates applied in the recoverable amount calculation 
and assumptions supporting the underlying cash flow projections, including forecast growth rates, 
inflation rates and gross profit margin. Cash flows that are projected based on those inputs or 
assumptions may have a significant effect on the Group’s and the Company’s financial positions 
and results if the actual cash flows are less than the expected.

The carrying amounts of the non-financial assets are disclosed in Notes 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15.

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statements of financial 
position cannot be measured based on Xuoted prices in active markets, their fair value are measured 
using valuation techniXues including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models 
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of 
judgement is reXuired in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such 
as liXuidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect 
the reported fair value of financial instruments. 

The information on the fair value measurements of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in 
Note 38(b).

The Group and the Company recognise impairment losses for loans and receivables using the 
incurred loss model. At the end of each reporting period, the Group and the Company assess 
whether there is any objective evidence that loans and receivables is impaired. Individually significant 
loans and receivables are tested for impairment separately by estimating the cash flows expected to 
be recoverable. All others are grouped into credit risk classes and tested for impairment collectively, 
using the Group’s and the Company’s past experience of loss statistics, ageing of past due amounts 
and current economic trends. The actual eventual losses may be different from the impairment 
made and this may affect the Group’s and the Company’s financial positions and results.

Significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have significant effect in determining the amount recognised in the financial year include the following.

(a) Impairment of non-financial assets

(b) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(c) Impairment of financial assets
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (cont’d)

For available-for-sale investments, the Group and the Company recognise an impairment loss 
when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the market price of the investments. The 
Group and the Company use its judgement to decide when an impairment loss shall be recognised 
using past experience of similar investments, historical volatility of the prices and current market 
conditions. The actual eventual losses may be different from the impairment made and this may 
affect the Group’s and the Company’s financial positions and results.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets are disclosed in Note 38(a).

As disclosed in Note 15, the Company holds 50� of the voting rights of its joint arrangement. The 
Company has joint control over this arrangement as under the contractual agreements, unanimous 
consent is reXuired from all parties to the agreements for all relevant activities.

The Company’s joint arrangement is structured as a limited company and provides the Company 
and the parties to the agreements with rights to the net assets of the limited company under the 
arrangements. Therefore, this arrangement is classified as a joint venture.

The Group and the Company operate in various jurisdictions and are subject to income taxes in 
each jurisdiction. Significant judgement is reXuired in determining the Group’s and the Company’s 
estimation for current and deferred taxes because the ultimate tax liability for the Group as a whole 
is uncertain. When the final outcome of the tax payable is determined with the tax authorities in each 
jurisdiction, the amounts might be different from the initial estimates of the taxes payables. Such 
differences may impact the current and deferred taxes in the period when such determination is 
made. The Group and the Company will make adjustments for current or deferred taxes in respect 
of prior years in the current period on those differences arise. The income tax expense of the Group 
and the Company are disclosed in Note 8.

(c) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

(d) Joint arrangements

(e) Measurement of income taxes
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5. REVENUE

6. FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Dividend revenue -                 -                 -                 5,000,000    
Warehousing and related 

value added services 14,531,997  20,689,486  -                 -                 
Transportation and distribution,

freight forwarding and
haulage services 242,826      443,672      -                 -                 

Sales of electricity 1,532,109   -      -                 -                 
Installation of solar panel -   520,000      -                 -                 

16,306,932  21,653,158  -                 5,000,000    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Interest expense on:
- Term loans 3,241,130    1,653,295    214,812      204,108      
- Shareholder's loan 798,940      1,638,112    -                 -                 

4,040,070    3,291,407    214,812      204,108      

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Amortisation of land use rights 396,643      415,026       -                -                
Amortisation of intangible assets 129,757      -                  -                -                
Auditors' remuneration
- auditors of the Company

- statutory audit 91,000        89,000         73,000       73,000       
- other services 26,800        29,200         26,800       29,200       

- component auditors of the Group
- statutory audit 139,304      183,015       -                -                

Depreciation of property, plant
  and equipment 3,903,215    2,323,973     224,798      152,425      
Directors' remuneration*
- fees 376,750      388,000       376,750      388,000      
- other emoluments 2,539,172    3,182,552     1,320,806   1,177,730   
(Gain)/Loss on foreign exchange
- realised (19,697)       2,310,135     15,241       13,858       
- unrealised (3,140,155)   (7,081)          14,862,973 (6,304,359)  
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of
  property, plant and equipment (112,219)     280              (118,156)     (4,073)        
Gain on disposal of
  subsidiaries (52,005)       (14,413,081)  -                -                
Government subsidies (249,183)     -                  -                -                
Impairment loss on:
- investment in an associate 1,705,761    -                  -                -                
- investment in a jointly 
    controlled entity -                 -                  42,889,246 16,175,655 
- other investment 55,543        -                  55,543       -                
Income distribution from 

short-term fund (351,506)     (1,436,465)    (351,506)     (1,436,465)  
Interest expense 4,040,070    3,291,407     214,812      204,108      
Interest income:
- cash at banks (371,025)     (823,971)      (58,709)      (7,567)        
- amounts owing by subsidiaries -                 -                  (369,346)     (1,022,664)  
- amount owing by a jointly 

controlled entity (2,544,137)   (2,479,964)    (2,544,137)  (2,479,964)  
(Reversal)/Provision for
  employee benefits (3,402)         20,996         (3,402)        20,996       
Planting income (4,409)         -                  -                -                
Property, plant and equipment
  written off 27              -                  27              -                
Rental expense on:
- equipment and store 12,000        66,000         12,000       12,000       
- motor vehicles 35,948        -                  -                -                
- warehouse and office
     buildings 830,242      5,219,259     776,242      776,242      

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Dividend revenue -                 -                 -                 5,000,000    
Warehousing and related 

value added services 14,531,997  20,689,486  -                 -                 
Transportation and distribution,

freight forwarding and
haulage services 242,826      443,672      -                 -                 

Sales of electricity 1,532,109   -      -                 -                 
Installation of solar panel -   520,000      -                 -                 

16,306,932  21,653,158  -                 5,000,000    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Interest expense on:
- Term loans 3,241,130    1,653,295    214,812      204,108      
- Shareholder's loan 798,940      1,638,112    -                 -                 

4,040,070    3,291,407    214,812      204,108      

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Amortisation of land use rights 396,643      415,026       -                -                
Amortisation of intangible assets 129,757      -                  -                -                
Auditors' remuneration
- auditors of the Company

- statutory audit 91,000        89,000         73,000       73,000       
- other services 26,800        29,200         26,800       29,200       

- component auditors of the Group
- statutory audit 139,304      183,015       -                -                

Depreciation of property, plant
  and equipment 3,903,215    2,323,973     224,798      152,425      
Directors' remuneration*
- fees 376,750      388,000       376,750      388,000      
- other emoluments 2,539,172    3,182,552     1,320,806   1,177,730   
(Gain)/Loss on foreign exchange
- realised (19,697)       2,310,135     15,241       13,858       
- unrealised (3,140,155)   (7,081)          14,862,973 (6,304,359)  
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of
  property, plant and equipment (112,219)     280              (118,156)     (4,073)        
Gain on disposal of
  subsidiaries (52,005)       (14,413,081)  -                -                
Government subsidies (249,183)     -                  -                -                
Impairment loss on:
- investment in an associate 1,705,761    -                  -                -                
- investment in a jointly 
    controlled entity -                 -                  42,889,246 16,175,655 
- other investment 55,543        -                  55,543       -                
Income distribution from 

short-term fund (351,506)     (1,436,465)    (351,506)     (1,436,465)  
Interest expense 4,040,070    3,291,407     214,812      204,108      
Interest income:
- cash at banks (371,025)     (823,971)      (58,709)      (7,567)        
- amounts owing by subsidiaries -                 -                  (369,346)     (1,022,664)  
- amount owing by a jointly 

controlled entity (2,544,137)   (2,479,964)    (2,544,137)  (2,479,964)  
(Reversal)/Provision for
  employee benefits (3,402)         20,996         (3,402)        20,996       
Planting income (4,409)         -                  -                -                
Property, plant and equipment
  written off 27              -                  27              -                
Rental expense on:
- equipment and store 12,000        66,000         12,000       12,000       
- motor vehicles 35,948        -                  -                -                
- warehouse and office
     buildings 830,242      5,219,259     776,242      776,242      

Group Company
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7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

 Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following items have been charged/
(credited) in arriving at (loss)/profit before tax!

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Dividend revenue -                 -                 -                 5,000,000    
Warehousing and related 

value added services 14,531,997  20,689,486  -                 -                 
Transportation and distribution,

freight forwarding and
haulage services 242,826      443,672      -                 -                 

Sales of electricity 1,532,109   -      -                 -                 
Installation of solar panel -   520,000      -                 -                 

16,306,932  21,653,158  -                 5,000,000    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Interest expense on:
- Term loans 3,241,130    1,653,295    214,812      204,108      
- Shareholder's loan 798,940      1,638,112    -                 -                 

4,040,070    3,291,407    214,812      204,108      

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Amortisation of land use rights 396,643      415,026       -                -                
Amortisation of intangible assets 129,757      -                  -                -                
Auditors' remuneration
- auditors of the Company

- statutory audit 91,000        89,000         73,000       73,000       
- other services 26,800        29,200         26,800       29,200       

- component auditors of the Group
- statutory audit 139,304      183,015       -                -                

Depreciation of property, plant
  and equipment 3,903,215    2,323,973     224,798      152,425      
Directors' remuneration*
- fees 376,750      388,000       376,750      388,000      
- other emoluments 2,539,172    3,182,552     1,320,806   1,177,730   
(Gain)/Loss on foreign exchange
- realised (19,697)       2,310,135     15,241       13,858       
- unrealised (3,140,155)   (7,081)          14,862,973 (6,304,359)  
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of
  property, plant and equipment (112,219)     280              (118,156)     (4,073)        
Gain on disposal of
  subsidiaries (52,005)       (14,413,081)  -                -                
Government subsidies (249,183)     -                  -                -                
Impairment loss on:
- investment in an associate 1,705,761    -                  -                -                
- investment in a jointly 
    controlled entity -                 -                  42,889,246 16,175,655 
- other investment 55,543        -                  55,543       -                
Income distribution from 

short-term fund (351,506)     (1,436,465)    (351,506)     (1,436,465)  
Interest expense 4,040,070    3,291,407     214,812      204,108      
Interest income:
- cash at banks (371,025)     (823,971)      (58,709)      (7,567)        
- amounts owing by subsidiaries -                 -                  (369,346)     (1,022,664)  
- amount owing by a jointly 

controlled entity (2,544,137)   (2,479,964)    (2,544,137)  (2,479,964)  
(Reversal)/Provision for
  employee benefits (3,402)         20,996         (3,402)        20,996       
Planting income (4,409)         -                  -                -                
Property, plant and equipment
  written off 27              -                  27              -                
Rental expense on:
- equipment and store 12,000        66,000         12,000       12,000       
- motor vehicles 35,948        -                  -                -                
- warehouse and office
     buildings 830,242      5,219,259     776,242      776,242      

Group Company
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7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX  (cont’d)

 Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following items have been charged/
(credited) in arriving at (loss)/profit before tax! (cont’d)

� Included in directors’ remuneration are aggregate amounts of remuneration received and receivable 
by the directors of the Company during the financial year, as follows!

The monetary value of benefits-in-kind of the Group and of the Company provided to certain 
directors of the Company amounted to RM106,381 (2016! RM92,367) and RM106,381 (2016! 
RM92,367) respectively.

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Executive directors
- other emoluments 2,502,672   3,182,552   1,284,306   1,177,730   

Non-executive directors
- fees 376,750      388,000      376,750      388,000      
- other emoluments 36,500       -                36,500       -                
Total non-executive directors' 
  remuneration 413,250      388,000      413,250      388,000      

Total directors' remuneration 2,915,922   3,570,552   1,697,556   1,565,730   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Income tax:
Taxation in Malaysia
- current income tax charge 4,800            86,103         2,000           85,000         
- real property gain tax -                   1,268           -                  1,268           
- under/(over) provision in

prior financial years 3,005            (13,153)        3,005           (148)             

7,805            74,218         5,005           86,120         

Taxation outside Malaysia
- current income tax 1,316,974     54,659         -                  -                  

Total current income tax 1,324,779     128,877       5,005           86,120         

Deferred tax  (Note 29)
- origination and reversal
    of temporary differences (68,118)         -                  -                  -                  
- under provision in prior
    financial years 531,665        -                  -                  -                  

463,547        -                  -                  -                  
Tax expense recognised
  in profit or loss 1,788,326     128,877       5,005           86,120         

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

(Loss)/Profit before tax (810,490)       3,899,301     (61,395,796)  (9,983,170)    

Tax at Malaysian statutory 
income tax rate of 24%
(2016: 24%) (194,517)       935,832       (14,734,991)  (2,396,000)    

Different tax rates in other
countries (726,095)       (341,360)      -                  -                  

Adjustments:
- non-taxable income (3,885,774)    (6,159,160)    (807,601)      (3,899,365)    
- non-deductible expenses 2,416,991     3,890,613     15,538,186   6,395,248     
- real property gain tax -                   1,268           -                  1,268           
- withholding tax in 

foreign subsidiaries -                   4,662           -                  -                  
Tax effect on crystallisation

of deferred tax (31,142)         -                  -                  -                  
Share of results of

associates 16,309          54,115         -                  -                  
Share of results of a

jointly controlled
entity 3,726,300     1,123,818     -                  -                  

Utilisation of deferred tax 
assets not recognised 
in prior financial years (175,913)       175,669       -                  (14,883)        

Deferred tax assets not 
recognised during the
financial year 107,497        456,573       6,406           -                  

Adjustment in respect
of income tax of prior
financial years 3,005            (13,153)        3,005           (148)             

Adjustment in respect
of deferred tax of prior
financial years 531,665        -                  -                  -                  

Tax expense recognised
  in profit or loss 1,788,326     128,877       5,005           86,120         

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Dividend revenue -                 -                 -                 5,000,000    
Warehousing and related 

value added services 14,531,997  20,689,486  -                 -                 
Transportation and distribution,

freight forwarding and
haulage services 242,826      443,672      -                 -                 

Sales of electricity 1,532,109   -      -                 -                 
Installation of solar panel -   520,000      -                 -                 

16,306,932  21,653,158  -                 5,000,000    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Interest expense on:
- Term loans 3,241,130    1,653,295    214,812      204,108      
- Shareholder's loan 798,940      1,638,112    -                 -                 

4,040,070    3,291,407    214,812      204,108      

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Amortisation of land use rights 396,643      415,026       -                -                
Amortisation of intangible assets 129,757      -                  -                -                
Auditors' remuneration
- auditors of the Company

- statutory audit 91,000        89,000         73,000       73,000       
- other services 26,800        29,200         26,800       29,200       

- component auditors of the Group
- statutory audit 139,304      183,015       -                -                

Depreciation of property, plant
  and equipment 3,903,215    2,323,973     224,798      152,425      
Directors' remuneration*
- fees 376,750      388,000       376,750      388,000      
- other emoluments 2,539,172    3,182,552     1,320,806   1,177,730   
(Gain)/Loss on foreign exchange
- realised (19,697)       2,310,135     15,241       13,858       
- unrealised (3,140,155)   (7,081)          14,862,973 (6,304,359)  
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of
  property, plant and equipment (112,219)     280              (118,156)     (4,073)        
Gain on disposal of
  subsidiaries (52,005)       (14,413,081)  -                -                
Government subsidies (249,183)     -                  -                -                
Impairment loss on:
- investment in an associate 1,705,761    -                  -                -                
- investment in a jointly 
    controlled entity -                 -                  42,889,246 16,175,655 
- other investment 55,543        -                  55,543       -                
Income distribution from 

short-term fund (351,506)     (1,436,465)    (351,506)     (1,436,465)  
Interest expense 4,040,070    3,291,407     214,812      204,108      
Interest income:
- cash at banks (371,025)     (823,971)      (58,709)      (7,567)        
- amounts owing by subsidiaries -                 -                  (369,346)     (1,022,664)  
- amount owing by a jointly 

controlled entity (2,544,137)   (2,479,964)    (2,544,137)  (2,479,964)  
(Reversal)/Provision for
  employee benefits (3,402)         20,996         (3,402)        20,996       
Planting income (4,409)         -                  -                -                
Property, plant and equipment
  written off 27              -                  27              -                
Rental expense on:
- equipment and store 12,000        66,000         12,000       12,000       
- motor vehicles 35,948        -                  -                -                
- warehouse and office
     buildings 830,242      5,219,259     776,242      776,242      

Group Company

Rental income on:
- land (10,983)       -                  -                -                
- warehouse (1,593,730)   (1,576,198)    (1,593,730)  (1,576,198)  
Reversal of impairment on
  investment in an associate -                 (15,820,723)  -                -                
Staff costs
- contribution to defined

 contribution plans 234,827      209,889       95,028       100,082      
- salaries and others 3,972,853    7,309,690     1,142,401   1,191,833   
Waiver of amount owing by 

subsidiaries -                 -                  -                4,117,517   

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Dividend revenue -                 -                 -                 5,000,000    
Warehousing and related 

value added services 14,531,997  20,689,486  -                 -                 
Transportation and distribution,

freight forwarding and
haulage services 242,826      443,672      -                 -                 

Sales of electricity 1,532,109   -      -                 -                 
Installation of solar panel -   520,000      -                 -                 

16,306,932  21,653,158  -                 5,000,000    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Interest expense on:
- Term loans 3,241,130    1,653,295    214,812      204,108      
- Shareholder's loan 798,940      1,638,112    -                 -                 

4,040,070    3,291,407    214,812      204,108      

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Amortisation of land use rights 396,643      415,026       -                -                
Amortisation of intangible assets 129,757      -                  -                -                
Auditors' remuneration
- auditors of the Company

- statutory audit 91,000        89,000         73,000       73,000       
- other services 26,800        29,200         26,800       29,200       

- component auditors of the Group
- statutory audit 139,304      183,015       -                -                

Depreciation of property, plant
  and equipment 3,903,215    2,323,973     224,798      152,425      
Directors' remuneration*
- fees 376,750      388,000       376,750      388,000      
- other emoluments 2,539,172    3,182,552     1,320,806   1,177,730   
(Gain)/Loss on foreign exchange
- realised (19,697)       2,310,135     15,241       13,858       
- unrealised (3,140,155)   (7,081)          14,862,973 (6,304,359)  
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of
  property, plant and equipment (112,219)     280              (118,156)     (4,073)        
Gain on disposal of
  subsidiaries (52,005)       (14,413,081)  -                -                
Government subsidies (249,183)     -                  -                -                
Impairment loss on:
- investment in an associate 1,705,761    -                  -                -                
- investment in a jointly 
    controlled entity -                 -                  42,889,246 16,175,655 
- other investment 55,543        -                  55,543       -                
Income distribution from 

short-term fund (351,506)     (1,436,465)    (351,506)     (1,436,465)  
Interest expense 4,040,070    3,291,407     214,812      204,108      
Interest income:
- cash at banks (371,025)     (823,971)      (58,709)      (7,567)        
- amounts owing by subsidiaries -                 -                  (369,346)     (1,022,664)  
- amount owing by a jointly 

controlled entity (2,544,137)   (2,479,964)    (2,544,137)  (2,479,964)  
(Reversal)/Provision for
  employee benefits (3,402)         20,996         (3,402)        20,996       
Planting income (4,409)         -                  -                -                
Property, plant and equipment
  written off 27              -                  27              -                
Rental expense on:
- equipment and store 12,000        66,000         12,000       12,000       
- motor vehicles 35,948        -                  -                -                
- warehouse and office
     buildings 830,242      5,219,259     776,242      776,242      

Group Company



8. TAX EXPENSE

Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24� (2016! 24�) of the estimated 
assessable profit for the financial year.
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2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Executive directors
- other emoluments 2,502,672   3,182,552   1,284,306   1,177,730   

Non-executive directors
- fees 376,750      388,000      376,750      388,000      
- other emoluments 36,500       -                36,500       -                
Total non-executive directors' 
  remuneration 413,250      388,000      413,250      388,000      

Total directors' remuneration 2,915,922   3,570,552   1,697,556   1,565,730   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Income tax:
Taxation in Malaysia
- current income tax charge 4,800            86,103         2,000           85,000         
- real property gain tax -                   1,268           -                  1,268           
- under/(over) provision in

prior financial years 3,005            (13,153)        3,005           (148)             

7,805            74,218         5,005           86,120         

Taxation outside Malaysia
- current income tax 1,316,974     54,659         -                  -                  

Total current income tax 1,324,779     128,877       5,005           86,120         

Deferred tax  (Note 29)
- origination and reversal
    of temporary differences (68,118)         -                  -                  -                  
- under provision in prior
    financial years 531,665        -                  -                  -                  

463,547        -                  -                  -                  
Tax expense recognised
  in profit or loss 1,788,326     128,877       5,005           86,120         

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

(Loss)/Profit before tax (810,490)       3,899,301     (61,395,796)  (9,983,170)    

Tax at Malaysian statutory 
income tax rate of 24%
(2016: 24%) (194,517)       935,832       (14,734,991)  (2,396,000)    

Different tax rates in other
countries (726,095)       (341,360)      -                  -                  

Adjustments:
- non-taxable income (3,885,774)    (6,159,160)    (807,601)      (3,899,365)    
- non-deductible expenses 2,416,991     3,890,613     15,538,186   6,395,248     
- real property gain tax -                   1,268           -                  1,268           
- withholding tax in 

foreign subsidiaries -                   4,662           -                  -                  
Tax effect on crystallisation

of deferred tax (31,142)         -                  -                  -                  
Share of results of

associates 16,309          54,115         -                  -                  
Share of results of a

jointly controlled
entity 3,726,300     1,123,818     -                  -                  

Utilisation of deferred tax 
assets not recognised 
in prior financial years (175,913)       175,669       -                  (14,883)        

Deferred tax assets not 
recognised during the
financial year 107,497        456,573       6,406           -                  

Adjustment in respect
of income tax of prior
financial years 3,005            (13,153)        3,005           (148)             

Adjustment in respect
of deferred tax of prior
financial years 531,665        -                  -                  -                  

Tax expense recognised
  in profit or loss 1,788,326     128,877       5,005           86,120         

Group Company



2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Executive directors
- other emoluments 2,502,672   3,182,552   1,284,306   1,177,730   

Non-executive directors
- fees 376,750      388,000      376,750      388,000      
- other emoluments 36,500       -                36,500       -                
Total non-executive directors' 
  remuneration 413,250      388,000      413,250      388,000      

Total directors' remuneration 2,915,922   3,570,552   1,697,556   1,565,730   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Income tax:
Taxation in Malaysia
- current income tax charge 4,800            86,103         2,000           85,000         
- real property gain tax -                   1,268           -                  1,268           
- under/(over) provision in

prior financial years 3,005            (13,153)        3,005           (148)             

7,805            74,218         5,005           86,120         

Taxation outside Malaysia
- current income tax 1,316,974     54,659         -                  -                  

Total current income tax 1,324,779     128,877       5,005           86,120         

Deferred tax  (Note 29)
- origination and reversal
    of temporary differences (68,118)         -                  -                  -                  
- under provision in prior
    financial years 531,665        -                  -                  -                  

463,547        -                  -                  -                  
Tax expense recognised
  in profit or loss 1,788,326     128,877       5,005           86,120         

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

(Loss)/Profit before tax (810,490)       3,899,301     (61,395,796)  (9,983,170)    

Tax at Malaysian statutory 
income tax rate of 24%
(2016: 24%) (194,517)       935,832       (14,734,991)  (2,396,000)    

Different tax rates in other
countries (726,095)       (341,360)      -                  -                  

Adjustments:
- non-taxable income (3,885,774)    (6,159,160)    (807,601)      (3,899,365)    
- non-deductible expenses 2,416,991     3,890,613     15,538,186   6,395,248     
- real property gain tax -                   1,268           -                  1,268           
- withholding tax in 

foreign subsidiaries -                   4,662           -                  -                  
Tax effect on crystallisation

of deferred tax (31,142)         -                  -                  -                  
Share of results of

associates 16,309          54,115         -                  -                  
Share of results of a

jointly controlled
entity 3,726,300     1,123,818     -                  -                  

Utilisation of deferred tax 
assets not recognised 
in prior financial years (175,913)       175,669       -                  (14,883)        

Deferred tax assets not 
recognised during the
financial year 107,497        456,573       6,406           -                  

Adjustment in respect
of income tax of prior
financial years 3,005            (13,153)        3,005           (148)             

Adjustment in respect
of deferred tax of prior
financial years 531,665        -                  -                  -                  

Tax expense recognised
  in profit or loss 1,788,326     128,877       5,005           86,120         

Group Company
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8. TAX EXPENSE (cont’d)

 The reconciliations from the tax amount at the statutory income tax rate to the Group’s and the 
Company’s tax expense are as follows!

Tax expense for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The Group has unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowance of RM7,784,100 (2016! RM8,019,167) 
and RM53,138 (2016! Nil) respectively, available for set-off against future taxable profits.

The Company has unabsorbed capital allowance of RM53,138 (2016! Nil) available for set-off against 
future taxable profits.
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 9. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

 Basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the (loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to owners 
of Company divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, calculated as follows!

The diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share of the Group for the financial years ended 31 December 
2017 and 31 December 2016 are same as the basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share of the Group as the 
Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2017 2016
RM RM

(Loss)/Profit for the financial year attributable to 
owners of the Company (9,664,112)       5,844,698        

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic
(loss)/earnings per share 185,312,570    172,737,228    

Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share (sen) (5.215)             3.384              

Group
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

(a) During the financial year, the Group and the Company acXuired property, plant and eXuipment 
with an aggregate cost of RM72,688,101 (2016! RM64,900,051) and RM2,978,734 (2016! 
RM36,616,983) respectively which are satisfied by the following!

(b) The freehold land and warehouse and office buildings of the Group and of the Company 
were revalued on 5 May 2016 and 31 December 2017 respectively by external independent 
valuers, having appropriate recognised professional Xualification. The valuations are based on 
replacement cost method and comparison method respectively.

 The net carrying amount of these property, plant and eXuipment had no revaluation been made 
are as follows!

(c) The net carrying amount of property, plant and eXuipment pledged to the financial institutions as 
security for term loan facilities (Note 26) are as follows!
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2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Additions of property,
plant and equipment 72,688,101   64,900,051   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Less: Payables (2,317,993)    (4,074,146)    -                 -                  
Cash payments on

purchase of property,
plant and equipment 70,370,108   60,825,905   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Freehold land 38,640,011   37,367,998   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 122,194,639  130,558,927  1,290,889    1,317,597     

Freehold land 38,311,277   37,835,191   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 127,458,429  135,832,268  1,290,889    1,317,597     

165,769,706  173,667,459  6,146,200    6,172,908     

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RM RM RM RM

Group
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  39,107,204   -                  39,107,204   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,290,889     126,167,540 127,458,429 

31.12.2016
Freehold land -                  37,835,191   -                  37,835,191   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,317,597     134,514,671 135,832,268 

Company
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,290,889     -                  1,290,889     

31.12.2016

Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,317,597     -                  1,317,597     

2017 2016
RM RM

Warehouse building -                 747,244        
Solar photovoltaic 739,242       -                  

739,242       747,244        

Group

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Additions of property,
plant and equipment 72,688,101   64,900,051   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Less: Payables (2,317,993)    (4,074,146)    -                 -                  
Cash payments on

purchase of property,
plant and equipment 70,370,108   60,825,905   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Freehold land 38,640,011   37,367,998   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 122,194,639  130,558,927  1,290,889    1,317,597     

Freehold land 38,311,277   37,835,191   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 127,458,429  135,832,268  1,290,889    1,317,597     

165,769,706  173,667,459  6,146,200    6,172,908     

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RM RM RM RM

Group
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  39,107,204   -                  39,107,204   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,290,889     126,167,540 127,458,429 

31.12.2016
Freehold land -                  37,835,191   -                  37,835,191   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,317,597     134,514,671 135,832,268 

Company
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,290,889     -                  1,290,889     

31.12.2016

Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,317,597     -                  1,317,597     

2017 2016
RM RM

Warehouse building -                 747,244        
Solar photovoltaic 739,242       -                  

739,242       747,244        

Group

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Additions of property,
plant and equipment 72,688,101   64,900,051   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Less: Payables (2,317,993)    (4,074,146)    -                 -                  
Cash payments on

purchase of property,
plant and equipment 70,370,108   60,825,905   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Freehold land 38,640,011   37,367,998   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 122,194,639  130,558,927  1,290,889    1,317,597     

Freehold land 38,311,277   37,835,191   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 127,458,429  135,832,268  1,290,889    1,317,597     

165,769,706  173,667,459  6,146,200    6,172,908     

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RM RM RM RM

Group
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  39,107,204   -                  39,107,204   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,290,889     126,167,540 127,458,429 

31.12.2016
Freehold land -                  37,835,191   -                  37,835,191   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,317,597     134,514,671 135,832,268 

Company
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,290,889     -                  1,290,889     

31.12.2016

Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,317,597     -                  1,317,597     

2017 2016
RM RM

Warehouse building -                 747,244        
Solar photovoltaic 739,242       -                  

739,242       747,244        

Group



(d) The fair value of freehold land and warehouse and office buildings of the Group and of the 
Company are categorised as follows!

(i) The valuation of freehold land and office building as at 5 May 2016 are determined using 
the Comparison Method of =aluation which compares the land with similar land that have 
been sold recently and those that are currently being offered for sale in the vicinity or other 
comparable localities. The characteristics, merits and demerits of these lands are noted and 
appropriate adjustment thereof are then made to arrive at the value of the land.

 In view that there is comparable market data of similar land in the vicinity where the Group’s 
freehold land is situated, the valuation was based on significant observable inputs and is 
therefore recognised under level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)
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2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Additions of property,
plant and equipment 72,688,101   64,900,051   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Less: Payables (2,317,993)    (4,074,146)    -                 -                  
Cash payments on

purchase of property,
plant and equipment 70,370,108   60,825,905   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Freehold land 38,640,011   37,367,998   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 122,194,639  130,558,927  1,290,889    1,317,597     

Freehold land 38,311,277   37,835,191   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 127,458,429  135,832,268  1,290,889    1,317,597     

165,769,706  173,667,459  6,146,200    6,172,908     

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RM RM RM RM

Group
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  39,107,204   -                  39,107,204   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,290,889     126,167,540 127,458,429 

31.12.2016
Freehold land -                  37,835,191   -                  37,835,191   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,317,597     134,514,671 135,832,268 

Company
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,290,889     -                  1,290,889     

31.12.2016

Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,317,597     -                  1,317,597     

2017 2016
RM RM

Warehouse building -                 747,244        
Solar photovoltaic 739,242       -                  

739,242       747,244        

Group



(d) The fair value of freehold land and warehouse and office buildings of the Group and of the 
Company are categorised as follows! (cont’d)

(e) Included in property, plant and eXuipment are borrowing cost capitalised during the financial 
year as follows!

(ii) The valuation of warehouse buildings as at 31 December 2017 is determined using 
replacement cost approach which determines the cost to replace an asset at current 
prices. In view of the lack of comparable market data of similar buildings in the vicinity 
where the Group’s warehouse buildings are situated, the valuation was based on significant 
unobservable inputs and is therefore recognised under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

 The directors and the professional valuer consider that it is appropriate to use the replacement 
cost approach since the directors will use the warehouse buildings for long-term yield from 
production of logistics services for best utilisation of the buildings for maximisation of 
returns rather than primarily for rental income and will not dispose the warehouse buildings 
in the short run.

 The key unobservable inputs of the valuation include average construction cost per sXuare 
meter of RM1,562 (eXuivalent to RMB2,600), direct administrative cost of approximately 
3�, interest rate on financing of approximately 2� and residual ratio of 83�, 91� and 
97�. These assumptions are estimated by the professional valuer based on the risk profile 
of the warehouse buildings being valued.

 A significant increase/decrease in the estimated average construction cost per sXuare, direct 
administrative cost and interest rate on financing in isolation would result in a significant 
increase/decrease in the fair value of the warehouse buildings.

 There were no transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 during the financial years ended 
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)
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2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Additions of property,
plant and equipment 72,688,101   64,900,051   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Less: Payables (2,317,993)    (4,074,146)    -                 -                  
Cash payments on

purchase of property,
plant and equipment 70,370,108   60,825,905   2,978,734     36,616,983   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Freehold land 38,640,011   37,367,998   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 122,194,639  130,558,927  1,290,889    1,317,597     

Freehold land 38,311,277   37,835,191   4,855,311    4,855,311     
Warehouse and office 
  buildings 127,458,429  135,832,268  1,290,889    1,317,597     

165,769,706  173,667,459  6,146,200    6,172,908     

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RM RM RM RM

Group
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  39,107,204   -                  39,107,204   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,290,889     126,167,540 127,458,429 

31.12.2016
Freehold land -                  37,835,191   -                  37,835,191   
Warehouse and 
  office buildings -                  1,317,597     134,514,671 135,832,268 

Company
31.12.2017
Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,290,889     -                  1,290,889     

31.12.2016

Freehold land -                  4,855,311     -                  4,855,311     

gnidliub eciffO -                  1,317,597     -                  1,317,597     

2017 2016
RM RM

Warehouse building -                 747,244        
Solar photovoltaic 739,242       -                  

739,242       747,244        

Group



At the end of the financial year, the Group has land use rights located in Suzhou in The People’s 
Republic of China (¸PRC¹) where the Group’s warehousing facilities reside under medium lease terms 
for a duration of 50 years.

The land use rights is pledged to the financial institutions as security for term loan facilities as 
disclosed in Note 26.

The intangible assets including goodwill and customer contract arise from acXuisition of subsidiaries 
in the previous financial year. 

11. LAND USE RIGHTS

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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2017 2016
RM RM

At 1 January 17,050,183      17,848,395      
Amortisation for the financial year (396,643)         (415,026)         
Translation differences (704,338)         (383,186)         

At 31 December 15,949,202      17,050,183      

Group

Customer
Goodwill Contract Total

RM RM RM
Group
Cost
At 1.1.2017 41,727            2,724,904       2,766,631       
Disposal of a subsidiary (41,727)           -                    (41,727)           

At 31.12.2017 -                    2,724,904       2,724,904       

Accumulated impairment
At 1.1.2017 41,727            -                    41,727            
Disposal of a subsidiary (41,727)           -                    (41,727)           

At 31.12.2017 -                    -                    -                    

Accumulated amortisation
At 1.1.2017 -                    -                    -                    
Amortisation charge for the

financial year -                    129,757          129,757          

At 31.12.2017 -                    129,757          129,757          

Carrying amount
At 31.12.2017 -                    2,595,147       2,595,147       

Cost
At 1.1.2016/31.12.2016 41,727            2,724,904       2,766,631       

Accumulated impairment
At 1.1.2016/31.12.2016 (41,727)           -                    (41,727)           

Carrying amount

At 31.12.2016 -                    2,724,904       2,724,904       

2017 2016
RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost
At 1 January 34,291,195      34,316,195      
Distribution received -                     (25,000)           
At 31 December 34,291,195      34,291,195      

Less: Accumulated impairment loss
At 1 January/31 December (11,475,000)     (11,475,000)     

22,816,195      22,816,195      

Company

2017 2016
RM RM

At 1 January 17,050,183      17,848,395      
Amortisation for the financial year (396,643)         (415,026)         
Translation differences (704,338)         (383,186)         

At 31 December 15,949,202      17,050,183      

Group

Customer
Goodwill Contract Total

RM RM RM
Group
Cost
At 1.1.2017 41,727            2,724,904       2,766,631       
Disposal of a subsidiary (41,727)           -                    (41,727)           

At 31.12.2017 -                    2,724,904       2,724,904       

Accumulated impairment
At 1.1.2017 41,727            -                    41,727            
Disposal of a subsidiary (41,727)           -                    (41,727)           

At 31.12.2017 -                    -                    -                    

Accumulated amortisation
At 1.1.2017 -                    -                    -                    
Amortisation charge for the

financial year -                    129,757          129,757          

At 31.12.2017 -                    129,757          129,757          

Carrying amount
At 31.12.2017 -                    2,595,147       2,595,147       

Cost
At 1.1.2016/31.12.2016 41,727            2,724,904       2,766,631       

Accumulated impairment
At 1.1.2016/31.12.2016 (41,727)           -                    (41,727)           

Carrying amount

At 31.12.2016 -                    2,724,904       2,724,904       

2017 2016
RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost
At 1 January 34,291,195      34,316,195      
Distribution received -                     (25,000)           
At 31 December 34,291,195      34,291,195      

Less: Accumulated impairment loss
At 1 January/31 December (11,475,000)     (11,475,000)     

22,816,195      22,816,195      

Company



12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

13. SUBSIDIARIES

Customer contract

The fair value of intangible assets is attributable to customer contracts arising from the acXuisition 
of a subsidiary. The acXuired subsidiary was granted a feed-in approval by Sustainable Energy 
Development Authority Malaysia (¸SEDA¹) pursuant to the Renewable Energy Act 2011.

A Renewable Energy Power Purchase Agreement (¸REPPA¹) was entered into with Tenaga Nasional 
Berhad (¸TNB¹) with effective period of 21 years commencing from the Feed-in Tariff (¸FiT¹) 
commencement.

The customer contract is amortised on a straight-line basis over the effective period of 21 years upon 
the commencement of the FiT.

DHtaiOs of thH subsiGiariHs arH as foOOoZs�
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2017 2016
RM RM

At 1 January 17,050,183      17,848,395      
Amortisation for the financial year (396,643)         (415,026)         
Translation differences (704,338)         (383,186)         

At 31 December 15,949,202      17,050,183      

Group

Customer
Goodwill Contract Total

RM RM RM
Group
Cost
At 1.1.2017 41,727            2,724,904       2,766,631       
Disposal of a subsidiary (41,727)           -                    (41,727)           

At 31.12.2017 -                    2,724,904       2,724,904       

Accumulated impairment
At 1.1.2017 41,727            -                    41,727            
Disposal of a subsidiary (41,727)           -                    (41,727)           

At 31.12.2017 -                    -                    -                    

Accumulated amortisation
At 1.1.2017 -                    -                    -                    
Amortisation charge for the

financial year -                    129,757          129,757          

At 31.12.2017 -                    129,757          129,757          

Carrying amount
At 31.12.2017 -                    2,595,147       2,595,147       

Cost
At 1.1.2016/31.12.2016 41,727            2,724,904       2,766,631       

Accumulated impairment
At 1.1.2016/31.12.2016 (41,727)           -                    (41,727)           

Carrying amount

At 31.12.2016 -                    2,724,904       2,724,904       

2017 2016
RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost
At 1 January 34,291,195      34,316,195      
Distribution received -                     (25,000)           
At 31 December 34,291,195      34,291,195      

Less: Accumulated impairment loss
At 1 January/31 December (11,475,000)     (11,475,000)     

22,816,195      22,816,195      

Company

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

Integrated Forwarding Malaysia Ceased operations 100% 100%
  & Shipping Berhad

Integrated Freight Malaysia Ceased operations - 100%
  Services Sdn. Bhd. ^

IL Energy Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Investment holding 100% 100%

ILB International (BVI) British Virgin Investment holding 100% 100%
  Limited @ Islands

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

Subsidiaries of 
  IL Energy Sdn. Bhd.
EVN Vision Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Solar power plant 100% 100%

Feel Solar Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Trading of solar related 
goods and designing, 
installation and 
commissioning of solar 
photovoltaic systems 
and other renewable 
energy related system

- 100%

IL Solar Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Solar power plant 100% 100%

IL Power Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Dormant 100% -

East Borneo Solar 
   Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia Dormant 100% -

Subsidiary of ILB
  International (BVI) 
  Limited
ISH Logistics Group Grand Cayman Investment holding 70% 70%
  Limited @ Island

Subsidiary of ISH
  Logistics Group
  Limited
ISH Group (BVI) British Virgin Investment holding 70% 70%
  Limited @ Islands

Subsidiary of ISH
  Group (BVI) 
  Limited
Integrated Logistics Hong Kong Investment holding, 70% 70%
  (H.K.) Limited @ warehousing and 

related value added 
services and 
transportation

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

Subsidiaries of 
  Integrated Logistics 
  (H.K.) Limited

Integrated Logistics The People's Warehousing and 70% 70%
  (China) Company Republic of related value added
  Limited # China services and 

transportation

Integrated Etern The People's Warehousing and 45.5% 45.5%
  Logistics (Suzhou) Republic of related value added
  Company Limited # China services and 

transportation
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Country of Principal

Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

Integrated Forwarding Malaysia Ceased operations 100% 100%
  & Shipping Berhad

Integrated Freight Malaysia Ceased operations - 100%
  Services Sdn. Bhd. ^

IL Energy Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Investment holding 100% 100%

ILB International (BVI) British Virgin Investment holding 100% 100%
  Limited @ Islands

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

Subsidiaries of 
  IL Energy Sdn. Bhd.
EVN Vision Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Solar power plant 100% 100%

Feel Solar Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Trading of solar related 
goods and designing, 
installation and 
commissioning of solar 
photovoltaic systems 
and other renewable 
energy related system

- 100%

IL Solar Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Solar power plant 100% 100%

IL Power Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Dormant 100% -

East Borneo Solar 
   Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia Dormant 100% -

Subsidiary of ILB
  International (BVI) 
  Limited
ISH Logistics Group Grand Cayman Investment holding 70% 70%
  Limited @ Island

Subsidiary of ISH
  Logistics Group
  Limited
ISH Group (BVI) British Virgin Investment holding 70% 70%
  Limited @ Islands

Subsidiary of ISH
  Group (BVI) 
  Limited
Integrated Logistics Hong Kong Investment holding, 70% 70%
  (H.K.) Limited @ warehousing and 

related value added 
services and 
transportation

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

Subsidiaries of 
  Integrated Logistics 
  (H.K.) Limited

Integrated Logistics The People's Warehousing and 70% 70%
  (China) Company Republic of related value added
  Limited # China services and 

transportation

Integrated Etern The People's Warehousing and 45.5% 45.5%
  Logistics (Suzhou) Republic of related value added
  Company Limited # China services and 

transportation

DHtaiOs of thH subsiGiariHs arH as foOOoZs� �Font’G�
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13. SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

Integrated Forwarding Malaysia Ceased operations 100% 100%
  & Shipping Berhad

Integrated Freight Malaysia Ceased operations - 100%
  Services Sdn. Bhd. ^

IL Energy Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Investment holding 100% 100%

ILB International (BVI) British Virgin Investment holding 100% 100%
  Limited @ Islands

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

Subsidiaries of 
  IL Energy Sdn. Bhd.
EVN Vision Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Solar power plant 100% 100%

Feel Solar Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Trading of solar related 
goods and designing, 
installation and 
commissioning of solar 
photovoltaic systems 
and other renewable 
energy related system

- 100%

IL Solar Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Solar power plant 100% 100%

IL Power Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Dormant 100% -

East Borneo Solar 
   Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia Dormant 100% -

Subsidiary of ILB
  International (BVI) 
  Limited
ISH Logistics Group Grand Cayman Investment holding 70% 70%
  Limited @ Island

Subsidiary of ISH
  Logistics Group
  Limited
ISH Group (BVI) British Virgin Investment holding 70% 70%
  Limited @ Islands

Subsidiary of ISH
  Group (BVI) 
  Limited
Integrated Logistics Hong Kong Investment holding, 70% 70%
  (H.K.) Limited @ warehousing and 

related value added 
services and 
transportation

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

Subsidiaries of 
  Integrated Logistics 
  (H.K.) Limited

Integrated Logistics The People's Warehousing and 70% 70%
  (China) Company Republic of related value added
  Limited # China services and 

transportation

Integrated Etern The People's Warehousing and 45.5% 45.5%
  Logistics (Suzhou) Republic of related value added
  Company Limited # China services and 

transportation

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

Integrated Forwarding Malaysia Ceased operations 100% 100%
  & Shipping Berhad

Integrated Freight Malaysia Ceased operations - 100%
  Services Sdn. Bhd. ^

IL Energy Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Investment holding 100% 100%

ILB International (BVI) British Virgin Investment holding 100% 100%
  Limited @ Islands

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

Subsidiaries of 
  IL Energy Sdn. Bhd.
EVN Vision Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Solar power plant 100% 100%

Feel Solar Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Trading of solar related 
goods and designing, 
installation and 
commissioning of solar 
photovoltaic systems 
and other renewable 
energy related system

- 100%

IL Solar Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Solar power plant 100% 100%

IL Power Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Dormant 100% -

East Borneo Solar 
   Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia Dormant 100% -

Subsidiary of ILB
  International (BVI) 
  Limited
ISH Logistics Group Grand Cayman Investment holding 70% 70%
  Limited @ Island

Subsidiary of ISH
  Logistics Group
  Limited
ISH Group (BVI) British Virgin Investment holding 70% 70%
  Limited @ Islands

Subsidiary of ISH
  Group (BVI) 
  Limited
Integrated Logistics Hong Kong Investment holding, 70% 70%
  (H.K.) Limited @ warehousing and 

related value added 
services and 
transportation

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

Subsidiaries of 
  Integrated Logistics 
  (H.K.) Limited

Integrated Logistics The People's Warehousing and 70% 70%
  (China) Company Republic of related value added
  Limited # China services and 

transportation

Integrated Etern The People's Warehousing and 45.5% 45.5%
  Logistics (Suzhou) Republic of related value added
  Company Limited # China services and 

transportation

DHtaiOs of thH subsiGiariHs arH as foOOoZs� �Font’G�

' Audited by an independent member firm of Baker Tilly International.
E The subsidiary was consolidated using unaudited management financial statements as it had 

been placed under Member’s =oluntary Winding-up pursuant to Section 439(1) of the Companies 
Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Member’s =oluntary Winding-up had been completed on 3 February 
2017.

# Audited by auditors other than Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng.

(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries 

(i) On 18 April 2017, IL Energy Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary has acXuired 2 ordinary 
shares representing 100� of the issued and paid up capital of IL Power Sdn. Bhd. for a total 
cash consideration of RM2.

 The fair value of identifiable net assets recognised is cash and cash eXuivalent of RM2 and 
effect of the acXuisition on cash flows is as follows!

2017
RM

Cash and cash equivalent acquired 2                  
Consideration paid in cash (2)                 

Net cash outflow on acquisition -                   

2017
RM

Cash and cash equivalent acquired 2                  
Consideration paid in cash (2)                 

Net cash outflow on acquisition -                   
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13. SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries �Font’G�

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries

(ii) On 8 May 2017, IL Energy Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary has acXuired 2 ordinary 
shares representing 100% of the issued and paid up capital of East Borneo Solar Sdn. Bhd. 
for a total cash consideration of RM2.

 The fair value of identifiable net assets recognised is cash and cash eXuivalents of RM2 and 
effect of the acXuisition on cash flows is as follows!

2017

2n �� ASriO ����� ,/ (nHrJ\ 6Gn� %hG�� a ZhoOO\�oZnHG subsiGiar\ of thH &omSan\ HntHrHG into 
a 6harH 6aOH AJrHHmHnt �´thH AJrHHmHntµ� Zith %HH 6un 6Gn� %hG� for thH GisSosaO of its HntirH 
HTuit\ intHrHst in )HHO 6oOar 6Gn� %hG� for a totaO Fash FonsiGHration of 5M��������� uSon thH 
tHrms anG FonGitions statHG in thH AJrHHmHnt�

(ffHFt of GisSosaO on thH ÀnanFiaO Sosition anG Fash ÁoZ of thH *rouS�

2017
RM

Cash and cash equivalent acquired 2                  
Consideration paid in cash (2)                 

Net cash outflow on acquisition -                   

2017
RM

Cash and cash equivalent acquired 2                  
Consideration paid in cash (2)                 

Net cash outflow on acquisition -                   

2017
Note RM

Property, plant and equipment 10 2,781,111      
Receivables 287               
Cash and cash equivalents 148,061         
Tax assets 1,090             
Payables (1,361)            
Net assets and liabilities 2,929,188      
Cash consideration received (2,981,193)     

Gain on disposal of investment in a subsidiary (52,005)          

Cash consideration received 2,981,193      
Cash and cash equivalents (148,061)        

Net cash inflow arising from disposal 2,833,132      

2016
Note RM

Property, plant and equipment 10 285,738        
Other investments 16 1,015,871     
Receivables 6,592,829     
Pledged bank deposits 121,633        
Cash and cash equivalents 70,229,320   
Payables (1,850,298)    
Deferred tax liabilities 28 (190,777)       
Translation differences 6,819,492     

Net assets and liabilities 83,023,808   
Cash consideration received (77,622,505)  

5,401,303     
Reclassification adjustment of exchange translation reserve (19,899,234)  
Reclassification adjustment of fair value reserve 84,850          

Gain on disposal of investment in a subsidiary (14,413,081)  

Cash consideration received 77,622,505   
Cash and cash equivalents (70,229,320)  
Translation differences (6,415,053)    

Net cash inflows arising from disposal 978,132        
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13. SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries �Font’G� 

�F�� 'LOXWLRQ�RI�LQWHUHVW�LQ�,/�6RODU�6GQ��%KG��LQ�WKH�SUHYLRXV�ÀQDQFLDO�\HDU

2016

2n �� ASriO ����� ,ntHJratHG /oJistiFs �H�.�� /imitHG �´,/H.µ�� an inGirHFt ��� oZnHG subsiGiar\ 
of thH &omSan\ HntHrHG into a DHHG of 6aOH anG 3urFhasH �´DHHGµ� Zith 1aturaO &rHation 
/imitHG anG -oint )un &omSan\ /imitHG �FoOOHFtiYHO\� ´3urFhasHrsµ�� both arH inGirHFt ZhoOO\�
oZnHG subsiGiar\ of &�-�H� ,nYHstmHnt &omSan\ /imitHG Zho has JuarantHHG thH SHrformanFH 
of 3urFhasHrs’ obOiJations unGHr thH DHHG� for thH GisSosaO b\ ,/H. of its HntirH HTuit\ intHrHst in 
,6H /oJistiFs �6hanJhai� /imitHG anG ,6H &arJo 6HrYiFHs �H.� &omSan\ /imitHG to 3urFhasHrs 
for a totaO Fash FonsiGHration of H.D����� miOOion �HTuiYaOHnt to aSSro[imatHO\ 5M���� miOOion�� 

7hH GisSosaO Zas FomSOHtHG on � -uO\ ���� uSon fuOÀOmHnt of aOO thH &onGitions 3rHFHGHnt of thH 
DHHG�

(ffHFt of GisSosaO on thH ÀnanFiaO Sosition anG Fash ÁoZ of thH *rouS�

2n � 6HStHmbHr ����� ,/ (nHrJ\ 6Gn� %hG� haG transfHrrHG ������� orGinar\ sharHs of 5M� HaFh 
to 3HnsoOar 6Gn� %hG� anG AtOantiF %OuH 6Gn� %hG� at 5M�������� 7his haG rHsuOtHG in a GiOution of 
intHrHst in ,/ 6oOar from ���� to ���� A Ooss on GiOution of intHrHst amountinJ to 5M������� has 
bHHn rHFoJnisHG to thH *rouS’s non�FontroOOinJ intHrHsts in thH SrHYious ÀnanFiaO \Har’s statHmHnt of 
FhanJHs in HTuit\�

2017
Note RM

Property, plant and equipment 10 2,781,111      
Receivables 287               
Cash and cash equivalents 148,061         
Tax assets 1,090             
Payables (1,361)            
Net assets and liabilities 2,929,188      
Cash consideration received (2,981,193)     

Gain on disposal of investment in a subsidiary (52,005)          

Cash consideration received 2,981,193      
Cash and cash equivalents (148,061)        

Net cash inflow arising from disposal 2,833,132      

2016
Note RM

Property, plant and equipment 10 285,738        
Other investments 16 1,015,871     
Receivables 6,592,829     
Pledged bank deposits 121,633        
Cash and cash equivalents 70,229,320   
Payables (1,850,298)    
Deferred tax liabilities 28 (190,777)       
Translation differences 6,819,492     

Net assets and liabilities 83,023,808   
Cash consideration received (77,622,505)  

5,401,303     
Reclassification adjustment of exchange translation reserve (19,899,234)  
Reclassification adjustment of fair value reserve 84,850          

Gain on disposal of investment in a subsidiary (14,413,081)  

Cash consideration received 77,622,505   
Cash and cash equivalents (70,229,320)  
Translation differences (6,415,053)    

Net cash inflows arising from disposal 978,132        
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14. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost
At 1 January 5,988,300     10,988,300   11,007,500   11,007,500   
Distribution received -                  (5,000,000)    -                  -                  

   At 31 December 5,988,300     5,988,300     11,007,500   11,007,500   

Less: Accumulated
  impairment loss

Share of results:
   At 1 January 4,169,633     4,395,377     -                  -                  
   Additions (67,957)        (225,744)      -                  -                  

   At 31 December 4,101,676     4,169,633     -                  -                  

10,089,976   10,157,933   11,007,500   11,007,500   

Quoted shares outside 
  Malaysia, at cost

At 1 January/
  31 December 66,096,686   66,096,686   -                  -                  

Less: Accumulated
  impairment loss

At 1 January (27,719,821)  (43,540,544)  -
- -

                 -                  
Additions (1,705,761)    -                  

   Reversal -                  15,820,723   -                  -                  

   At 31 December (29,425,582)  (27,719,821)  -                  -                  

Share of results:
   At 1 January (13,198,653)  (1,620,913)    -                  -                  
   Additions 19,119,277   (11,577,740)  -                  -                  

   At 31 December 5,920,624     (13,198,653)  -                  -                  
Exchange differences 4,273,550     3,320,119     -                  -                  

46,865,278   28,498,331   -                  -                  

56,955,254   38,656,264   11,007,500   11,007,500   

Market value:
Quoted shares outside
  Malaysia 46,865,278   28,498,331   

Group Company

Country of 
Name of Company Incorporation Principal Activities

2017 2016

Integrated Mits Malaysia Warehousing and related 50% 50%
  Sdn. Bhd.    value added services

Interest held through
  Integrated Logistics 
  (H.K.) Limited

  * Hengyang Singapore Investment holding 18.1% 18.1%
  Petrochemical 
  Logistics Limited  

Effective Equity
Interest
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14. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (cont’d)

DHtaiOs of thH assoFiatHs arH as foOOoZs�


 7hH auGitHG ÀnanFiaO statHmHnts anG auGitors’ rHSort for thH ÀnanFiaO \Har ZHrH not aYaiOabOH� 
HoZHYHr� thH rHsuOts haYH bHHn aFFountHG for basHG on thH SubOiF announFHmHnt for thH ÀnanFiaO 
\Har HnGHG �� DHFHmbHr �����

�a� )air YaOuH information

 As at �� DHFHmbHr ����� thH fair YaOuH of HHnJ\anJ 3HtroFhHmiFaO /oJistiFs /imitHG� ZhiFh is 
OistHG on 6inJaSorH ([FhanJH /imitHG� Zas 5M���������� ������ 5M����������� basHG on thH 
TuotHG marNHt SriFH aYaiOabOH on thH stoFN H[FhanJH� ZhiFh has bHHn FatHJorisHG Zithin OHYHO � 
fair YaOuH hiHrarFh\� 

�b� 7hH foOOoZinJ tabOH iOOustratHs thH summarisHG ÀnanFiaO information of thH assoFiatHs�

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost
At 1 January 5,988,300     10,988,300   11,007,500   11,007,500   
Distribution received -                  (5,000,000)    -                  -                  

   At 31 December 5,988,300     5,988,300     11,007,500   11,007,500   

Less: Accumulated
  impairment loss

Share of results:
   At 1 January 4,169,633     4,395,377     -                  -                  
   Additions (67,957)        (225,744)      -                  -                  

   At 31 December 4,101,676     4,169,633     -                  -                  

10,089,976   10,157,933   11,007,500   11,007,500   

Quoted shares outside 
  Malaysia, at cost

At 1 January/
  31 December 66,096,686   66,096,686   -                  -                  

Less: Accumulated
  impairment loss

At 1 January (27,719,821)  (43,540,544)  -
- -

                 -                  
Additions (1,705,761)    -                  

   Reversal -                  15,820,723   -                  -                  

   At 31 December (29,425,582)  (27,719,821)  -                  -                  

Share of results:
   At 1 January (13,198,653)  (1,620,913)    -                  -                  
   Additions 19,119,277   (11,577,740)  -                  -                  

   At 31 December 5,920,624     (13,198,653)  -                  -                  
Exchange differences 4,273,550     3,320,119     -                  -                  

46,865,278   28,498,331   -                  -                  

56,955,254   38,656,264   11,007,500   11,007,500   

Market value:
Quoted shares outside
  Malaysia 46,865,278   28,498,331   

Group Company

Country of 
Name of Company Incorporation Principal Activities

2017 2016

Integrated Mits Malaysia Warehousing and related 50% 50%
  Sdn. Bhd.    value added services

Interest held through
  Integrated Logistics 
  (H.K.) Limited

  * Hengyang Singapore Investment holding 18.1% 18.1%
  Petrochemical 
  Logistics Limited  

Effective Equity
Interest

Hengyang Integrated
Petrochemical Mits

Logistics Limited Sdn. Bhd. Total
RM RM RM

Hengyang Integrated
Petrochemical Mits

Logistics Limited Sdn. Bhd. Total
RM RM RM

Hengyang Integrated
Petrochemical Mits

Logistics Limited Sdn. Bhd. Total
RM RM RM

2017
Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 365,998,080         19,162,814     385,160,894    
Current assets 57,604,708           4,110,436       61,715,144      
Non-current liabilities -                          (3,039,954)      (3,039,954)       
Current liabilities (1,731,156)            (51,702)           (1,782,858)       

Net assets 421,871,632         20,181,594     442,053,226    

Results
Revenue 45,865,295           1,371,283       47,236,578      
Profit/(Loss) for the

financial year 113,107,162         (135,914)         112,971,248    
Total comprehensive

income/(loss) 113,107,162         (135,914)         112,971,248    

2016
Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 45,006,143           19,715,446     64,721,589      
Current assets 1,096,746,333      3,691,175       1,100,437,508  
Non-current liabilities (507,948,454)        (2,970,232)      (510,918,686)   
Current liabilities (288,476,546)        (118,881)         (288,595,427)   

Net assets 345,327,476         20,317,508     365,644,984    

Results
Revenue 94,984,933           1,371,283       96,356,216      
Loss for the financial year (67,151,288)          (450,959)         (67,602,247)     
Total comprehensive loss (67,151,288)          (450,959)         (67,602,247)     

2017
Group's share of net assets 60,725,143           8,856,214       69,581,357      
Goodwill 11,292,167           1,233,762       12,525,929      
Exchange differences 4,273,550             -                    4,273,550        
Less: Accumulated impairment

  losses (29,425,582)          -                    (29,425,582)     
Carrying amount in the
  consolidated statement
  of financial position 46,865,278           10,089,976     56,955,254      

Group's share of results 19,119,277           (67,957)           19,051,320      

2016
Group's share of net assets 41,605,866           8,924,171       50,530,037      
Goodwill 11,292,167           1,233,762       12,525,929      
Exchange differences 3,320,119             -                    3,320,119        
Less: Accumulated impairment

  losses (27,719,821)          -                    (27,719,821)     
Carrying amount in the
  consolidated statement
  of financial position 28,498,331           10,157,933     38,656,264      

Group's share of results (11,577,740)          (225,744)         (11,803,484)     
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14. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (cont’d)

�b� 7hH foOOoZinJ tabOH iOOustratHs thH summarisHG ÀnanFiaO information of thH assoFiatHs� �Font’G�

�F� 7hH rHFonFiOiation of nHt assHts of thH assoFiatHs to thH Farr\inJ amount of thH inYHstmHnt in 
assoFiatHs arH as foOOoZs�

Hengyang Integrated
Petrochemical Mits

Logistics Limited Sdn. Bhd. Total
RM RM RM

Hengyang Integrated
Petrochemical Mits

Logistics Limited Sdn. Bhd. Total
RM RM RM

Hengyang Integrated
Petrochemical Mits

Logistics Limited Sdn. Bhd. Total
RM RM RM

2017
Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 365,998,080         19,162,814     385,160,894    
Current assets 57,604,708           4,110,436       61,715,144      
Non-current liabilities -                          (3,039,954)      (3,039,954)       
Current liabilities (1,731,156)            (51,702)           (1,782,858)       

Net assets 421,871,632         20,181,594     442,053,226    

Results
Revenue 45,865,295           1,371,283       47,236,578      
Profit/(Loss) for the

financial year 113,107,162         (135,914)         112,971,248    
Total comprehensive

income/(loss) 113,107,162         (135,914)         112,971,248    

2016
Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 45,006,143           19,715,446     64,721,589      
Current assets 1,096,746,333      3,691,175       1,100,437,508  
Non-current liabilities (507,948,454)        (2,970,232)      (510,918,686)   
Current liabilities (288,476,546)        (118,881)         (288,595,427)   

Net assets 345,327,476         20,317,508     365,644,984    

Results
Revenue 94,984,933           1,371,283       96,356,216      
Loss for the financial year (67,151,288)          (450,959)         (67,602,247)     
Total comprehensive loss (67,151,288)          (450,959)         (67,602,247)     

2017
Group's share of net assets 60,725,143           8,856,214       69,581,357      
Goodwill 11,292,167           1,233,762       12,525,929      
Exchange differences 4,273,550             -                    4,273,550        
Less: Accumulated impairment

  losses (29,425,582)          -                    (29,425,582)     
Carrying amount in the
  consolidated statement
  of financial position 46,865,278           10,089,976     56,955,254      

Group's share of results 19,119,277           (67,957)           19,051,320      

2016
Group's share of net assets 41,605,866           8,924,171       50,530,037      
Goodwill 11,292,167           1,233,762       12,525,929      
Exchange differences 3,320,119             -                    3,320,119        
Less: Accumulated impairment

  losses (27,719,821)          -                    (27,719,821)     
Carrying amount in the
  consolidated statement
  of financial position 28,498,331           10,157,933     38,656,264      

Group's share of results (11,577,740)          (225,744)         (11,803,484)     

Hengyang Integrated
Petrochemical Mits

Logistics Limited Sdn. Bhd. Total
RM RM RM

Hengyang Integrated
Petrochemical Mits

Logistics Limited Sdn. Bhd. Total
RM RM RM

Hengyang Integrated
Petrochemical Mits

Logistics Limited Sdn. Bhd. Total
RM RM RM

2017
Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 365,998,080         19,162,814     385,160,894    
Current assets 57,604,708           4,110,436       61,715,144      
Non-current liabilities -                          (3,039,954)      (3,039,954)       
Current liabilities (1,731,156)            (51,702)           (1,782,858)       

Net assets 421,871,632         20,181,594     442,053,226    

Results
Revenue 45,865,295           1,371,283       47,236,578      
Profit/(Loss) for the

financial year 113,107,162         (135,914)         112,971,248    
Total comprehensive

income/(loss) 113,107,162         (135,914)         112,971,248    

2016
Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 45,006,143           19,715,446     64,721,589      
Current assets 1,096,746,333      3,691,175       1,100,437,508  
Non-current liabilities (507,948,454)        (2,970,232)      (510,918,686)   
Current liabilities (288,476,546)        (118,881)         (288,595,427)   

Net assets 345,327,476         20,317,508     365,644,984    

Results
Revenue 94,984,933           1,371,283       96,356,216      
Loss for the financial year (67,151,288)          (450,959)         (67,602,247)     
Total comprehensive loss (67,151,288)          (450,959)         (67,602,247)     

2017
Group's share of net assets 60,725,143           8,856,214       69,581,357      
Goodwill 11,292,167           1,233,762       12,525,929      
Exchange differences 4,273,550             -                    4,273,550        
Less: Accumulated impairment

  losses (29,425,582)          -                    (29,425,582)     
Carrying amount in the
  consolidated statement
  of financial position 46,865,278           10,089,976     56,955,254      

Group's share of results 19,119,277           (67,957)           19,051,320      

2016
Group's share of net assets 41,605,866           8,924,171       50,530,037      
Goodwill 11,292,167           1,233,762       12,525,929      
Exchange differences 3,320,119             -                    3,320,119        
Less: Accumulated impairment

  losses (27,719,821)          -                    (27,719,821)     
Carrying amount in the
  consolidated statement
  of financial position 28,498,331           10,157,933     38,656,264      

Group's share of results (11,577,740)          (225,744)         (11,803,484)     
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15. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

The amount owing by a jointly controlled entity is solely due from Integrated National Logistics DWC-
LLC (¸INL¹) which is non-trade in nature, unsecured and interest-free. The settlement of the amount 
is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. The Group’s intention is to provide 
adeXuate funds to the jointly controlled entity to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due. As this 
amount is, in substance, part of the Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entity, it is stated 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

The amount owing by a jointly controlled entity is denominated in United Arab Emirates Dirham.

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost
At 1 January/
  31 December 35,066,081   35,066,081   34,716,902   34,716,902   

Amount owing by a
  jointly controlled
  entity 46,830,750   30,158,522   46,830,750   30,158,522   

Less: Accumulated
impairment loss

At 1 January -                  -                  (16,175,655)  -                  
Addition -                  -                  (42,889,246)  (16,175,655)  
At 31 December -                  -                  (59,064,901)  (16,175,655)  

Share of results:
   At 1 January (45,791,961)  (41,109,384)  -                  -                  
   Additions (15,526,249)  (4,682,577)    -                  -                  
   At 31 December (61,318,210)  (45,791,961)  -                  -                  
Exchange differences 1,699,258     721,621       -                  -                  

22,277,879   20,154,263   22,482,751   48,699,769   

The Group's investment
  in a jointly controlled
  entity is represented by:
  Group's share of net

    assets 22,277,879   20,154,263   

Group Company

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

* Integrated National United Arab Warehousing and 50% 50%
 Logistics DWC-LLC Emirates     related value  

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

2017 2016
RM RM

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets    296,397,387    347,144,475 
Current assets      11,278,362      16,732,749 
Non-current liabilities   (158,782,010)   (202,639,104)
Current liabilities   (103,928,236)   (120,476,396)

Net assets      44,965,503      40,761,724 

Proportion of the ownership of the Group 50% 50%

Carrying amount of the investment in a jointly
controlled entities 22,277,879     20,154,263     

Results

Revenue 24,974,635     60,599,527     
Cost of sales (28,121,648)    (38,116,733)    

Gross (loss)/profit (3,147,013)      22,482,794     
Other income 124,473          337,120         
Administrative expenses (19,860,253)        (22,452,576)
Finance costs (8,169,705)           (9,732,492)

Loss before tax (31,052,498)         (9,365,154)
Tax expense -                    -                    

Loss for the financial year (31,052,498)    (9,365,154)     

Group's share of results     (15,526,249) (4,682,577)     

Group
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15. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY (cont’d)

(a) The details of a jointly controlled entity are as follows!

(b) The summarised financial information of INL are as follows!

* Audited by auditors other than Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng.

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost
At 1 January/
  31 December 35,066,081   35,066,081   34,716,902   34,716,902   

Amount owing by a
  jointly controlled
  entity 46,830,750   30,158,522   46,830,750   30,158,522   

Less: Accumulated
impairment loss

At 1 January -                  -                  (16,175,655)  -                  
Addition -                  -                  (42,889,246)  (16,175,655)  
At 31 December -                  -                  (59,064,901)  (16,175,655)  

Share of results:
   At 1 January (45,791,961)  (41,109,384)  -                  -                  
   Additions (15,526,249)  (4,682,577)    -                  -                  
   At 31 December (61,318,210)  (45,791,961)  -                  -                  
Exchange differences 1,699,258     721,621       -                  -                  

22,277,879   20,154,263   22,482,751   48,699,769   

The Group's investment
  in a jointly controlled
  entity is represented by:
  Group's share of net

    assets 22,277,879   20,154,263   

Group Company

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

* Integrated National United Arab Warehousing and 50% 50%
 Logistics DWC-LLC Emirates     related value  

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

2017 2016
RM RM

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets    296,397,387    347,144,475 
Current assets      11,278,362      16,732,749 
Non-current liabilities   (158,782,010)   (202,639,104)
Current liabilities   (103,928,236)   (120,476,396)

Net assets      44,965,503      40,761,724 

Proportion of the ownership of the Group 50% 50%

Carrying amount of the investment in a jointly
controlled entities 22,277,879     20,154,263     

Results

Revenue 24,974,635     60,599,527     
Cost of sales (28,121,648)    (38,116,733)    

Gross (loss)/profit (3,147,013)      22,482,794     
Other income 124,473          337,120         
Administrative expenses (19,860,253)        (22,452,576)
Finance costs (8,169,705)           (9,732,492)

Loss before tax (31,052,498)         (9,365,154)
Tax expense -                    -                    

Loss for the financial year (31,052,498)    (9,365,154)     

Group's share of results     (15,526,249) (4,682,577)     

Group

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost
At 1 January/
  31 December 35,066,081   35,066,081   34,716,902   34,716,902   

Amount owing by a
  jointly controlled
  entity 46,830,750   30,158,522   46,830,750   30,158,522   

Less: Accumulated
impairment loss

At 1 January -                  -                  (16,175,655)  -                  
Addition -                  -                  (42,889,246)  (16,175,655)  
At 31 December -                  -                  (59,064,901)  (16,175,655)  

Share of results:
   At 1 January (45,791,961)  (41,109,384)  -                  -                  
   Additions (15,526,249)  (4,682,577)    -                  -                  
   At 31 December (61,318,210)  (45,791,961)  -                  -                  
Exchange differences 1,699,258     721,621       -                  -                  

22,277,879   20,154,263   22,482,751   48,699,769   

The Group's investment
  in a jointly controlled
  entity is represented by:
  Group's share of net

    assets 22,277,879   20,154,263   

Group Company

Country of Principal
Name of Company Incorporation Activities 2017 2016

* Integrated National United Arab Warehousing and 50% 50%
 Logistics DWC-LLC Emirates     related value  

 Effective Equity 
Interest 

2017 2016
RM RM

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets    296,397,387    347,144,475 
Current assets      11,278,362      16,732,749 
Non-current liabilities   (158,782,010)   (202,639,104)
Current liabilities   (103,928,236)   (120,476,396)

Net assets      44,965,503      40,761,724 

Proportion of the ownership of the Group 50% 50%

Carrying amount of the investment in a jointly
controlled entities 22,277,879     20,154,263     

Results

Revenue 24,974,635     60,599,527     
Cost of sales (28,121,648)    (38,116,733)    

Gross (loss)/profit (3,147,013)      22,482,794     
Other income 124,473          337,120         
Administrative expenses (19,860,253)        (22,452,576)
Finance costs (8,169,705)           (9,732,492)

Loss before tax (31,052,498)         (9,365,154)
Tax expense -                    -                    

Loss for the financial year (31,052,498)    (9,365,154)     

Group's share of results     (15,526,249) (4,682,577)     

Group
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16. OTHER INVESTMENTS

17. AMOUNTS OWING BY/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

 The amounts owing by subsidiaries are non-trade in nature and unsecured. These amounts are 
denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, bear effective interest at rates ranging from 2.76� to 3.31� (2016! 
2.55� to 3.01�) per annum and repayable commencing from year 2017.

 The amounts owing to subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, interest-free and repayable in the next 
12 month. Included in the amounts owing to subsidiaries is an amount of RM34,188,000 (2016! 
RM9,256,000) denominated in Hong Kong Dollar.

18. AMOUNT OWING BY A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

 The amount owing by a jointly controlled entity, INL, is denominated in United Arab Emirates 
Dirham, non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free except for an amount of RM60,604,500 (2016! 
RM67,171,500) which bears effective interest at a rate of 4.0� (2016! 4.0�) per annum and repayable 
commencing from year 2021.

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Non-current
Available-for-sale

financial assets
Golf club memberships
At 1 January 494,625       1,634,216     494,625       527,280       
Translation differences (13,915)        (84,940)        (13,915)        6,125           
Change in fair value (36,027)        (38,780)        (36,027)        (38,780)        
Less: Impairment loss (55,543)        -                  (55,543)        -                  
Disposal of subsidiaries
  (Note 13) -                  (1,015,871)    -                  -                  

At 31 December 389,140       494,625       389,140       494,625       

Current
Held for trading 
  investment
Short-term fund 20,445,371   17,443,664   20,445,371   17,443,664   
Market value of 
  quoted investments 20,445,371   17,443,664   20,445,371   17,443,664   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade receivables
- external parties 156,519       57,782         -                  -                  

Other receivables,
deposits and
prepayments (Note 20) 19,732,778   18,333,517   85,069,843   61,487,582   

19,889,297   18,391,299   85,069,843   61,487,582   

CompanyGroup

2017 2016
RM RM

Neither past due nor impaired 156,519       57,712         
61 to 90 days past due not impaired -                  70               

156,519       57,782         

Group
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19. RECEIVABLES

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Non-current
Available-for-sale

financial assets
Golf club memberships
At 1 January 494,625       1,634,216     494,625       527,280       
Translation differences (13,915)        (84,940)        (13,915)        6,125           
Change in fair value (36,027)        (38,780)        (36,027)        (38,780)        
Less: Impairment loss (55,543)        -                  (55,543)        -                  
Disposal of subsidiaries
  (Note 13) -                  (1,015,871)    -                  -                  

At 31 December 389,140       494,625       389,140       494,625       

Current
Held for trading 
  investment
Short-term fund 20,445,371   17,443,664   20,445,371   17,443,664   
Market value of 
  quoted investments 20,445,371   17,443,664   20,445,371   17,443,664   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade receivables
- external parties 156,519       57,782         -                  -                  

Other receivables,
deposits and
prepayments (Note 20) 19,732,778   18,333,517   85,069,843   61,487,582   

19,889,297   18,391,299   85,069,843   61,487,582   

CompanyGroup

2017 2016
RM RM

Neither past due nor impaired 156,519       57,712         
61 to 90 days past due not impaired -                  70               

156,519       57,782         

Group

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Non-current
Available-for-sale

financial assets
Golf club memberships
At 1 January 494,625       1,634,216     494,625       527,280       
Translation differences (13,915)        (84,940)        (13,915)        6,125           
Change in fair value (36,027)        (38,780)        (36,027)        (38,780)        
Less: Impairment loss (55,543)        -                  (55,543)        -                  
Disposal of subsidiaries
  (Note 13) -                  (1,015,871)    -                  -                  

At 31 December 389,140       494,625       389,140       494,625       

Current
Held for trading 
  investment
Short-term fund 20,445,371   17,443,664   20,445,371   17,443,664   
Market value of 
  quoted investments 20,445,371   17,443,664   20,445,371   17,443,664   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade receivables
- external parties 156,519       57,782         -                  -                  

Other receivables,
deposits and
prepayments (Note 20) 19,732,778   18,333,517   85,069,843   61,487,582   

19,889,297   18,391,299   85,069,843   61,487,582   

CompanyGroup

2017 2016
RM RM

Neither past due nor impaired 156,519       57,712         
61 to 90 days past due not impaired -                  70               

156,519       57,782         

Group

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days (2016! 30 to 90 days) 
credit terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair value on 
initial recognition.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows!

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment 
records with the Group.

None of the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated 
during the financial year.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

In the previous financial year, the Group had trade receivables amounting to RM70 that were past due 
at the reporting date but not impaired.

No impairment loss on trade receivables has been made as, in the opinion of the management, the 
debts would be collected in full within the next twelve months.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Other receivables from subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable 
on demand by cash.

Included in the amount owing by a jointly controlled entity of the Group and of the Company is 
an amount of RM11,433,063 (2016! RM9,985,070) representing interest receivable arising from the 
advances (Note 18) and denominated in United Arab Emirates Dirham.

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other receivables
- external parties 1,759,562     2,648,152     165,504       2,406,539     
- subsidiaries -                  -                  72,240,978   48,284,879   
- a jointly controlled
     entity 11,966,982   10,362,216   11,966,982   10,362,216   
- GST refundable 4,115,074     273,918       71,246         -                  

17,841,618   13,284,286   84,444,710   61,053,634   
Deposits 1,156,943     4,410,843     625,133       433,948       
Prepayments 734,217       638,388       -                  -                  

19,732,778   18,333,517   85,069,843   61,487,582   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Deposits with licensed
banks (Note (a)) 3,049,224     312,676        2,833,327    -                  

Time deposits (Note (b)) -                  807,338        -                 807,338       
Cash at banks and on

hand 30,830,214   51,131,991    1,415,632    7,219,786     
Cash and cash 

equivalents as 
reported in the 
statements of 
financial position 33,879,438   52,252,005    4,248,959    8,027,124     

Less: Time deposits (Note (b)) -                  (807,338)       -                 (807,338)      
Deposits with maturity

period more than

CompanyGroup

3 months (Note (a)) (832,560)    - (832,560) - 
Pledged bank

Cash and cash 
equivalents as 
reported in the 
statements of 
cash flows 32,830,981   51,235,033    3,416,399    7,219,786     

deposits (Note (a)) (215,897)    (209,634) - - 

2017 2016 2017 2016
Unit Unit RM RM

Issued and fully
paid up:

At 1 January 178,025,503 178,025,503 178,025,503   178,025,503    
Issued during the
  financial year 17,000,000   -                  13,549,000    -                     

195,025,503 178,025,503 191,574,503   178,025,503    
Transition to no-par 
  value regime:
- share premium -                  -                  15,096,203    -                     
- capital redemption 
   reserve -                  -                  19,000,000    -                     

-                  -                  34,096,203    -                     

At 31 December 195,025,503 178,025,503 225,670,706   178,025,503    

 shares <-------------Amount------------->
 Number of ordinary 

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other receivables
- external parties 1,759,562     2,648,152     165,504       2,406,539     
- subsidiaries -                  -                  72,240,978   48,284,879   
- a jointly controlled
     entity 11,966,982   10,362,216   11,966,982   10,362,216   
- GST refundable 4,115,074     273,918       71,246         -                  

17,841,618   13,284,286   84,444,710   61,053,634   
Deposits 1,156,943     4,410,843     625,133       433,948       
Prepayments 734,217       638,388       -                  -                  

19,732,778   18,333,517   85,069,843   61,487,582   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Deposits with licensed
banks (Note (a)) 3,049,224     312,676        2,833,327    -                  

Time deposits (Note (b)) -                  807,338        -                 807,338       
Cash at banks and on

hand 30,830,214   51,131,991    1,415,632    7,219,786     
Cash and cash 

equivalents as 
reported in the 
statements of 
financial position 33,879,438   52,252,005    4,248,959    8,027,124     

Less: Time deposits (Note (b)) -                  (807,338)       -                 (807,338)      
Deposits with maturity

period more than

CompanyGroup

3 months (Note (a)) (832,560)    - (832,560) - 
Pledged bank

Cash and cash 
equivalents as 
reported in the 
statements of 
cash flows 32,830,981   51,235,033    3,416,399    7,219,786     

deposits (Note (a)) (215,897)    (209,634) - - 

2017 2016 2017 2016
Unit Unit RM RM

Issued and fully
paid up:

At 1 January 178,025,503 178,025,503 178,025,503   178,025,503    
Issued during the
  financial year 17,000,000   -                  13,549,000    -                     

195,025,503 178,025,503 191,574,503   178,025,503    
Transition to no-par 
  value regime:
- share premium -                  -                  15,096,203    -                     
- capital redemption 
   reserve -                  -                  19,000,000    -                     

-                  -                  34,096,203    -                     

At 31 December 195,025,503 178,025,503 225,670,706   178,025,503    

 shares <-------------Amount------------->
 Number of ordinary 
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (cont’d)

22. SHARE CAPITAL

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other receivables
- external parties 1,759,562     2,648,152     165,504       2,406,539     
- subsidiaries -                  -                  72,240,978   48,284,879   
- a jointly controlled
     entity 11,966,982   10,362,216   11,966,982   10,362,216   
- GST refundable 4,115,074     273,918       71,246         -                  

17,841,618   13,284,286   84,444,710   61,053,634   
Deposits 1,156,943     4,410,843     625,133       433,948       
Prepayments 734,217       638,388       -                  -                  

19,732,778   18,333,517   85,069,843   61,487,582   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Deposits with licensed
banks (Note (a)) 3,049,224     312,676        2,833,327    -                  

Time deposits (Note (b)) -                  807,338        -                 807,338       
Cash at banks and on

hand 30,830,214   51,131,991    1,415,632    7,219,786     
Cash and cash 

equivalents as 
reported in the 
statements of 
financial position 33,879,438   52,252,005    4,248,959    8,027,124     

Less: Time deposits (Note (b)) -                  (807,338)       -                 (807,338)      
Deposits with maturity

period more than

CompanyGroup

3 months (Note (a)) (832,560)    - (832,560) - 
Pledged bank

Cash and cash 
equivalents as 
reported in the 
statements of 
cash flows 32,830,981   51,235,033    3,416,399    7,219,786     

deposits (Note (a)) (215,897)    (209,634) - - 

2017 2016 2017 2016
Unit Unit RM RM

Issued and fully
paid up:

At 1 January 178,025,503 178,025,503 178,025,503   178,025,503    
Issued during the
  financial year 17,000,000   -                  13,549,000    -                     

195,025,503 178,025,503 191,574,503   178,025,503    
Transition to no-par 
  value regime:
- share premium -                  -                  15,096,203    -                     
- capital redemption 
   reserve -                  -                  19,000,000    -                     

-                  -                  34,096,203    -                     

At 31 December 195,025,503 178,025,503 225,670,706   178,025,503    

 shares <-------------Amount------------->
 Number of ordinary 

(a) Deposits with licensed bank of the Group and of the Company bear interest rates ranging from 
1.75� to 3.10� (2016! 2.75� to 3.50�) per annum with maturity period ranging from 1 day to 
6 months.

 Included in the deposits with licensed banks of the Group is an amount of RM215,897 (2016! 
RM209,634) pledged for the Feed-in Approval granted by Sustainable Energy Development 
Authority Malaysia (“SEDA”).

(b) Time deposits of the Group were deposits placed with licensed bank for periods more than 3 
months and bore effective interest at a rate of 3.10� per annum.

(c) At the end of the financial year, the deposits with licensed banks and bank balances of the 
Group denominated in Renminbi (¸RMB¹), which are held in People Republic of China amounted 
to RM24,092,019 (2016! RM28,981,956). RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, 
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration 
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to 
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange 
business.

The Companies Act 2016 (the ¸Act¹), which came into operation on 31 January 2017, abolished the 
concept of authorised share capital and par value of share capital. ConseXuently, the amounts standing 
to the credit of the share premium account and capital redemption reserve of RM15,096,203 and 
RM19,000,000 respectively become part of the Company’s share capital pursuant to the transitional 
provisions set out in Section 618(2) of the Act. Notwithstanding this provision, the Company may 
within 24 months from the commencement of the Act, use the amounts standing to the credit of 
its share premium account and capital redemption reserve of RM15,096,203 and RM19,000,000 
respectively for purposes as set out in Section 618(3) of the Act. There is no impact on the number of 
ordinary shares in issue or the relative entitlement of any of the members as a result of this transition.



23. SHARE PREMIUM

24. TREASURY SHARES

25. RESERVES

Share premium comprises the premium paid on subscription of shares in the Company over and 
above the par values of the shares.

Pursuant to Section 618(2) of the Companies Act 2016, the sum of RM15,096,203 standing to 
the credit of the Company’s share premium account has been transferred and became part of the 
Company’s share capital as disclosed in Note 22.

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are repurchased and held by the 
Company. The amount consists of the acquisition costs of treasury shares net of the proceeds 
received on their subseXuent sale or issuance.

The shareholders of the Company, by an ordinary resolution passed in a general meeting held on 25 
April 2017, renewed their approval for the Company’s plan to repurchase its own ordinary shares. 
The directors of the Company believe that the repurchase plan are applied in the best interests of 
the Company and its shareholders. The share repurchases made to date were financed by internally 
generated funds and are being held as treasury shares in accordance with the reXuirement of Section 
127 of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company held a total of 5,288,275 treasury shares out of its 195,025,503 
total issued shares. Such treasury shares are held at a carrying amount of RM4,383,954 (2016! 
RM4,383,954).

There was no repurchase of the Company’s issued ordinary shares, nor any resale, cancellation or 
distribution of treasury share during the financial years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016.

(a) Asset revaluation reserve

 The asset revaluation reserve represents increase in the fair value of warehouse buildings and 
freehold land, net of tax, and decrease to the extent that such decrease relates to an increase on 
the same asset previously recognised in other comprehensive income.
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22. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as declared from 
time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank 
eXually with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

During the financial year, the Company issued 17,000,000 new ordinary shares at a price of RM0.797 per 
share under private placement amounting to RM13,549,000.

The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank pari passu in all respects with the existing 
ordinary shares of the Company. 
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25. RESERVES (cont’d)

26. TERM LOANS

(b) Statutory reserve fund

 In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law applicable to the subsidiaries in The People’s 
Republic of China (“PRC”), the subsidiaries are required to make appropriation to a Statutory 
Reserve Fund (¸SRF¹). At least 10� of the statutory income after tax profits as determined in 
accordance with the applicable PRC accounting standards and regulations must be allocated 
to the SRF until the cumulative total of the SRF reaches 50� of the subsidiary’s registered 
capital. Subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may be used to offset any 
accumulated losses or increase the registered capital of the subsidiary. The SRF is not available 
for dividend distribution to shareholders.

(c) Foreign exchange translation reserve

 The foreign exchange translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are 
different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

(d) Fair value reserve

 Fair value reserve represents the cumulative fair value changes, net of tax, of available-for-sale 
financial assets until they are disposed of or impaired.

(e) Other reserve 

 Other reserve represents the surplus arising from the change in ownership interest of a subsidiary 
of an associate, Hengyang Petrochemical Logistics Limited in the previous financial year. It is 
not distributable and the balance in other reserve will be recycled to the profit or loss when the 
associate is disposed.

(f) Capital redemption reserve

 Capital redemption reserve comprises mainly reserve arising from the cancellation of treasury 
shares.

 Pursuant to Section 618(2) of the Companies Act 2016, the sum of RM19,000,000 standing to 
the credit of the Company’s capital redemption reserve has been transferred and became part of 
the Company’s share capital as disclosed in Note 22.

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Non-current liabilities

Term loan 1 (a) 38,264,328  54,507,252  -                 -                 
Term loan 2 (b) 3,758,780    4,180,399    3,758,780    4,180,399    
Term loan 3 (c) 42,342,252  -                 -                 -                 

84,365,360  58,687,651  3,758,780    4,180,399    
Current liabilities

Term loan 1 (a) 10,932,665  10,542,555  -                 -                 
Term loan 2 (b) 420,052       398,621       420,052       398,621       
Term loan 3 (c) 1,760,000    -                 -                 -                 

13,112,717  10,941,176  420,052       398,621       

Total term loans 97,478,077  69,628,827  4,178,832    4,579,020    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Non-current liabilities

Term loans
More than 1 year but
  less than 2 years 13,230,789  12,531,405  439,835       418,682       
More than 2 years but
  less than 3 years 13,361,656  12,552,475  461,969       439,752       
More than 3 years but 
  less than 4 years 13,500,001  12,574,605  485,218       461,882       
More than 4 years but 
  less than 5 years 8,179,919    12,597,850  509,636       485,127       
More than 5 years 36,092,995  8,431,316    1,862,122    2,374,956    

84,365,360  58,687,651  3,758,780    4,180,399    
Current liabilities

Secured term loans 13,112,717  10,941,176  420,052       398,621       

97,478,077  69,628,827  4,178,832    4,579,020    

Group Company

2017 2016
RM RM

At 1 January 1,995,710        1,562,898        
Translation differences (145,779)         17,610            
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 8) 463,547          -                     
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) -                     (190,777)         
Provision on revaluation surplus 143,381          605,979          

At 31 December 2,456,859        1,995,710        

Group

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Deferred tax liabilities
Surplus arising from

revaluation of
warehouse buildings 1,339,335    1,341,733    -                 -                 

Differences between carrying
amount of property, plant
and equipment and
its tax base 6,094,231    -                 12,762         7,233          

Customer contract 622,835       653,977       -                 -                 

8,056,401    1,995,710    12,762         7,233          

Group Company



N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
–  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 7

121Integrated Logist ics Berhad (229690K)ANNUAL REPORT 2017

26. TERM LOANS (cont’d)

(a) Term loan 1

 The term loan 1 of a subsidiary is denominated in United States Dollar, bears interest at a rate of 
1.50� (2016! 1.50�) per annum above the Bank’s cost of fund and is repayable Xuarterly by 3 
instalments of USD500,000 followed by 20 instalments of USD675,000 each commencing from 
the 15th month from the first drawdown date.

 The term loan is secured by pledge of the Group’s land use rights (Note 11), warehouse buildings 
included in property, plant and eXuipment (Note 10), the trade receivables derived from those 
warehouses and corporate guarantee from immediate holding company.

(b) Term loan 2

 The term loan 2 of the Company bears interest at a rate of 4.88� (2016! 4.92�) per annum 
is repayable by monthly instalments of RM51,250 over 53 months and last instalment of the 
remaining loan balance, commencing from the day of full drawdown of the term loan.

 The term loan is secured by pledge of the Company’s freehold land and office building included 
in property, plant and equipment (Note 10).

(c) Term loan 3

 The term loan 3 of a subsidiary bears interest at a rate of 5.70� (2016! Nil) per annum is repayable 
by monthly instalments of RM352,000 over 131 months and last instalment of the remaining loan 
balance, commencing on the date first day of the 13th month from the date of first drawdown of 
the term loan or upon receiving income from the sales of electricity to Tenaga National Berhad, 
whichever is earlier.

 The term loan is secured by pledge of the subsidiary’s freehold land in property, plant and 
equipment (Note 10) and corporate guarantee from the ultimate holding company.

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Non-current liabilities

Term loan 1 (a) 38,264,328  54,507,252  -                 -                 
Term loan 2 (b) 3,758,780    4,180,399    3,758,780    4,180,399    
Term loan 3 (c) 42,342,252  -                 -                 -                 

84,365,360  58,687,651  3,758,780    4,180,399    
Current liabilities

Term loan 1 (a) 10,932,665  10,542,555  -                 -                 
Term loan 2 (b) 420,052       398,621       420,052       398,621       
Term loan 3 (c) 1,760,000    -                 -                 -                 

13,112,717  10,941,176  420,052       398,621       

Total term loans 97,478,077  69,628,827  4,178,832    4,579,020    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Non-current liabilities

Term loans
More than 1 year but
  less than 2 years 13,230,789  12,531,405  439,835       418,682       
More than 2 years but
  less than 3 years 13,361,656  12,552,475  461,969       439,752       
More than 3 years but 
  less than 4 years 13,500,001  12,574,605  485,218       461,882       
More than 4 years but 
  less than 5 years 8,179,919    12,597,850  509,636       485,127       
More than 5 years 36,092,995  8,431,316    1,862,122    2,374,956    

84,365,360  58,687,651  3,758,780    4,180,399    
Current liabilities

Secured term loans 13,112,717  10,941,176  420,052       398,621       

97,478,077  69,628,827  4,178,832    4,579,020    

Group Company

2017 2016
RM RM

At 1 January 1,995,710        1,562,898        
Translation differences (145,779)         17,610            
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 8) 463,547          -                     
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) -                     (190,777)         
Provision on revaluation surplus 143,381          605,979          

At 31 December 2,456,859        1,995,710        

Group

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Deferred tax liabilities
Surplus arising from

revaluation of
warehouse buildings 1,339,335    1,341,733    -                 -                 

Differences between carrying
amount of property, plant
and equipment and
its tax base 6,094,231    -                 12,762         7,233          

Customer contract 622,835       653,977       -                 -                 

8,056,401    1,995,710    12,762         7,233          

Group Company
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27. LOANS FROM CORPORATE SHAREHOLDERS

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

(a) The unsecured loan from Shun Hing China Investments Limited, a corporate shareholder of 
a subsidiary, amounting to RM8,178,931 (2016! RM9,134,193) is denominated in Hong Kong 
Dollar, is non-trade in nature and bears interest rates ranging from 2.76� to 3.31� (2016! 2.55� 
to 3.01%) per annum. The unsecured loan is extended for a period of 2 years upon its maturity 
on 31 December 2017 and is automatically rolled over for another period of 2 years subseXuent 
to each maturity unless otherwise informed by the corporate shareholder.

(b) The unsecured loan from Jiangsu Etern Logistic Development Co. Limited, a corporate 
shareholder of a subsidiary, amounting to RM5,871,500 (2016! RM6,127,532) is denominated in 
Renminbi, is non-trade in nature and bears interest at a rate of 5� (2016! 5�) per annum. The 
loan period is from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2017 without fixed repayment term.

(c) The loan from Shun Hing China Investment Limited, a corporate shareholding of a subsidiary, 
amounting to RM25,900,000 (2016! Nil) is denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, is secured by 
pledged of the shares of a subsidiary and bears interest at HIBOR plus 3% per annum. The 
repayment date shall be 30 September 2018 unless otherwise selected by the subsidiary and 
notified to Shun Hing China Investment Limited prior to such date.

This is in respect of estimated deferred tax liabilities/(assets) arising from temporary differences as 
follows!

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Non-current liabilities

Term loan 1 (a) 38,264,328  54,507,252  -                 -                 
Term loan 2 (b) 3,758,780    4,180,399    3,758,780    4,180,399    
Term loan 3 (c) 42,342,252  -                 -                 -                 

84,365,360  58,687,651  3,758,780    4,180,399    
Current liabilities

Term loan 1 (a) 10,932,665  10,542,555  -                 -                 
Term loan 2 (b) 420,052       398,621       420,052       398,621       
Term loan 3 (c) 1,760,000    -                 -                 -                 

13,112,717  10,941,176  420,052       398,621       

Total term loans 97,478,077  69,628,827  4,178,832    4,579,020    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Non-current liabilities

Term loans
More than 1 year but
  less than 2 years 13,230,789  12,531,405  439,835       418,682       
More than 2 years but
  less than 3 years 13,361,656  12,552,475  461,969       439,752       
More than 3 years but 
  less than 4 years 13,500,001  12,574,605  485,218       461,882       
More than 4 years but 
  less than 5 years 8,179,919    12,597,850  509,636       485,127       
More than 5 years 36,092,995  8,431,316    1,862,122    2,374,956    

84,365,360  58,687,651  3,758,780    4,180,399    
Current liabilities

Secured term loans 13,112,717  10,941,176  420,052       398,621       

97,478,077  69,628,827  4,178,832    4,579,020    

Group Company

2017 2016
RM RM

At 1 January 1,995,710        1,562,898        
Translation differences (145,779)         17,610            
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 8) 463,547          -                     
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) -                     (190,777)         
Provision on revaluation surplus 143,381          605,979          

At 31 December 2,456,859        1,995,710        

Group

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Deferred tax liabilities
Surplus arising from

revaluation of
warehouse buildings 1,339,335    1,341,733    -                 -                 

Differences between carrying
amount of property, plant
and equipment and
its tax base 6,094,231    -                 12,762         7,233          

Customer contract 622,835       653,977       -                 -                 

8,056,401    1,995,710    12,762         7,233          

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
Note RM RM RM RM

Non-current liabilities

Term loan 1 (a) 38,264,328  54,507,252  -                 -                 
Term loan 2 (b) 3,758,780    4,180,399    3,758,780    4,180,399    
Term loan 3 (c) 42,342,252  -                 -                 -                 

84,365,360  58,687,651  3,758,780    4,180,399    
Current liabilities

Term loan 1 (a) 10,932,665  10,542,555  -                 -                 
Term loan 2 (b) 420,052       398,621       420,052       398,621       
Term loan 3 (c) 1,760,000    -                 -                 -                 

13,112,717  10,941,176  420,052       398,621       

Total term loans 97,478,077  69,628,827  4,178,832    4,579,020    

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Non-current liabilities

Term loans
More than 1 year but
  less than 2 years 13,230,789  12,531,405  439,835       418,682       
More than 2 years but
  less than 3 years 13,361,656  12,552,475  461,969       439,752       
More than 3 years but 
  less than 4 years 13,500,001  12,574,605  485,218       461,882       
More than 4 years but 
  less than 5 years 8,179,919    12,597,850  509,636       485,127       
More than 5 years 36,092,995  8,431,316    1,862,122    2,374,956    

84,365,360  58,687,651  3,758,780    4,180,399    
Current liabilities

Secured term loans 13,112,717  10,941,176  420,052       398,621       

97,478,077  69,628,827  4,178,832    4,579,020    

Group Company

2017 2016
RM RM

At 1 January 1,995,710        1,562,898        
Translation differences (145,779)         17,610            
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 8) 463,547          -                     
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) -                     (190,777)         
Provision on revaluation surplus 143,381          605,979          

At 31 December 2,456,859        1,995,710        

Group

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Deferred tax liabilities
Surplus arising from

revaluation of
warehouse buildings 1,339,335    1,341,733    -                 -                 

Differences between carrying
amount of property, plant
and equipment and
its tax base 6,094,231    -                 12,762         7,233          

Customer contract 622,835       653,977       -                 -                 

8,056,401    1,995,710    12,762         7,233          

Group Company
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28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (cont’d)

This is in respect of estimated deferred tax liabilities/(assets) arising from temporary differences as 
follows! (cont’d)

Pursuant to the China Enterprise Income Tax Law, a 10� withholding tax is levied on dividends 
declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The 
reXuirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. The 
Group is liable for withholding taxes at 5� on dividends from subsidiaries established in the PRC in 
respect of earnings generated since 1 January 2009.

The estimated temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised in the 
financial statements are as follows!

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Deferred tax assets
Unabsorbed capital 

allowances (5,593,672)   -                 (1,550)         -                 
Unutilised business losses (5,870)         -                 -                 -                 
Provisions for employee

benefits -                 -                 (11,212)        (7,233)         

(5,599,542)   -                 (12,762)        (7,233)         

2,456,859    1,995,710    -                 -                 

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unutilised tax losses 7,759,640     8,019,167     -                  -                  
Deductible temporary 

differences in respect 
of expenses -                  19,988         -                  19,988         

Unabsorbed capital 
allowances claimed
on property, plant 
and equipment 46,685         -                  46,685         -                  

7,806,325     8,039,155     46,685         19,988         

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade payables 41,702         39,700         -                  -                  
Other payables, deposits
  and accruals (Note 30) 12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       
Provisions (Note 31) 46,721         50,123         46,721         50,123         

12,513,099   17,063,378   222,072       709,166       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other payables
- external parties 1,976,791     8,313,513     3,049           6,110           
- corporate shareholders 1,374,091     1,189,039     -                  -                  
- an associate 57,968         57,968         57,968         57,968         
- GST payable -                  77,173         -                  77,173         

3,408,850     9,637,693     61,017         141,251       
Rental and utilities 

deposits 5,007,614     4,790,344     -                  -                  
Accruals 4,008,212     2,545,518     114,334       517,792       

12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016
RM RM

Employee benefits
At 1 January 50,123            29,127            
(Reversal)/Provision made during the financial year (3,402)             20,996            

At 31 December 46,721            50,123            

Group/Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Recognised during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares
- Single tier interim dividend of 2.5% per ordinary share
     in respect of financial year ended 31 December 2015 -                 4,318,435    

Group/Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Deferred tax assets
Unabsorbed capital 

allowances (5,593,672)   -                 (1,550)         -                 
Unutilised business losses (5,870)         -                 -                 -                 
Provisions for employee

benefits -                 -                 (11,212)        (7,233)         

(5,599,542)   -                 (12,762)        (7,233)         

2,456,859    1,995,710    -                 -                 

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unutilised tax losses 7,759,640     8,019,167     -                  -                  
Deductible temporary 

differences in respect 
of expenses -                  19,988         -                  19,988         

Unabsorbed capital 
allowances claimed
on property, plant 
and equipment 46,685         -                  46,685         -                  

7,806,325     8,039,155     46,685         19,988         

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade payables 41,702         39,700         -                  -                  
Other payables, deposits
  and accruals (Note 30) 12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       
Provisions (Note 31) 46,721         50,123         46,721         50,123         

12,513,099   17,063,378   222,072       709,166       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other payables
- external parties 1,976,791     8,313,513     3,049           6,110           
- corporate shareholders 1,374,091     1,189,039     -                  -                  
- an associate 57,968         57,968         57,968         57,968         
- GST payable -                  77,173         -                  77,173         

3,408,850     9,637,693     61,017         141,251       
Rental and utilities 

deposits 5,007,614     4,790,344     -                  -                  
Accruals 4,008,212     2,545,518     114,334       517,792       

12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016
RM RM

Employee benefits
At 1 January 50,123            29,127            
(Reversal)/Provision made during the financial year (3,402)             20,996            

At 31 December 46,721            50,123            

Group/Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Recognised during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares
- Single tier interim dividend of 2.5% per ordinary share
     in respect of financial year ended 31 December 2015 -                 4,318,435    

Group/Company



2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Deferred tax assets
Unabsorbed capital 

allowances (5,593,672)   -                 (1,550)         -                 
Unutilised business losses (5,870)         -                 -                 -                 
Provisions for employee

benefits -                 -                 (11,212)        (7,233)         

(5,599,542)   -                 (12,762)        (7,233)         

2,456,859    1,995,710    -                 -                 

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unutilised tax losses 7,759,640     8,019,167     -                  -                  
Deductible temporary 

differences in respect 
of expenses -                  19,988         -                  19,988         

Unabsorbed capital 
allowances claimed
on property, plant 
and equipment 46,685         -                  46,685         -                  

7,806,325     8,039,155     46,685         19,988         

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade payables 41,702         39,700         -                  -                  
Other payables, deposits
  and accruals (Note 30) 12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       
Provisions (Note 31) 46,721         50,123         46,721         50,123         

12,513,099   17,063,378   222,072       709,166       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other payables
- external parties 1,976,791     8,313,513     3,049           6,110           
- corporate shareholders 1,374,091     1,189,039     -                  -                  
- an associate 57,968         57,968         57,968         57,968         
- GST payable -                  77,173         -                  77,173         

3,408,850     9,637,693     61,017         141,251       
Rental and utilities 

deposits 5,007,614     4,790,344     -                  -                  
Accruals 4,008,212     2,545,518     114,334       517,792       

12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016
RM RM

Employee benefits
At 1 January 50,123            29,127            
(Reversal)/Provision made during the financial year (3,402)             20,996            

At 31 December 46,721            50,123            

Group/Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Recognised during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares
- Single tier interim dividend of 2.5% per ordinary share
     in respect of financial year ended 31 December 2015 -                 4,318,435    

Group/Company
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29. PAYABLES

30. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS AND ACCRUALS

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Deferred tax assets
Unabsorbed capital 

allowances (5,593,672)   -                 (1,550)         -                 
Unutilised business losses (5,870)         -                 -                 -                 
Provisions for employee

benefits -                 -                 (11,212)        (7,233)         

(5,599,542)   -                 (12,762)        (7,233)         

2,456,859    1,995,710    -                 -                 

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unutilised tax losses 7,759,640     8,019,167     -                  -                  
Deductible temporary 

differences in respect 
of expenses -                  19,988         -                  19,988         

Unabsorbed capital 
allowances claimed
on property, plant 
and equipment 46,685         -                  46,685         -                  

7,806,325     8,039,155     46,685         19,988         

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade payables 41,702         39,700         -                  -                  
Other payables, deposits
  and accruals (Note 30) 12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       
Provisions (Note 31) 46,721         50,123         46,721         50,123         

12,513,099   17,063,378   222,072       709,166       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other payables
- external parties 1,976,791     8,313,513     3,049           6,110           
- corporate shareholders 1,374,091     1,189,039     -                  -                  
- an associate 57,968         57,968         57,968         57,968         
- GST payable -                  77,173         -                  77,173         

3,408,850     9,637,693     61,017         141,251       
Rental and utilities 

deposits 5,007,614     4,790,344     -                  -                  
Accruals 4,008,212     2,545,518     114,334       517,792       

12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016
RM RM

Employee benefits
At 1 January 50,123            29,127            
(Reversal)/Provision made during the financial year (3,402)             20,996            

At 31 December 46,721            50,123            

Group/Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Recognised during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares
- Single tier interim dividend of 2.5% per ordinary share
     in respect of financial year ended 31 December 2015 -                 4,318,435    

Group/Company

The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group and the Company ranges from 45 to 60 days 
(2016! 45 to 60 days). 

Other payables from corporate shareholders and an associate are non-trade in nature, unsecured, 
interest-free and are repayable on demand by cash.



2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Deferred tax assets
Unabsorbed capital 

allowances (5,593,672)   -                 (1,550)         -                 
Unutilised business losses (5,870)         -                 -                 -                 
Provisions for employee

benefits -                 -                 (11,212)        (7,233)         

(5,599,542)   -                 (12,762)        (7,233)         

2,456,859    1,995,710    -                 -                 

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unutilised tax losses 7,759,640     8,019,167     -                  -                  
Deductible temporary 

differences in respect 
of expenses -                  19,988         -                  19,988         

Unabsorbed capital 
allowances claimed
on property, plant 
and equipment 46,685         -                  46,685         -                  

7,806,325     8,039,155     46,685         19,988         

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade payables 41,702         39,700         -                  -                  
Other payables, deposits
  and accruals (Note 30) 12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       
Provisions (Note 31) 46,721         50,123         46,721         50,123         

12,513,099   17,063,378   222,072       709,166       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other payables
- external parties 1,976,791     8,313,513     3,049           6,110           
- corporate shareholders 1,374,091     1,189,039     -                  -                  
- an associate 57,968         57,968         57,968         57,968         
- GST payable -                  77,173         -                  77,173         

3,408,850     9,637,693     61,017         141,251       
Rental and utilities 

deposits 5,007,614     4,790,344     -                  -                  
Accruals 4,008,212     2,545,518     114,334       517,792       

12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016
RM RM

Employee benefits
At 1 January 50,123            29,127            
(Reversal)/Provision made during the financial year (3,402)             20,996            

At 31 December 46,721            50,123            

Group/Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Recognised during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares
- Single tier interim dividend of 2.5% per ordinary share
     in respect of financial year ended 31 December 2015 -                 4,318,435    

Group/Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Group Company

Deferred tax assets
Unabsorbed capital 

allowances (5,593,672)   -                 (1,550)         -                 
Unutilised business losses (5,870)         -                 -                 -                 
Provisions for employee

benefits -                 -                 (11,212)        (7,233)         

(5,599,542)   -                 (12,762)        (7,233)         

2,456,859    1,995,710    -                 -                 

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Unutilised tax losses 7,759,640     8,019,167     -                  -                  
Deductible temporary 

differences in respect 
of expenses -                  19,988         -                  19,988         

Unabsorbed capital 
allowances claimed
on property, plant 
and equipment 46,685         -                  46,685         -                  

7,806,325     8,039,155     46,685         19,988         

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Trade payables 41,702         39,700         -                  -                  
Other payables, deposits
  and accruals (Note 30) 12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       
Provisions (Note 31) 46,721         50,123         46,721         50,123         

12,513,099   17,063,378   222,072       709,166       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other payables
- external parties 1,976,791     8,313,513     3,049           6,110           
- corporate shareholders 1,374,091     1,189,039     -                  -                  
- an associate 57,968         57,968         57,968         57,968         
- GST payable -                  77,173         -                  77,173         

3,408,850     9,637,693     61,017         141,251       
Rental and utilities 

deposits 5,007,614     4,790,344     -                  -                  
Accruals 4,008,212     2,545,518     114,334       517,792       

12,424,676   16,973,555   175,351       659,043       

CompanyGroup

2017 2016
RM RM

Employee benefits
At 1 January 50,123            29,127            
(Reversal)/Provision made during the financial year (3,402)             20,996            

At 31 December 46,721            50,123            

Group/Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Recognised during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares
- Single tier interim dividend of 2.5% per ordinary share
     in respect of financial year ended 31 December 2015 -                 4,318,435    

Group/Company
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31. PROVISIONS 

32. DIVIDENDS

33. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Employee benefits are in respect of short-term accumulating compensated absences for employees 
of the Group and of the Company.

The provision is made based on the number of days of outstanding compensated absences of each 
employee multiplied by their respective salary/wages as at the end of the financial year.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business segments based on their services 
and has three reportable operating segments as follows!

(i) Warehousing and related value added services - rental of warehouses, handling and providing  
   logistics solution services

(ii) Transportation and distribution - trucking and container haulage

(iii) Solar energy and related businesses - solar power plant

Other non-reportable segments comprise of investment holding, renewable energy and dormant 
companies, which are below the Xuantitative thresholds for determining reportable segments.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on negotiated terms.

Management monitors the operating results of its business segments separately for the purpose of 
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is 
evaluated based on operating profit or loss which, in certain respects is measured differently from 
operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Segment assets and liabilities information are neither included in the internal management reports 
nor provided regularly to the management. Hence, no disclosures are made on segment assets and 
liabilities.
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33. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

(a) Operating Segments �Font’G�

(b) Geographical Segments

A There is no inter-segment revenues.

B Other non-cash (income)/expenses consist of the following!

The Group operates in three principal geographical areas of the world!

(i) Malaysia
(ii) The People’s Republic of China (including Hong Kong)
(iii) United Arab Emirates

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on 
geographical location of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of 
the assets. The amounts of non-current assets do not include financial instruments (including 
interests in associates and a jointly controlled entity) and deferred tax assets.

C The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment profit/(loss) to arrive at ¸(Loss)/
Profit before tax¹ presented in the statements of comprehensive income!

2017 2016
RM RM

Impairment loss on fair value of other investment 55,543          -                   
    dna tnalp ,ytreporpfo lasopsid no ssoL/)niaG( (112,219)       280              

equipment
Gain on unrealised foreign exchange (3,140,155)    (7,081)           
Property, plant and equipment written off 27                -                   
(Reversal)/Provision for employee benefits (3,402)           20,996          

(3,200,206)    14,195          

2017 2016
RM RM

Share of results of associates 19,051,320    (11,803,484)   
Share of results of a jointly controlled entity (15,526,249)   (4,682,577)    

3,525,071     (16,486,061)   

Group

2017 2016
RM RM

Malaysia 1,532,109        520,000          
The People's Republic of China (including

Hong Kong) 14,774,823      21,133,158      

 16,306,932      21,653,158      

Revenue

Non-current assets
2017 2016

RM RM

Malaysia 123,912,063    57,776,682      
The People's Republic of China (including

Hong Kong) 144,810,613    151,593,900    

268,722,676    209,370,582    

2017 2016
RM RM

Property, plant and equipment 250,178,327    189,595,495    
Land use rights 15,949,202      17,050,183      
Intangible assets 2,595,147        2,724,904        

268,722,676    209,370,582    

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Approved and contracted 
  for, but not provided for:
- construction of

warehouse buildings 975,912      3,838,347   -                -               
- office building 93,765        583,859      93,765       583,859     
- share of a jointly 

controlled entity's 
capital commitments
in relation to 
enhancement
of logistics warehouse
facility -                 474,683      -                -               

1,069,677    4,896,889   93,765       583,859     

Group Company
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33. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

34. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

Non-current assets information presented above consist of the following items as presented in 
the statements of financial position!

For warehousing segment, revenue from two (2016! one) major individual customers represented 
approximately RM14.1 million (2016! RM11.5 million) for the Group’s total revenue.

(b) Geographical Segments (cont’d)

(a) Capital commitments

(c) Major Customers
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34. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS (cont’d)

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

36. RELATED PARTIES

The Group had contracted with lessees under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of 
the Group’s warehouse buildings. As at the end of the financial year, the future minimum lease 
payments receivable by the Group under the non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants 
are as follows!

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group 
and the Company if the Group and the Company have the ability to directly control the party or 
exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decision, or vice 
versa, or where the Group and the Company and the party are subject to common control or 
common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. The Company 
has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, associate, director related companies and 
key management personnel. Director related companies refer to companies in which directors 
of the Company have substantial financial interests.

Significant related party transactions are as follows!

(b) Operating lease commitments – as lessor

�D�� ,GHQWLI\�RI�UHODWHG�SDUWLHV

�E�� 6LJQLÀFDQW�UHODWHG�SDUW\�WUDQVDFWLRQV

The Company is contingently liable for corporate guarantees granted to financial institutions to secure 
credit facilities granted to subsidiaries and a jointly controlled entity amounting to RM93,299,246 
(2016! RM65,049,807) and RM28,665,929 (2016! RM44,461,427) respectively.

2017 2016
RM RM

Within one year 13,968,378      11,174,513      
Between two to five years 51,487,506      46,035,115      
Over five years 42,036,250      50,193,120                     

107,492,134    107,402,748    

Group

2017 2016
RM RM

(Received or receivable from)/Paid or payable
to subsidiaries

- Interest (369,346)       (1,022,664)    
- Sale of freehold land -                   (32,100,000)   
- Waiver of amount owing by a subsidiary -                   4,117,517     

Company

(Received or receivable from)/Paid or payable to
a jointly controlled entity

- Interest (2,544,137)    (2,479,964)    

(Received or receivable from)/Paid or payable
to an associate

- Rental of premises 656,242        656,242        
- Secretarial fee (1,440)           (1,430)           
- Dividend -                   (5,000,000)    

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other key management
personnel:

Short-term employee
  benefits 673,921      764,158      601,730      622,583      
Post-employment benefits 62,520        57,510        53,940        57,510        

736,441      821,668      655,670      680,093      

Group Company
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36. RELATED PARTIES (cont’d)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

�E�� 6LJQLÀFDQW�UHODWHG�SDUW\�WUDQVDFWLRQV (cont’d)

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use 
of financial instruments. The key financial risks include foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk.

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, 
which are exercised by the Executive Directors and the Financial Controller. The Audit Committee 
provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process.

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to the financial risks and the objectives, policies and 
processes put in place to manage these risks are discussed below.

�F�� &RPSHQVDWLRQ�RI�WKH�NH\�PDQDJHPHQW�SHUVRQQHO

Significant related party transactions are as follows! (cont’d)

Key management personnel include personnel having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including any director of the Company. 

The remuneration of the key management personnel other than those as disclosed in Note 7 is 
as follows!
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RM RM
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Group Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Within one year 13,968,378      11,174,513      
Between two to five years 51,487,506      46,035,115      
Over five years 42,036,250      50,193,120                     

107,492,134    107,402,748    

Group

2017 2016
RM RM

(Received or receivable from)/Paid or payable
to subsidiaries

- Interest (369,346)       (1,022,664)    
- Sale of freehold land -                   (32,100,000)   
- Waiver of amount owing by a subsidiary -                   4,117,517     

Company

(Received or receivable from)/Paid or payable to
a jointly controlled entity

- Interest (2,544,137)    (2,479,964)    

(Received or receivable from)/Paid or payable
to an associate

- Rental of premises 656,242        656,242        
- Secretarial fee (1,440)           (1,430)           
- Dividend -                   (5,000,000)    

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other key management
personnel:

Short-term employee
  benefits 673,921      764,158      601,730      622,583      
Post-employment benefits 62,520        57,510        53,940        57,510        

736,441      821,668      655,670      680,093      

Group Company

2017 2016
RM RM

Within one year 13,968,378      11,174,513      
Between two to five years 51,487,506      46,035,115      
Over five years 42,036,250      50,193,120                     

107,492,134    107,402,748    

Group

2017 2016
RM RM

(Received or receivable from)/Paid or payable
to subsidiaries

- Interest (369,346)       (1,022,664)    
- Sale of freehold land -                   (32,100,000)   
- Waiver of amount owing by a subsidiary -                   4,117,517     

Company

(Received or receivable from)/Paid or payable to
a jointly controlled entity

- Interest (2,544,137)    (2,479,964)    

(Received or receivable from)/Paid or payable
to an associate

- Rental of premises 656,242        656,242        
- Secretarial fee (1,440)           (1,430)           
- Dividend -                   (5,000,000)    

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Other key management
personnel:

Short-term employee
  benefits 673,921      764,158      601,730      622,583      
Post-employment benefits 62,520        57,510        53,940        57,510        

736,441      821,668      655,670      680,093      

Group Company



N
O

T
E

S
 T

O
 T

H
E

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

– 
31

 D
E

C
E

M
B

E
R

 2
01

713
1

In
te

gr
at

ed
 L

og
is

tic
s 

B
er

ha
d 

(2
29

69
0K

)
A

N
N

U
A

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

20
17

37
. 

FI
N

AN
C

IA
L 

R
IS

K
 M

AN
AG

EM
EN

T 
O

B
JE

C
TI

VE
S 

AN
D

 P
O

LI
C

IE
S 

(c
on

t’d
)

�D
��

)R
UH
LJ
Q�
&
XU
UH
QF

\�
R
LV
N

Fo
re

ig
n 

cu
rre

nc
y 

ris
k 

is
 th

e 
ris

k 
th

at
 th

e 
fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

or
 fu

tu
re

 c
as

h 
flo

w
s 

of
 a

 fi
na

nc
ia

l i
ns

tru
m

en
t w

ill
 fl

uc
tu

at
e 

be
ca

us
e 

of
 c

ha
ng

es
 in

 fo
re

ig
n 

ex
ch

an
ge

 ra
te

s.

Th
e 

G
ro

up
’s

 e
xp

os
ur

e 
to

 t
he

 r
is

k 
of

 c
ha

ng
es

 in
 fo

re
ig

n 
ex

ch
an

ge
 r

at
es

 r
el

at
es

 p
rim

ar
ily

 t
o 

th
e 

G
ro

up
’s

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 (w

he
n 

sa
le

s,
 p

ur
ch

as
es

 a
nd

 
bo

rro
w

in
gs

) t
ha

t a
re

 d
en

om
in

at
ed

 in
 a

 fo
re

ig
n 

cu
rre

nc
y 

an
d 

th
e 

G
ro

up
’s

 n
et

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 in
 fo

re
ig

n 
su

bs
id

ia
rie

s.

Fo
re

ig
n 

ex
ch

an
ge

 e
xp

os
ur

es
 in

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s 

ot
he

r t
ha

n 
fu

nc
tio

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s 
of

 th
e 

op
er

at
in

g 
en

tit
ie

s 
ar

e 
ke

pt
 to

 a
n 

ac
ce

pt
ab

le
 le

ve
l. 

Th
e 

G
ro

up
’s

 a
nd

 th
e 

C
om

pa
ny

’s
 u

nh
ed

ge
d 

fin
an

ci
al

 a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
of

 th
e 

G
ro

up
 a

nd
 o

f t
he

 C
om

pa
ny

 th
at

 a
re

 n
ot

 d
en

om
in

at
ed

 in
 th

ei
r 

fu
nc

tio
na

l 
cu

rre
nc

ie
s 

ar
e 

as
 fo

llo
w

s!

C
hi

ne
se

R
in

gg
it

R
in

gg
it

R
en

m
in

bi
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
7

Fu
nc

tio
na

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
no

t h
el

d 
in

 fu
nc

tio
na

l
  c

ur
re

nc
ie

s:

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

52
,5

77
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

52
,5

77
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

O
th

er
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

88
9,

08
2

   
   

   
 

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

1,
16

3,
21

6
   

   
  

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
11

,4
33

,0
63

   
   

11
,4

33
,0

63
   

   
11

,4
33

,0
63

   
   

11
,4

33
,0

63
   

   

88
9,

08
2

   
   

   
 

11
,7

07
,1

97
   

   
12

,5
96

,2
79

   
   

11
,7

07
,1

97
   

   
11

,7
07

,1
97

   
   

C
as

h 
an

d 
ca

sh
 e

qu
iv

al
en

ts
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

24
,0

91
,0

91
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

24
,0

91
,0

91
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

1,
81

8,
83

1
   

   
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

1,
83

9,
29

8
   

   
  

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

25
,9

09
,9

22
   

  
20

,4
67

   
   

   
  

 
25

,9
30

,3
89

   
   

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

G
ro

up
<-

---
---

---
--F

un
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s-

---
---

---
---

-->
C

om
pa

ny
<-

---
-F

un
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s-

---
>

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

11
,9

46
,2

28
   

   
11

,9
46

,2
28

   
   

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 a

 jo
in

tly
 c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
en

tit
y

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
80

,1
01

,2
83

   
   

80
,1

01
,2

83
   

   
80

,1
01

,2
83

   
   

80
,1

01
,2

83
   

   

O
th

er
 p

ay
ab

le
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
(2

08
,9

73
)

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(2

08
,9

73
)

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

U
ni

te
d 

St
at

es
 D

ol
la

r
(7

,8
80

,2
77

)
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(7
,8

80
,2

77
)

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

(8
,0

89
,2

50
)

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(8

,0
89

,2
50

)
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

Te
rm

 lo
an

s
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

(4
9,

19
6,

99
3)

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(4

9,
19

6,
99

3)
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

to
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(3
4,

18
8,

00
0)

   
  

(3
4,

18
8,

00
0)

   
  

C
hi

ne
se

R
in

gg
it

R
in

gg
it

R
en

m
in

bi
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
6

Fu
nc

tio
na

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
no

t h
el

d 
in

 fu
nc

tio
na

l
  c

ur
re

nc
ie

s:

O
th

er
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

5,
16

5
   

   
   

   
 

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

13
8,

12
5

   
   

   
  

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  

5,
16

5
   

   
   

   
 

10
,1

18
,0

30
   

   
10

,1
23

,1
95

   
   

10
,1

18
,0

30
   

   
10

,1
18

,0
30

   
   

C
as

h 
an

d 
ca

sh
 e

qu
iv

al
en

ts
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

10
,9

42
,5

95
   

  
22

,4
89

   
   

   
  

 
10

,9
65

,0
84

   
   

22
,4

89
   

   
   

  
 

22
,4

89
   

   
   

  
 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

13
,3

41
,4

92
   

   
13

,3
41

,4
92

   
   

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 a

 jo
in

tly
 c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
en

tit
y

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 

O
th

er
 p

ay
ab

le
s

U
ni

te
d 

St
at

es
 D

ol
la

r
(1

0,
95

0)
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(1
0,

95
0)

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

Te
rm

 lo
an

s
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

(6
5,

04
9,

80
7)

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(6

5,
04

9,
80

7)
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

to
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(9
,2

56
,0

00
)

   
   

 
(9

,2
56

,0
00

)
   

   
 

<-
---

---
---

--F
un

ct
io

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s-
---

---
---

---
-->

<-
---

-F
un

ct
io

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s-
---

>
G

ro
up

C
om

pa
ny



N
O

T
E

S
 T

O
 T

H
E

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

– 
31

 D
E

C
E

M
B

E
R

 2
01

713
2

In
te

gr
at

ed
 L

og
is

tic
s 

B
er

ha
d 

(2
29

69
0K

)
A

N
N

U
A

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

20
17

37
. 

FI
N

AN
C

IA
L 

R
IS

K
 M

AN
AG

EM
EN

T 
O

B
JE

C
TI

VE
S 

AN
D

 P
O

LI
C

IE
S 

(c
on

t’d
)

�D
��

)R
UH
LJ
Q�
&
XU
UH
QF

\�
R
LV
N 

(c
on

t’d
)

Th
e 

G
ro

up
’s

 a
nd

 th
e 

C
om

pa
ny

’s
 u

nh
ed

ge
d 

fin
an

ci
al

 a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
of

 th
e 

G
ro

up
 a

nd
 o

f t
he

 C
om

pa
ny

 th
at

 a
re

 n
ot

 d
en

om
in

at
ed

 in
 th

ei
r 

fu
nc

tio
na

l 
cu

rre
nc

ie
s 

ar
e 

as
 fo

llo
w

s!
 (c

on
t’d

)

C
hi

ne
se

R
in

gg
it

R
in

gg
it

R
en

m
in

bi
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
7

Fu
nc

tio
na

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
no

t h
el

d 
in

 fu
nc

tio
na

l
  c

ur
re

nc
ie

s:

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

52
,5

77
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

52
,5

77
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

O
th

er
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

88
9,

08
2

   
   

   
 

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

1,
16

3,
21

6
   

   
  

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
11

,4
33

,0
63

   
   

11
,4

33
,0

63
   

   
11

,4
33

,0
63

   
   

11
,4

33
,0

63
   

   

88
9,

08
2

   
   

   
 

11
,7

07
,1

97
   

   
12

,5
96

,2
79

   
   

11
,7

07
,1

97
   

   
11

,7
07

,1
97

   
   

C
as

h 
an

d 
ca

sh
 e

qu
iv

al
en

ts
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

24
,0

91
,0

91
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

24
,0

91
,0

91
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

1,
81

8,
83

1
   

   
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

1,
83

9,
29

8
   

   
  

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

25
,9

09
,9

22
   

  
20

,4
67

   
   

   
  

 
25

,9
30

,3
89

   
   

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

G
ro

up
<-

---
---

---
--F

un
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s-

---
---

---
---

-->
C

om
pa

ny
<-

---
-F

un
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s-

---
>

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

11
,9

46
,2

28
   

   
11

,9
46

,2
28

   
   

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 a

 jo
in

tly
 c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
en

tit
y

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
80

,1
01

,2
83

   
   

80
,1

01
,2

83
   

   
80

,1
01

,2
83

   
   

80
,1

01
,2

83
   

   

O
th

er
 p

ay
ab

le
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
(2

08
,9

73
)

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(2

08
,9

73
)

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

U
ni

te
d 

St
at

es
 D

ol
la

r
(7

,8
80

,2
77

)
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(7
,8

80
,2

77
)

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

(8
,0

89
,2

50
)

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(8

,0
89

,2
50

)
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

Te
rm

 lo
an

s
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

(4
9,

19
6,

99
3)

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(4

9,
19

6,
99

3)
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

to
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(3
4,

18
8,

00
0)

   
  

(3
4,

18
8,

00
0)

   
  

C
hi

ne
se

R
in

gg
it

R
in

gg
it

R
en

m
in

bi
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
6

Fu
nc

tio
na

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
no

t h
el

d 
in

 fu
nc

tio
na

l
  c

ur
re

nc
ie

s:

O
th

er
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

5,
16

5
   

   
   

   
 

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

13
8,

12
5

   
   

   
  

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  

5,
16

5
   

   
   

   
 

10
,1

18
,0

30
   

   
10

,1
23

,1
95

   
   

10
,1

18
,0

30
   

   
10

,1
18

,0
30

   
   

C
as

h 
an

d 
ca

sh
 e

qu
iv

al
en

ts
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

10
,9

42
,5

95
   

  
22

,4
89

   
   

   
  

 
10

,9
65

,0
84

   
   

22
,4

89
   

   
   

  
 

22
,4

89
   

   
   

  
 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

13
,3

41
,4

92
   

   
13

,3
41

,4
92

   
   

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 a

 jo
in

tly
 c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
en

tit
y

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 

O
th

er
 p

ay
ab

le
s

U
ni

te
d 

St
at

es
 D

ol
la

r
(1

0,
95

0)
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(1
0,

95
0)

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

Te
rm

 lo
an

s
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

(6
5,

04
9,

80
7)

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(6

5,
04

9,
80

7)
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

to
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(9
,2

56
,0

00
)

   
   

 
(9

,2
56

,0
00

)
   

   
 

<-
---

---
---

--F
un

ct
io

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s-
---

---
---

---
-->

<-
---

-F
un

ct
io

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s-
---

>
G

ro
up

C
om

pa
ny

C
hi

ne
se

R
in

gg
it

R
in

gg
it

R
en

m
in

bi
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
7

Fu
nc

tio
na

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
no

t h
el

d 
in

 fu
nc

tio
na

l
  c

ur
re

nc
ie

s:

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

52
,5

77
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

52
,5

77
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

O
th

er
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

88
9,

08
2

   
   

   
 

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

1,
16

3,
21

6
   

   
  

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
11

,4
33

,0
63

   
   

11
,4

33
,0

63
   

   
11

,4
33

,0
63

   
   

11
,4

33
,0

63
   

   

88
9,

08
2

   
   

   
 

11
,7

07
,1

97
   

   
12

,5
96

,2
79

   
   

11
,7

07
,1

97
   

   
11

,7
07

,1
97

   
   

C
as

h 
an

d 
ca

sh
 e

qu
iv

al
en

ts
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

24
,0

91
,0

91
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

24
,0

91
,0

91
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

1,
81

8,
83

1
   

   
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

1,
83

9,
29

8
   

   
  

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

25
,9

09
,9

22
   

  
20

,4
67

   
   

   
  

 
25

,9
30

,3
89

   
   

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

G
ro

up
<-

---
---

---
--F

un
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s-

---
---

---
---

-->
C

om
pa

ny
<-

---
-F

un
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s-

---
>

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

11
,9

46
,2

28
   

   
11

,9
46

,2
28

   
   

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 a

 jo
in

tly
 c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
en

tit
y

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
80

,1
01

,2
83

   
   

80
,1

01
,2

83
   

   
80

,1
01

,2
83

   
   

80
,1

01
,2

83
   

   

O
th

er
 p

ay
ab

le
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
(2

08
,9

73
)

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(2

08
,9

73
)

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

U
ni

te
d 

St
at

es
 D

ol
la

r
(7

,8
80

,2
77

)
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(7
,8

80
,2

77
)

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

(8
,0

89
,2

50
)

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(8

,0
89

,2
50

)
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

Te
rm

 lo
an

s
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

(4
9,

19
6,

99
3)

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(4

9,
19

6,
99

3)
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

to
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(3
4,

18
8,

00
0)

   
  

(3
4,

18
8,

00
0)

   
  

C
hi

ne
se

R
in

gg
it

R
in

gg
it

R
en

m
in

bi
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
6

Fu
nc

tio
na

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
no

t h
el

d 
in

 fu
nc

tio
na

l
  c

ur
re

nc
ie

s:

O
th

er
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

5,
16

5
   

   
   

   
 

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

13
8,

12
5

   
   

   
  

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  

5,
16

5
   

   
   

   
 

10
,1

18
,0

30
   

   
10

,1
23

,1
95

   
   

10
,1

18
,0

30
   

   
10

,1
18

,0
30

   
   

C
as

h 
an

d 
ca

sh
 e

qu
iv

al
en

ts
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

10
,9

42
,5

95
   

  
22

,4
89

   
   

   
  

 
10

,9
65

,0
84

   
   

22
,4

89
   

   
   

  
 

22
,4

89
   

   
   

  
 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

13
,3

41
,4

92
   

   
13

,3
41

,4
92

   
   

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 a

 jo
in

tly
 c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
en

tit
y

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 

O
th

er
 p

ay
ab

le
s

U
ni

te
d 

St
at

es
 D

ol
la

r
(1

0,
95

0)
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(1
0,

95
0)

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

Te
rm

 lo
an

s
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

(6
5,

04
9,

80
7)

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(6

5,
04

9,
80

7)
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

to
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(9
,2

56
,0

00
)

   
   

 
(9

,2
56

,0
00

)
   

   
 

<-
---

---
---

--F
un

ct
io

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s-
---

---
---

---
-->

<-
---

-F
un

ct
io

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s-
---

>
G

ro
up

C
om

pa
ny



N
O

T
E

S
 T

O
 T

H
E

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

– 
31

 D
E

C
E

M
B

E
R

 2
01

713
3

In
te

gr
at

ed
 L

og
is

tic
s 

B
er

ha
d 

(2
29

69
0K

)
A

N
N

U
A

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

20
17

37
. 

FI
N

AN
C

IA
L 

R
IS

K
 M

AN
AG

EM
EN

T 
O

B
JE

C
TI

VE
S 

AN
D

 P
O

LI
C

IE
S 

(c
on

t’d
)

�D
��

)R
UH
LJ
Q�
&
XU
UH
QF

\�
R
LV
N 

(c
on

t’d
)

7h
H 

*
ro

uS
’s

 a
nG

 th
H 

&
om

Sa
n\

’s
 u

nh
HG

JH
G 

Àn
an

Fi
aO

 a
ss

Ht
s 

an
G 

Oia
bi

Oit
iH

s 
of

 th
H 

*
ro

uS
 a

nG
 o

f t
hH

 &
om

Sa
n\

 th
at

 a
rH

 n
ot

 G
Hn

om
in

at
HG

 in
 th

Hi
r 

fu
nF

tio
na

O 
Fu

rrH
nF

iH
s 

ar
H 

as
 fo

OOo
Z

s�
 �F

on
t’G

�

C
hi

ne
se

R
in

gg
it

R
in

gg
it

R
en

m
in

bi
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
7

Fu
nc

tio
na

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
no

t h
el

d 
in

 fu
nc

tio
na

l
  c

ur
re

nc
ie

s:

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

52
,5

77
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

52
,5

77
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

O
th

er
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

88
9,

08
2

   
   

   
 

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

1,
16

3,
21

6
   

   
  

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

27
4,

13
4

   
   

   
  

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
11

,4
33

,0
63

   
   

11
,4

33
,0

63
   

   
11

,4
33

,0
63

   
   

11
,4

33
,0

63
   

   

88
9,

08
2

   
   

   
 

11
,7

07
,1

97
   

   
12

,5
96

,2
79

   
   

11
,7

07
,1

97
   

   
11

,7
07

,1
97

   
   

C
as

h 
an

d 
ca

sh
 e

qu
iv

al
en

ts
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

24
,0

91
,0

91
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

24
,0

91
,0

91
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

1,
81

8,
83

1
   

   
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

1,
83

9,
29

8
   

   
  

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

25
,9

09
,9

22
   

  
20

,4
67

   
   

   
  

 
25

,9
30

,3
89

   
   

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

20
,4

67
   

   
   

  
 

G
ro

up
<-

---
---

---
--F

un
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s-

---
---

---
---

-->
C

om
pa

ny
<-

---
-F

un
ct

io
na

l c
ur

re
nc

ie
s-

---
>

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

11
,9

46
,2

28
   

   
11

,9
46

,2
28

   
   

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 a

 jo
in

tly
 c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
en

tit
y

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
80

,1
01

,2
83

   
   

80
,1

01
,2

83
   

   
80

,1
01

,2
83

   
   

80
,1

01
,2

83
   

   

O
th

er
 p

ay
ab

le
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
(2

08
,9

73
)

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(2

08
,9

73
)

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

U
ni

te
d 

St
at

es
 D

ol
la

r
(7

,8
80

,2
77

)
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(7
,8

80
,2

77
)

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

(8
,0

89
,2

50
)

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(8

,0
89

,2
50

)
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

Te
rm

 lo
an

s
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

(4
9,

19
6,

99
3)

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(4

9,
19

6,
99

3)
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

to
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(3
4,

18
8,

00
0)

   
  

(3
4,

18
8,

00
0)

   
  

C
hi

ne
se

R
in

gg
it

R
in

gg
it

R
en

m
in

bi
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
M

al
ay

si
a

To
ta

l
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
6

Fu
nc

tio
na

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s 
no

t h
el

d 
in

 fu
nc

tio
na

l
  c

ur
re

nc
ie

s:

O
th

er
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
H

on
g 

Ko
ng

 D
ol

la
r

5,
16

5
   

   
   

   
 

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

13
8,

12
5

   
   

   
  

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

13
2,

96
0

   
   

   
  

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  
9,

98
5,

07
0

   
   

  

5,
16

5
   

   
   

   
 

10
,1

18
,0

30
   

   
10

,1
23

,1
95

   
   

10
,1

18
,0

30
   

   
10

,1
18

,0
30

   
   

C
as

h 
an

d 
ca

sh
 e

qu
iv

al
en

ts
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

10
,9

42
,5

95
   

  
22

,4
89

   
   

   
  

 
10

,9
65

,0
84

   
   

22
,4

89
   

   
   

  
 

22
,4

89
   

   
   

  
 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

13
,3

41
,4

92
   

   
13

,3
41

,4
92

   
   

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

by
 a

 jo
in

tly
 c

on
tr

ol
le

d 
en

tit
y

U
ni

te
d 

Ar
ab

 E
m

ira
te

s 
Di

rh
am

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 
10

1,
36

7,
90

0
   

 

O
th

er
 p

ay
ab

le
s

U
ni

te
d 

St
at

es
 D

ol
la

r
(1

0,
95

0)
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(1
0,

95
0)

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

Te
rm

 lo
an

s
U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 D
ol

la
r

(6
5,

04
9,

80
7)

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
(6

5,
04

9,
80

7)
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
ow

in
g 

to
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s

H
on

g 
Ko

ng
 D

ol
la

r
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

(9
,2

56
,0

00
)

   
   

 
(9

,2
56

,0
00

)
   

   
 

<-
---

---
---

--F
un

ct
io

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s-
---

---
---

---
-->

<-
---

-F
un

ct
io

na
l c

ur
re

nc
ie

s-
---

>
G

ro
up

C
om

pa
ny



N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
–  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 7

134 Integrated Logist ics Berhad (229690K)ANNUAL REPORT 2017

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

As at the end of the financial year, if Chinese Renmimbi (¸RMB¹) had strengthened or weakened 
100 basis points against Hong Kong Dollar (¸HKD¹) and United States Dollar (¸USD¹) with all 
other variables held constant, the Group’s loss after tax for the financial year would increase/
(decrease) by the following amounts.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to 
interest rate risk relates to interest bearing financial assets and liabilities.

Interest bearing financial assets includes deposits placed with licensed banks which are placed 
for better yield returns than cash at banks and advances to a jointly controlled entity at fixed 
rate which expose the Group to fair value risk.

The Group’s interest bearing financial liabilities comprise bank borrowings and loan from a 
corporate shareholder at floating rate which expose the Company to interest rate risk. 

As at the end of the financial year, if Ringgit Malaysia (¸RM¹) had strengthened or weakened 100 
basis points against United Arab Emirates Dirham (¸AED¹) and HKD with all other variables held 
constant, the Group’s and the Company’s loss after tax for the financial year would increase/
(decrease) by the following amounts.

�D�� )RUHLJQ�&XUUHQF\�RLVN (cont’d)

�E�� ,QWHUHVW�RDWH�RLVN�
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

The Group manages its interest rate exposure by maintaining a prudent mix of fixed and 
floating rate borrowings. The Group actively reviews its debt portfolio, taking into account the 
investment holding period and nature of its assets.

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rate at the end of the financial year would not affect 
profit or loss.

As at the end of the financial year, a change of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, would decrease or increase the eXuity and increase or decrease the 
loss after tax by approximately RM740,833 (2016! RM529,179) arising mainly as a result of 
lower/higher interest income on floating deposits rate and lower/higher interest expense on 
floating rate loans and borrowings.

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group that may arise if a customer or counterparty 
to a financial instrument default on its contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit 
risk arises principally from its receivables. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises 
principally from loans and advances to subsidiaries and the financial guarantees given.

Receivables

The Group has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is managed through the 
application of credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk arising from the receivables is represented by the 
carrying amounts in the statements of financial position. 

The exposure of credit risk for receivables as at the end of the financial year by geographic 
region is as follows!

The Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer. A significant 
portion of its trade receivables are regular customers that have been transacting with the 
Group. The Group uses ageing analysis to monitor the credit Xuality of the trade receivables. 
The ageing of trade receivables as at the end of the financial year is disclosed in Note 19.

�E�� ,QWHUHVW�RDWH�RLVN (cont’d)
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

Financial Guarantees

The Company provides unsecured corporate guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities 
granted to certain subsidiaries and a jointly controlled entity.

The Company monitors on an ongoing basis the repayments made by the subsidiaries and a 
jointly controlled entity and their financial performance.

The maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM93,299,246 (2016! RM65,049,807) and 
RM28,665,929 (2016! RM44,461,427) representing the outstanding banking facilities of the 
subsidiaries and a jointly controlled entity respectively as at the end of the financial year.

As at the end of the financial year, there was no indication that any of these subsidiaries and a 
jointly controlled entity would default on repayment.

The financial guarantee has not been recognised in the financial statements of the Company 
since the financial guarantees provided by the Company did not contribute towards credit 
enhancement of the subsidiaries’ and of the jointly controlled entity’s borrowings in view of 
the security pledged by the subsidiaries and a jointly controlled entity and it is unlikely that the 
subsidiaries and the jointly controlled entity will default within the guarantee period. 

Inter-Company/Related Party Balances

The Company provides unsecured loans and advances to subsidiaries and a jointly controlled 
entity. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts in the 
statements of financial position as at the end of the financial year. 

As at the end of the financial year, there was no indication that the loans and advances to the 
subsidiaries and a jointly controlled entity are not recoverable.

LiXuidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due. The Group’s exposure to liXuidity risk arises principally from loans and borrowings.

The Group actively manages its operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to 
ensure that all repayment and funding needs are met. The Group strives to maintain available 
banking facilities of a reasonable level to its overall debt position.

The Group employs projected cash flow analysis to manage liXuidity risk by forecasting the 
amount of cash reXuired and by monitoring the working capital of the Group to ensure that all 
liabilities due and known funding reXuirements could be met.

�F�� &UHGLW�RLVN (cont’d)
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

�D�� &DWHJRULHV�RI�ÀQDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV 2017 2016
RM RM

Group

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

- Receivables, net of prepayments and GST 
     refundable 15,040,006    17,478,993    
- Amounts owing by a jointly controlled entity 80,101,283    101,367,900  
- Cash and cash equivalents 33,879,438    52,252,005    

129,020,727  171,098,898  

Available-for-sale financial assets

- Other investments 389,140        494,625        

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities

- Payables, net of provisions and GST payable 12,466,378    16,936,082    
- Term loans 97,478,077    69,628,827    
- Loans from corporate shareholders 39,950,431    15,261,725    

149,894,886  101,826,634  

Company

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

- Receivables, net of prepayments and GST
     refundable 84,998,597    61,487,582    
- Amounts owing by subsidiaries 11,946,228    13,341,492    
- Amounts owing by a jointly controlled entity 80,101,283    101,367,900  
- Cash and cash equivalents 4,248,959     8,027,124     

181,295,067  184,224,098  
Available-for-sale financial assets

- Other investments 389,140        494,625        

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities

- Payables, net of provisions and GST payable 175,351        581,870        
- Term loans 4,178,832     4,579,020     
- Amounts owing to subsidiaries 34,222,019    9,330,536     

38,576,202    14,491,426    
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39. SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

40. SIGNIFICANT EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

41. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Details of disposal of a subsidiary during the financial year are disclosed in Note 13.

On 18 January 2018, IL Energy Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary has acXuired 400,000 ordinary 
shares representing 20% of the issued and paid up capital of IL Solar Sdn. Bhd. from Atlantic Blue 
Sdn. Bhd. and Pensolar Sdn. Bhd. for a total cash consideration of RM400,000.

Upon completion of the acXuisitions, IL Solar Sdn. Bhd. will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that entities in the Group will 
be able to continue as a going concern, maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in 
order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

Deposits are made at varying periods depending on the immediate cash reXuirements of the Group 
and of the Company, and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates. 

The Group reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As a part of this review, the directors 
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will 
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share 
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the financial years ended 31 
December 2017 and 31 December 2016.


 1ot mHaninJfuO as thH *rouS anG thH &omSan\ arH in nHt Fash Sositions�

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Payables 12,513,099    17,063,378    222,072        709,166        
Term loans 97,478,077    69,628,827    4,178,832     4,579,020     
Loans from corporate

shareholders 39,950,431    15,261,725    -                   -                   

Total debts 149,941,607  101,953,930  4,400,904     5,288,186     
Less: Cash and cash 

equivalents (32,830,981)   (51,235,033)   (3,416,399)    (7,219,786)    
Less: Short-term

dnuf   (20,445,371)   (17,443,664)   (20,445,371)   (17,443,664)   

Net debt/(cash) 96,665,255    33,275,233    (19,460,866)   (19,375,264)   

Total equity 349,213,462  354,458,386  230,216,652  278,104,480  

Debt-to-equity ratio 28% 9% * *

CompanyGroup

As previously As
reported Restatement restated

RM RM RM
1.1.2016
Statements of Changes in Equity

Retained earnings 25,128,752    (4,962,796)    20,165,956    
Other reserve 5,943,208     4,962,796     10,906,004    

Group
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41. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

42. RESTATEMENT

The Company is also reXuired to comply with the disclosure and necessary capital reXuirement as 
prescribed in the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

As disclosed in Note 25(b), certain subsidiaries of the Group is reXuired by the Foreign Enterprise Law 
of the PRC to contribute and maintain a non-distributable statutory reserve fund whose utilisation is 
subject to approval by the relevant PRC authorities. This externally imposed capital reXuirement has 
been complied with by the respective PRC’s subsidiaries for the financial years ended 31 December 
2017 and 31 December 2016.

The following comparative figures have been restated to incorporate the impact of misclassification 
of the Group’s share of other reserves in its associate as retained earnings in the previous financial 
years.

2017 2016 2017 2016
RM RM RM RM

Payables 12,513,099    17,063,378    222,072        709,166        
Term loans 97,478,077    69,628,827    4,178,832     4,579,020     
Loans from corporate

shareholders 39,950,431    15,261,725    -                   -                   

Total debts 149,941,607  101,953,930  4,400,904     5,288,186     
Less: Cash and cash 

equivalents (32,830,981)   (51,235,033)   (3,416,399)    (7,219,786)    
Less: Short-term

dnuf   (20,445,371)   (17,443,664)   (20,445,371)   (17,443,664)   

Net debt/(cash) 96,665,255    33,275,233    (19,460,866)   (19,375,264)   

Total equity 349,213,462  354,458,386  230,216,652  278,104,480  

Debt-to-equity ratio 28% 9% * *

CompanyGroup

As previously As
reported Restatement restated

RM RM RM
1.1.2016
Statements of Changes in Equity

Retained earnings 25,128,752    (4,962,796)    20,165,956    
Other reserve 5,943,208     4,962,796     10,906,004    

Group



S TAT E M E N T  B Y  D I R E C T O R S
P u r s u a n t  t o  S e c t i o n  2 5 1 ( 2 )  o f  t h e  C o m p a n i e s  A c t  2 0 1 6

We, TEE TUAN SEM and MAKOTO TAKAHASHI, being two of the directors of Integrated Logistics 
Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements as 
set out on pages 46 to 145 are drawn up in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia 
so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 
December 2017 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors!

TEE TUAN SEM
Director

MAKOTO TAKAHASHI
Director

Date! 19 March 2018
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S TAT U T O R@  D E C L A R AT I O N
P u r s u a n t  t o  S e c t i o n  2 5 1 ( 1 )  o f  t h e  C o m p a n i e s  A c t  2 0 1 6

I, TEE TUAN SEM, being the director primarily responsible for the financial management of Integrated 
Logistics Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements as set out on pages 46 to 
145 are to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously 
believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

TEE TUAN SEM

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on 
19 March 2018.

Before me,

TAN KIM CHOOI
Commissioner for Oaths (W661)
Kuala Lumpur
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
INTEGRATED LOGISTICS BERHAD 
( Incorporated in Malaysia)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Integrated Logistics Berhad, which comprise the statements 
of financial position as at 31 December 2017 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in eXuity and statements of cash flows of the Group and 
of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies, as 
set out on pages 46 to 145.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
and of the Company as at 31 December 2017 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the 
financial year then ended in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and 
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (¸By-Laws¹) and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (¸IESBA Code¹), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.

Amount o^ing by a jointly controlled entity (Note 1� to the financial statements)

The Group and the Company assessed whether objective evidence of impairment exists for the amount 
owing by a jointly controlled entity (¸JCE¹).

The recoverable amount of the amount owing by a JCE was assessed by the Group, which involves 
exercise of significant judgement on the discount rates applied and assumptions supporting the underlying 
cash flow projections, including forecast growth rates and gross profit margin.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
INTEGRATED LOGISTICS BERHAD

( Incorporated in Malaysia)

Amount o^ing by a jointly controlled entity (Note 1� to the financial statements) (cont’d)

Interest in associates (Note 1� to the financial statements)

Our response:

Our audit procedures focused on evaluating the cash flow projections and the Group’s forecasting 
procedures which included, among others!

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

The Group determined whether there is any indication of impairment in interest in associates. An asset 
is impaired when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. There is a risk in estimating the 
expected recoverable amount.

Our response:

Our audit procedures included, among others!

 comparing the actual results with previous cash flow projections to assess the performance of the ࠮
business and historical accuracy of the projections"

 comparing the Group’s assumptions to externally derived data as well as our assessments in relation ࠮
to key assumptions such as discount rates, forecast growth rates and gross profit margins"

testing the mathematical accuracy of the impairment assessment" and ࠮
.performing a sensitivity analysis around the key assumptions ࠮

 reviewing the comparison of the net carrying amount of the interest in associates with its Xuoted price ࠮
and net asset as at year end"

 reviewing the basis used by the Group to determine the recoverable amount" and ࠮
.testing the mathematical accuracy of the impairment assessment ࠮

149Integrated Logist ics Berhad (229690K)ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are reXuired to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.



Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 
in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liXuidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

The directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in 
Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also! 

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and ࠮
of the Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures ࠮
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control. 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting ࠮
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting ࠮
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are reXuired to draw attention 
in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
INTEGRATED LOGISTICS BERHAD 
( Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical reXuirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial 
year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse conseXuences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and ࠮
of the Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or ࠮
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
INTEGRATED LOGISTICS BERHAD

( Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the reXuirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, we report that the subsidiaries 
of which we have not acted as auditors, are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of 
the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any 
other person for the contents of this report.

Kuala Lumpur

Date! 19 March 2018

Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng Kenny Yeoh Khi Khen
No. AF 0117 No. 03229/09/2018 J
Chartered Accountants  Chartered Accountant
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TenureLocation Description
Age of 

Building
(Years)

Area
(sq. ft.)

NBV @
31.12.2017

(RM)

Year of 
Acquisition

Or
Revaluation*

Wu Guo Yong (2007)
No. 07049293
Fenhu Economic 
Centre,
East Fenhu Road, 
Fenhu, Wujiang, Jiangsu
The People’s Republic
of China

Wu Guo Yong (2010)
No. 07049217 
Fenhu Economic 
Centre,
East Fenhu Road, 
Fenhu, Wujiang, Jiangsu
The People’s Republic
of China

Lot 1552, Seberang 
Perai Utara, Pulau 
Pinang

Lot 560, 561, 562, 563 & 
Lot 2011, Bandar Kayu 
Hitam, Daerah Kubang 
Pasu, Kedah

No.6, Jalan Sungai 
Buloh 27/101A, Seksyen 
27, 40400 Shah Alam, 
Selangor

Land with
Warehouse

Building

Land with
Warehouse

building

Land with
Solar Plant

Agriculture 
Land with
Solar Plant

Land with 
Office 

building

Land- 
Built-up-

Land- 
Built-up-
Built-up-

Land-
Plant-

Land-
Plant-

Land- 
Built-up-

718,501
286,825

694,023
192,582
351,164

175,527

3,349,175

12,723
4,667

2017*

2017*

2015
2017

2016
2017

2016

8.5

4.5

1.3

1.65

1

1.67

Land 
Use 

Rights 
expiring 
in 2056

Land 
Use 

Rights 
expiring 
in 2060

Freehold

Freehold

Freehold

Total

7,234,117
33,215,030

8,715,085
28,877,246
64,075,264

800,000
10,245,921

33,451,893
66,414,919

4,855,311
1,290,889

259,175,675
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18 9 , 737, 228

900
1,125

152,899
1,459,073

34,406,407

37,803,990

73,824,394

ISSUED SHARES OF THE COMPANY

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

LIST OF THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

The total number of issued shares of the Company stand at 195,025,503 ordinary shares, with voting right 
of one vote per ordinary share.

The changes in the number of issued shares in the Company from 178,025,503 ordinary shares since 
1 January 2017 to 195,025,503 ordinary shares as at 28 February 2018 are set out in the table below:

* Excluding a total of 5,288,275 ordinary shares bought back by the Company and retained as treasury shares

Category

Date of 
Allotment

Malaysian

Number of shares 
Allotted

Malaysian

Consideration

Malaysian

Total Number of 
Issued Shares

Foreign Foreign Foreign

No. of Holders

No.

No. of Shares * Percentage (%)

Less than 100
100 – 1,000
1,001 – 10,000
10,001 – 100,000
100,001 to less than 5% 
of issued shares
5% and above of issued 
shares
Total
Grand Total

31 March 2017 17,000,000

Makoto Takahashi
Lembaga Tabung Haji
Kenanga Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Etern Group (HK) Co. Limited
Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account - AmBank (M) Berhad for Tee Tuan Sem
Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt AN for OCBC Securities Private Limited (Client A/C-NR)
HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt AN for The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited           
(PB-HKDIV-ACCL)

1.
2.
3.

4.

5.

6.

20,803,990
20,584,783
17,000,000

14,682,675

8,380,138

6,642,000

10.96
10.85
8.96

7.74

4.42

3.50

748
334

2,733
729
106                                    

          
2

4,652

24,295
134,761

9,374,815
19,723,221
46,053,508

40,602,234

115,912,834

Private placement of 17,000,000 new ordinary 
shares in the Company at RM0.797 per share, 
which represents approximately a 9.89% 
discount from the 5 days volume weighted 
average market price of the Company’s shares 
up to 27 March 2017 of RM0.8845

0.01
0.07
4.94

10.40
24.27

21.40

61.09

195,025,503

52
4

42
43
19                                    

          
2

162

0.00
0.00
0.08
0.77

18.13

19.93

38.91

4 , 8 14 100.00

Name of shareholder No. of 
shares held

% of issued
capital*
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Name of Directors Direct
No. of Shares Note %  of issued

C ap ital*
Indirect

No. of Shares Note %  of issued
C ap ital *

D atuk  R.  Karunak aran
Tee Tuan Sem
Mak oto Tak ahashi
L oh Cheng Keat
W an Az far bin D ato’ W an 
Annuar
D ato’ W an Hashim bin 
W an J usoh
L ee Kay L oon 

-
2 0 , 0 1 7 , 4 5 1
2 0 , 8 0 3 , 9 9 0
3 , 5 2 0 , 3 0 0

-

-

-

-
1
3
3
-

-

-

-
1 0 . 5 5
1 0 . 9 6
1 . 8 6

-

-

-

-
3 8 1 , 9 3 1

-
-
-

-

-

-
2
-
-
-

-

-

-
0 . 2 0

-
-
-

-

-

Notes
1. Held through Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd and TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd.
2. Deemed interest by virtue of the shareholdings of his wife, Yang Chiew Bi, which are held directly.
3. Held directly.

No.

TA Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Tee Tuan Sem
AllianceGroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Pledged Securities Account for Teh Win Kee (8106483)
Hassan Mohammad Kazem Ahmadi
United Asia Success Limited
Loh Cheng Keat
CIMB Group Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt AN for DBS Bank Ltd (SFS)
Anastasia Amanda Beh Gaik Sim
Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Exempt AN for OCBC Securities Private Limited (Client A/C-Res)
Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
CBHK PBGSG for Gan Boon Hwee
Tan Bee Kong
Chow Chin Yann
Chng Kok Leong
Lee Chin Chai
Motohiko Tachibana
Goh Theow Hiang
Cimsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
CIMB Bank for Chan Han Siong 
Wang Jim
Yeoh Teng Lye
Teoh Ean Kee
Yeoh Chin Kueng
Yeoh Hsiao Wye
Ong Aik Bin
Lim Hong Liang
Chuah Suan Chin

7.

8.

9.
10.
11.
12.

13.
14.

15.

16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.

23.
24.
25.
26.
27. 
28.
29.
30.

5,334,776

5,000,400

5,000,000
4,354,848
3,520,300
3,010,000

2,690,000
2,138,500

2,036,426

1,633,000
1,323,800
1,086,600
1,080,486

941,544
936,735
928,100

888,800
823,700
752,000
750,000
731,900
720,000
668,144
638,200

2.81

2.64

2.64
2.30
1.86
1.59

1.42
1.13

1.07

0.86
0.70
0.57
0.57
0.50
0.49
0.49

0.47
0.43
0.40
0.40
0.39
0.38
0.35
0.34

Name of shareholder No. of 
shares held

% of issued
capital*

The Directors shareholdings in the Company as at 28 February 2018 are as follows :-

* Excluding a total of 5,288,275 ordinary shares bought back by the Company and retained as treasury shares

71.19135 , 08 1, 8 4 5T otal



Notes
1. Held through Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd and TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd.
2. Deemed interest by virtue of the shareholdings of his wife, Yang Chiew Bi, which are held directly.
3. Held directly.
4. Held through Kenanga Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd.

Substantial Shareholders

The substantial shareholders of the Company as at 28 February 2018 are as follows :-

Name of Shareholder Direct
No. of Shares Note % of issued

Capital*
Indirect

No. of Shares Note % of issued
Capital *

Makoto Takahashi
Lembaga Tabung Haji
Tee Tuan Sem
Etern Group (HK) Co. 
Limited

20,803,990
20,584,783
20,017,451
17,000,000

3
3
1
4

10.96
10.85
10.55
8.96

-
-

381,931
-

-
-
2
-

-
-

0.20
-

* Excluding a total of 5,288,275 ordinary shares bought back by the Company and retained as treasury shares

A N A LY S I S  O F  S H A R E H O L D I N G S 
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N O T I C E  O F  A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G

AGENDA
AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the 26th Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Integrated Logistics Berhad 
(“ILB” or “Company’’) will be held at  Selangor 3, Grand Selangor Ballroom, Dorsett Grand Subang, Jalan 
SS 12/1, 47500 Subang Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan on Tuesday, 17 April 2018 at 10:00 a.m. for the 
following purposes:-

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 1

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

(Resolution 5)

(Resolution 6)

(Resolution 7)

(Resolution 8)

To receive the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2017 and Auditors Report thereon.

To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees to Non-Executive Directors amounting to 
RM376,750 for the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017.                                         

To approve the payment of Directors’ Benefits to Non-Executive Directors amounting 
to RM59,693 for the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 March 2018.

To approve the payment of Directors’ Benefits (excluding Directors’ Fees) to the Non-
Executive Directors up to an amount of RM48,000 for the period from 1 April 2018 
until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees to the Non-Executive Directors  up to 
an amount of  RM526,250 for the period from 1 January 2018 until the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company. 

To re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 80 of 
the Company’s Constitution :-

a) Datuk R. Karunakaran

b) En Wan Azfar bin Dato’ Wan Annuar 

To re-elect Dato’ Wan Hashim bin Wan Jusoh as a Director in accordance with Article 
87 of the Company’s Constitution.

To re-appoint Messrs Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng as the Company’s Auditors until the 
conclusion of the next AGM and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
 
To transact any other ordinary business of the Company for which due notice has 
been received.
 

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

RETENTION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY

“THAT, approval be and is hereby given to Datuk R. Karunakaran who 
has served as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company 
for a cumulative term of more than nine years, to continue to act as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company, in accordance 
with the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance 2017.” 

To consider and if thought fit, pass the following as Ordinary Resolution and Special Resolutions:-

10. (Resolution 9)
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PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHARE BUY-BACK AUTHORITY
      
“THAT, subject to the Company’s compliance with all applicable rules, 
regulations, orders and guidelines made pursuant to the Companies  Act, 
2016, the provisions of the Constitution of the Company and the Main 
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa 
Securities”) and the approvals of all relevant authorities, the Company be 
and is hereby authorised, to the fullest extent  permitted by law, to buy 
back and/or hold from time to time and at any time such amount of ordinary 
shares in the Company as may be determined by the Directors of the 
Company from time to time through Bursa Securities upon such terms and 
conditions as the Directors may deem fit  and expedient in the interests of 
the Company (“the Proposed Share Buy-Back”) provided that :- 

The maximum number of shares which may be purchased and/or held  by 
the Company at any point of time pursuant to the Proposed Share Buy-
Back shall not exceed ten (10) per cent of the total issued and paid-up 
share capital of the Company from time to time being quoted on Bursa 
Securities provided always that in the event that the Company ceases 
to hold all or any part of such shares as a result of, amongst others, 
cancellation of shares, sale of shares on the market of Bursa Securities 
or distribution of treasury shares to shareholders as dividend in respect 
of shares bought back under the previous shareholders’ mandate for 
share buy-back which was obtained at the Annual General Meeting held 
on 25 April 2017, the Company shall be entitled to further purchase 
and/or hold such additional number of shares as shall (in aggregate with 
the shares then still held by the Company) not exceed ten per centum 
(10%) of the total issued and paid-up share capital of the Company for 
the time being quoted on Bursa Securities. 

  
ii) The maximum amount of funds to be allocated for the purchase of the 

shares pursuant to the Proposed Share Buy-Back shall not exceed the 
retained profits of the Company based on its latest audited accounts 
available up to the date of a transaction pursuant to the Proposed 
Share-Buy Back. As at 31 December 2017, the audited Retained Profits 
of the Company were RM8,929,900.  

iii) The Proposed Share Buy-Back to be undertaken will be in compliance 
with Section 127 of the Companies Act, 2016 and the Directors will deal 
with the shares purchased in the following manner:-

(a) to cancel the Shares so purchased; or

(b) to retain the Shares so purchased as treasury shares for distribution as 
dividends to the shareholders of the Company and/or re-sell on Bursa 
Securities in accordance with the Main Market Listing Requirements of 
Bursa Securities and/or cancellation subsequently; or

(c) to retain part of the Shares so purchased as treasury shares and cancel 
the remainder.

11.

N O T I C E  O F  A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G

(Resolution 10)
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N O T I C E  O F  A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G

AND THAT such authority to purchase the Company’s own shares will  be 
effective immediately from the passing of this resolution until the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) at which such resolution was 
passed at which time the authority would lapse unless renewed by ordinary 
resolution, either unconditionally or conditionally or the passing of the date 
on which the next AGM is required by law to be held or the authority is 
revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed  by the shareholders of the 
Company in a general meeting but so as not  to prejudice the completion of 
a purchase made before such expiry date;

AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to 
take all steps as are necessary or expedient to implement or to give effect 
to the Proposed Share Buy-Back with full powers to amend and/assent to 
any conditions, modifications, variations or amendments (if any) as may be 
imposed by the relevant governmental/regulatory authorities from time to 
time and with full power to do all such acts and things in accordance with 
the Companies Act, 2016, the provisions of the Constitution of the Company 
and the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities and all other 
relevant governmental/regulatory authorities.”

AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 75 AND 76 
OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2016

“THAT subject to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016 and the 
approvals of the relevant governmental/regulatory authorities, the Directors 
be and are hereby empowered to issue shares in the Company at any time 
and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors 
may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit, provided that the aggregate 
number of shares issued pursuant to this Resolution in any one financial  
year does not exceed ten per cent (10%) of the issued and paid-up share 
capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) for the time being.

AND THAT such authority shall commence immediately upon passing of   
this Resolution and continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company.” 

12. (Resolution 11)

By Order of the Board
Amarjit Singh A/L Banta Singh
Company Secretary
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Date: 20 March 2018
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NOTES

EXPLANTORY NOTES 

1. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors 
on 9 April 2018 (General Meeting Record of Depositors) shall be entitled to attend, speak and 
vote at this 26th AGM of the Company.

2. Any member of the Company entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint one (1) or more 
proxies to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company and 
where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the member must specify the proportion   of 
his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy respectively, failing which the appointment 
shall be invalid.

3. If you wish to appoint as your proxy any person other than “the Chairman of the Meeting”, please 
insert the full name of the proxy (in block letters) in the space provided and delete the words “the 
Chairman of the Meeting”.

4. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares 
in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one (1) securities account (“Omnibus Account”), 
there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in 
respect of each Omnibus Account it holds.

5. A corporation may complete the proxy form under its common seal or under the hand of an 
officer or attorney duly authorized.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy must reach the Business Office of the Company at No.6, Jalan 
Sungai Buloh 27/101A, Seksyen 27, 40400 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia not less 
than 48 hours before the AGM. The lodging of the proxy form will not preclude shareholders from 
attending and voting in person at the AGM should they subsequently wish to do so.

- Resolution 1 on payment of Directors’ fees to the Non-Executive Directors for the period 
from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017; 

- Resolution 2 on payment of Directors’ Benefits to the Non-Executive Directors for the 
period  from 1 January 2017 to 31 March 2018; 

- Resolution 3 on payment of Directors’ Benefits (excluding Directors’ fees) to the Non-
Executive Directors for the period from 1 April 2018 until the next AGM of the Company; and

- Resolution 4 on payment of Directors’ Fees to the Non-Executive Directors for the period 
from 1 January 2018 until the next AGM of the Company.

Item 1 of the Agenda

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 
2017

This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as under the provisions of Section 248(2) of 
the Companies Act 2016, the audited financial statements do not require formal approval of 
shareholders and hence, the matter will not be put to a vote.

Item 2, 3, 4 & 5  of the Agenda

Section 230(1) of the Companies Act 2016 provides amongst others, that “the fees” of the 
directors and “any benefits” payable to the directors of a listed company and its subsidiaries shall 
be approved at a general meeting. In this respect, the Board had agreed that the shareholders’ 
approval be sought at the 26th AGM on the Directors’ remuneration in four separate resolutions 
as below:

1.

2.

N O T I C E  O F  A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G
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(a) He fulfills the criteria under the definition of an Independent Director as stated in the Main 
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, and thus he would be 
able to function as a check & balance and bring with him an element of objectivity to the 
Board;

(b) He provides the Board with a diverse set of skills, experience and expertise;

(c) He has performed his duties diligently in the best interests of the Company and provides 
a broader view, independent and balanced assessment of proposals from the Board and 
Management; and

(d) He does not hold any shares in the Company and does not have any business dealings with 
the Company, save and except as a Chairman and a member of the Board of Directors of the 
Company.   

The details of the remuneration and benefits payable to the Non-Executive Directors which have 
remained unchanged since May 2013 are as follows:

Directors Fees (per annum)
Chairman of the Board
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Management Committee
Board Member

Meeting Allowance (per meeting)
Board
Board Committee

Benefits in kind
Medical and insurance coverage 

- RM108,000
- RM90,000
- RM60,000

- RM500
- RM500

Item (10) of the Agenda

RETENTION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee has assessed the independence of Datuk R. 
Karunakaran, who has served as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a 
cumulative term of more than nine years, and the Board, upon the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee’s  recommendation, had recommended for shareholders’ approval for him to continue 
to act as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company based on the following 
justifications:

Item (11) of the Agenda

PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHARE BUY-BACK AUTHORITY

The proposed ordinary resolution 10, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to 
buy back and/or hold from time to time shares of the Company not exceeding ten (10) per cent 
of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company from time to time being quoted on Bursa 
Securities upon such terms and conditions as the Directors may deem fit and expedient in the 
interests of the Company.

For further information, please refer to the Share Buy-Back Statement dated 20 March 2018, 
which is dispatched together with the Annual Report 2017.

3.

4.

N O T I C E  O F  A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G
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Item (12) of the Agenda

AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 75 AND 76 OF THE COMPANIES 
ACT, 2016

The proposed ordinary resolution 11 is to seek the shareholders’ approval on the renewal of 
the general mandate for the issuance of shares by the Company under Section 75 and 76 of 
the Companies Act 2016. If the resolution is duly passed, it will give flexibility to the Directors 
to issue and allot shares at any time in their absolute discretion and for such purposes as they 
consider would be in the interests of the Company without convening a general meeting. This 
authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next 
AGM of the Company.

The Company continues to consider opportunities to broaden its earnings potential. If any 
proposal involves the issuance of new shares, the Directors would have to convene a general 
meeting to approve the issuance of new shares. In order to avoid any delay and costs involved 
in convening a general meeting to approve such issuance of shares, it is thus considered 
appropriate that the Directors be empowered to issue shares in the Company, up to any amount 
not exceeding in total 10% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being. The 
renewed authority will provide flexibility to the Company for the allotment of shares for the 
purposes of funding future investment, working capital and/or acquisitions.

5.

N O T I C E  O F  A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G
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1. The Directors who are standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting of the Company in 
accordance with Article 80 of the Company’s Constitution are :-

 a)   Datuk R. Karunakaran
 b)   En Wan Azfar bin Dato’ Wan Annuar

 Details of the Directors seeking re-election are set out in the Directors Profiles’ section and their 
shareholdings in the Company are set out in this Annual Report. 

2. To re-elect Dato’ Wan Hasim bin Wan Jusoh as a Director in accordance with Article 87 of the 
Company’s Constitution.

 Details of Dato’ Wan Hashim bin Wan Jusoh, who is seeking re-election are set out in the Directors 
Profiles’ section and his shareholdings in the Company are set out in this Annual Report.  

3. Details of attendance at Board Meetings

 Four Board Meetings were held during the financial year ended 31 December 2017. Details of 
attendance of the Directors at Board Meetings are set out in this Annual Report.

4. Date, Time and Place of the 26th  Annual General Meeting

 Date and Time : 17 April 2018 at 10:00 a.m.

 Place : Dorsett Grand Subang 
   Selangor 3, Grand Selangor Ballroom  
   Jalan SS 12/1
   47500 Subang Jaya
   Selangor Darul Ehsan

S TAT E M E N T  A C C O M PA N Y I N G
N O T I C E  O F  A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G
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as  my/ our  prox y  to v ote  for me/ us on my/ our behalf,  at the 2 6 th Annual G eneral Meeting ( “ AG M” )  of the Company to be held 

at Selangor 3 ,  G rand  Selangor Ballroom,  D orsett G rand Subang Hotel,  J alan SS 1 2 / 1 ,  4 7 5 0 0  Subang J aya,  Selangor D arul 

Ehsan on Tuesday,  1 7  April 2 0 1 8  at 1 0 . 0 0  a. m.  or any adj ournment thereof and to v ote as indicated below : -

“ I/ W e, ” _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  of _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _   being a member/ members of 

IN TEG RATED  L O G ISTICS BERHAD ,  hereby appoint ( “ the Chairman of the Meeting” )  or _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _   N RIC N o.  _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

of  _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

AS O R DINAR Y  BU SINE SS F O R AG AINST

Signature of Shareholder( s) _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

Signed this _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  day of _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ,  2 0 1 8
N o.  of shares held

N O TE :

AS SP E C IAL  BU SINE SS
O R DINAR Y  R E SO L U T IO NS

1 .  In respect of deposited securities,  only members w hose names appear in the Record of D epositors as at 9  April 2 0 1 8  ( G eneral Meeting 
Record of D epositors)  shall be entitled to attend,  speak  and v ote at this 2 6 th AG M.

2 .  Any member of the Company entitled to attend and v ote is entitled to appoint one ( 1 )  or more prox ies to attend and v ote instead of him,  and 
that a prox y need not be a member of the Company and w here a member appoints more than one ( 1 )  prox y,  the member must specify the 
proportion of his shareholdings to be represented by each prox y respectiv ely,  failing w hich the appointment shall be inv alid.

3 .  If you w ish to appoint as your prox y any person other than “ the Chairman of the Meeting” ,  please insert the full name of the prox y ( in block  
letters)  in the space prov ided and delete the w ords “ the Chairman of the Meeting” .  

4 .  W here a member of the Company is an ex empt authorised nominee w hich holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial 
ow ners in one ( 1 )  securities account ( “ O mnibus Account” ) ,  there is no limit to the number of prox ies w hich the ex empt authoriz ed nominee 
may appoint in respect of each O mnibus Account it holds.

5 .  A corporation may complete the prox y form under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authoriz ed.
6 .  Please indicate w ith and “ X ”  either “ F or”  or “ Against” .  If neither “ F or”  or “ Against”  is indicated,  the prox y w ill v ote as he think s fit or abstain 

from v oting.
7 .  The instrument appointing a prox y must reach the Business O ffice of the Company at N o.  6 ,  J alan Sungai Buloh 2 7 / 1 0 1 A,  Sek syen 2 7 ,  

4 0 4 0 0  Shah Alam,  Selangor D arul Ehsan,  Malaysia not less than 4 8  hours before the AG M.  The lodging of the prox y form w ill not preclude 
shareholders from attending and v oting in person at the AG M should they subseq uently w ish to do so.

To approv e payment of D irectors’ fees to N on- Ex ecutiv e D irectors 
amounting to RM3 7 6 , 7 5 0  for the period from 1  J anuary 2 0 1 7  to 3 1  
D ecember 2 0 1 7 .
To approv e payment of D irectors’ Benefits  to N on- Ex ecutiv e D irectors 
amounting to RM5 9 , 6 9 3  for the period from 1  J anuary 2 0 1 7  to 3 1  March 
2 0 1 8 .
To approv e payment of D irectors’ Benefits ( ex cluding directors’ fees)  to 
N on- Ex ecutiv e D irectors up to an amount of RM4 8 , 0 0 0  for the period 
from 1  April 2 0 1 8  until the nex t AG M of the Company.
To approv e the payment of D irectors’ F ees to N on- Ex ecutiv e D irectors 
up to an amount of RM5 2 6 , 2 5 0  for the period from 1  J anuary 2 0 1 8  until 
the nex t AG M of the Company.
To re- elect D atuk  R.  Karunak aran as D irector in accordance w ith Article 
8 0  of the Company’s Constitution.
To re- elect En W an Az far bin D ato’ W an Annuar as D irector in accord-
ance w ith Article 8 0  of the Company’s Constitution.
To re- elect D ato’ W an Hashim bin W an J usoh as D irector in accordance 
w ith Article 8 7  of the Company’s Constitution.
To re- appoint Messrs Bak er Tilly Monteiro Heng as the Company’s 
Auditors until the conclusion of the nex t AG M and to authoriz e the 
D irectors to fix  their remuneration.

Retention of D atuk  R.  Karunak aran as an Independent N on- Ex ecutiv e 
D irector of the Company.
Proposed Renew al of Share Buy- Back  Authority.
To authoriz e the D irectors to allot and issue shares in the Company 
pursuant to Section 7 5  and 7 6  of the Companies Act 2 0 1 6 .

RESO L UTIO N  1

RESO L UTIO N  2

RESO L UTIO N  3

RESO L UTIO N  4

RESO L UTIO N  5

RESO L UTIO N  6

RESO L UTIO N  7

RESO L UTIO N  8

RESO L UTIO N  9

RESO L UTIO N  1 0
RESO L UTIO N  1 1

PROXY FORM



The Company Secretary
Integrated Logistics Berhad (229690-K)

No. 6, Jalan Sungai Buloh 27/101A, 
Seksyen 27

40400 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan

STAMP

Fold Here

Fold Here






